FOLKLORE OF THE VIRTUAL ELVES: Social identity construction and performance in a massively multiplayer online role-playing game (amorpo)

BENJAMIN STAPLE







FOLKLORE OF THE VIRTUAL ELVES: SOCIAL IDENTITY CONSTRUCTION AND PERFORMANCE IN A MASSIVELY MULTIPLAYER ONLINE ROLE-PLAYING GAME (MIMORPG)

-

O Benjamin Staple

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Department of Folklore

Memorial University of Newfoundland

June 2010

St. John's Newfoundland

Abstract

As a strain works pine populary, they are quickly becoming places of online collention have collinal constrainty places are as investigating measure through popularity constraints of alongs). This MA, then is updates the strain of along the strainty of the strainty are built on the strainty of the fulficient is a lower accounter of the strainty fulficient is the strainty of the strainty strainty interest and the strainty of the strainty of the strainty of the strainty of the strainty strainty interest and the strainty of the strainty

Acknowledgements

Table of Contents

Abstract	
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Figures	v
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Role-playing versus Playing Roles	
1.2 The History of Warhanmer	13
1.3 Interface & Intersection	
1.4 Scholarly Context	
Chapter 2: Virtual Reflexivity	
2.1 Ethnographic Context	
2.2 Virtual Lifeways	
2.3 Reflexivity	
Chapter 3: Identity Construction, Performance, and Experience	
3.1 Layers of Group Identity	
3.2 Phenomenology of the Virtual Self	
3.3 Identity as a Fluid, Narrative Construction	
3.4 Identity Performance, Social Politics, and Conflict: Playing Your Character "Right"	
Chapter 4: Dynamic Death and Transformative Commodities	
4.1 Virtual Geographies: War and Memory	
4.2 Commodity, Consumption, and Postmodern Tourism	
Chapter 5: Virtual Ostension and the Folklore of Cheating	
5.1 Gold Farming and YOU	
5.2 Gold Farming as Cheating	
5.3 Anxiety and Power on the Internet: Farmers and Hackers	
5.4 Media Ecology in Contextually-Collapsed Imagined Communities	
5.5 Virtual Ostension	
Conclusion: The Death of Warhammer Online	
Bibliography	
Louis des Channes of Tames	135

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 - Ores and goblins standing outside a fortress
Figure 1.2 - Character window15
Figure 1.3 - Hotkeys and the GUL
Figure 2.1 - Wandering the virtual lands
Figure 2.2 - Small warband defending a BO
Figure 2.3 - WARDB career builder
Figure 2.4 - My Dark Elf Sorceress, Moriquendlyn
Figure 2.5 - View of the Inevitable City
Figure 2.6 - NPC auctioneer in the Inevitable City
Figure 3.1 - Mounted warband waiting for the order to move out
Figure 4.1 - Post-massacre warband chat
Figure 4.2 - Respawn window
Figure 4.3 – Approaching an Elven fortress
Figure 4.4 - Battle between two opposing warbands
Figure 5.1 - Ominious greeting message in Aion
Figure 5.2 - Gold Farmers creating impromptu market in Aion
Figure 6.1 - My Sorcerer, Endaeron, in Alon

Chapter 1: Introduction

Contemporary folkloristics has long since realized that folklore is not an artefact of a rural peasant past nor is it only found lurking amongst the poor quarters in a rundown urban setting. Folklore exists whenever people are, and people are increasingly online. People are switching on and logging in. They log into social networking sites like MySpace and Facebook. They sign into instant chat programs like Windows Live Messenger and video-chat software like Skype. They post messages on their favourite forums and create videos to share on YouTube. They animate and become "avatars" in hundreds of virtual worlds across cyberspace. With cellular phones capable of, and frequently used to, surf the internet, video game consoles elobally linked to each other and software applications inside everything from cameras to cars, our society is continuing to embrace technology in no small terms; the popularization and widespread distribution of computer technology in North American society has led to an astonishing level of integration with the virtual, be it online banking or online gaming that was only dimly perceivable barely two decades ago. As computers and computer skills become necessary in an increasing number of sectors of life, we are reorienting ourselves at both a cultural and individual level to adapt and appropriate these new media.

At the forefront of this columit-denslopical shift are visual works—praphical and improvily synchronous compares enablined spaces existing ephenerativity in cyberoper that are bosoning part of the everyday lives of millions of people workshifes. These uses or players, depending on whether the workt was donigned partly for socialization or as a game, create graphical digata visuous of themselves inside those works to instruct with each thete. Potentiary that is in score, visual workdo positions are made dependent on the provide position of the origin of the provide social and the provide social soc different seeks shared, ethnic, economic or policial backgrounds and construct, as platforms of instructure are working works of energy sears that becomes place with the dowelengent of commany and analysis relation in that work is commended in party by the number work work experiences of as population in all not explands and these mains with a two workings or entra unique experimental meanings and transmit knowledge and folkstore of hose meanings. The share hand folksive can be entrated and transmith amount of the approximation of the meanings tuchnology in one see for folksiveis, as analy as 1973, Danden and Papert downmented that the non-cardy transmitted folksive of the entrapy hereacy plane was as wild and hoses (de as more transmission during) (Danden and Papert 1975; Danden and Papert downmented that the tothology gradys a nature of the entrapy hereacy plane was as wild and hoses (de as more maindiand unity) (Danden and Papert 1975; Danden and Papert downmented the tothology gradys and maind neither in contemporary folk cubier compare and that tochonology gradys and main and tocks in a pare workd, virtual workd are space neith successfully, fulficer and cubier with many different modes and means of communication mattering character and transmit with main work (structure) as an equilater to the contemporary folk cubier (themsing). Whether is the clound tochoology of visual gangeging or mains and tocks in a paper workd, virtual workd are space not in societary, fulficer and cubier with many different modes and means of communication mattering character and mattering the space modes and means of communication mattering character and means of communications mattering the space of the

blinking. Instead, their nunils dart quickly back and forth as they track the movement of a target on the screen. This person is in another world. He or she is inside the screen, inside the game. In some dramatic performance of a kind of techno-shamanism, this person has used the screen as a manic device, as a portal to another world, and transformed themselves into a character, or "worter": a three-dimensional aesthetic collection of pixels constructed to represent them that they are now focusing all of their attention on animating. You see this animation dashing and jumping on the screen in front of you, but as an observer you are not transformed. You are not drawn into this other world. You remain in the actual world and still see someone sitting at a computer. The scene inside that world on the other side of the screen is completely different. The person, your friend, the avatar, is completing a dangerous quest in a fantastical world ruled by sword and magic. He or she is not sitting at the computer. They are not fully aware of the bottons they are precising on the keyboard in front of them that they so desperately tan every once and awhile. The keyboard and mouse are there, empirically speaking, in actuality but they do not exist in the virtual world. The mouse is a sword that a left-click sends in a broad, swinging

Any given ximal word is composed of prophel legging in and adopting this visual preprocise, shifting their axtual walch identity and adding new eners. To dare, there are horsheeds or dask visual walched access every imgened energy energy energy energy energy of inhibiting them. There was work a scile at an interesting interaction between leisone, commerciation, and popular cubars. A coldneil products developed for monetary profit optibalising on the leisure activity of participants. Buy also facefuless as platforms of versualar optimations are followed by ensure of even one of perchaptical execution, project doors to the production of the production of the production of even parts of the production of the production

inhabit these worlds for their own individual reasons and create their own value. The interactions and shared experiences of these inhabitants make virtual worlds communities and sites of culture. This thesis is focused on one kind of virtual world, the MMORPG, and, specifically, on the MMORPG Warhammer Online created by Mythic Entertainment, MMORPGs (massively multiplayer online role-playing games) are three-dimensional graphical and synchronous environments in which players interact with thousands of others (providine the "massively multiplayer" designation) through the creation of "avatars," three-dimensional characters and advance through the game system. Though no standardized typology exists, despite some recent attemnts (Snence 2008). MMORPGs are often loosely considered a sub-penre of MMOs or MMOGs (massively multiplayer online game), which can potentially encompass any virtual world but tond to refer to some worlds. Other generic abhreviations muchly classified under MMO/MMOG include "MMOFPS" (massively multiplayer online first-person shopter), which are similar virtual name worlds but use avatars differently with no role-playing element). Art design and story narrative for Warhammer Online were drawn from the lore of the Warhammer franchise, which will be discussed later on, and players complete quests to main virtual currency and "level," or advance, their avatar, MMORPGs host thriving and complex virtual cultures; in interpreting the particular culture of Warhammer Online, I will give a history of the development of the MMORPG and attempt to descriptively paint the ethnographic context of the world.



1.1 Role-playing versus Playing Roles

The lineage of the MMORPG is not a tidy straight line, but rather a curious combination of different ideas and media. They share similarities with both computer game technology and actual world role-playing games. Here I will address the crucial concept of role-playing and how it relates to MMORPGs. When I began researching MMORPGs, I thought that I understood exactly that question. The text-based, computer-mediated MUD ("multi-user dangeon" or "multi-user domain") is the accepted predecessor of the MMORPG (Bartle 1996; Castronova 2005). I understood the difference between them, which is essentially medium: one entirely textbased and the other a three-dimensional graphical world (though both employing internet and

compare trachings): MUDa are essentially glorified data rooms, plupped unline, pluppes are decharacter and type on this or her actions to the group. MUDs are descended from "yen and page" role elsping games (BPGA), actually plupped with disc and provids, from which they get their game structure and roles. The first commercial nole pluping game was Dangsons A Dangsons, released in 1974 by Tacitad Studies Roles, Inc. I qualify the preceding sentences with "commercial" because I supper that the social actions that containt" while alphysic" have a far other historic that then rest of Dangsons A.

As I will detail in greater depth later on, Dangeons & Dragons-style role-plaving consists of a group of people together with dice and one person in charge of parrating the imaginal story and resolving disputes. Players create imagined characters, recasting themselves as other creatures like elves or dwarves in different fantastic settings, and perform their new identity through speech and imagined action. Some groups add material components, such as the use of actual swords and costumes in LARPing (live-action role-playing), "Role-playing" is essentially an imaginary social game with rules, but with the focus of temporarily masking or transforming the players' identities. Masking and festival have historically been traditional subjects of study for folklorists (Abrahams 1998: Bauman 1992: Bendix 1998: Caillois 1961: Nows 1998: Yoder 1974) and role-plaving is simply another kind of expressive culture. Noves and Bendix link traditional European costuming with Hebdige's (1979) subcultures as expression and manipulation of identity (Noyes and Bendix 1998). In the more visually-oriented MMORPGs. the imagined "characters" of role-playing are created in a slightly more tangible fashion, with first the body of the avatar and then its accompanying pear being layers of socially-viewable costume. While avatar and gear as costume confines (since both are ultimately created by the

developers), it also liberates as players have agency in how they construct their appearance and contume, when they "wear" it and where, balancing the function of contame as a weapon in Workmanner, Online and acheticits: From online guilds holding regular poetry readings to LARPers headed up to a calin for a weakend of mlo-playing adventure, imaginal mlo-playing identicits constructed and performed frompot cosmic niverke facilita.

Ultimately, the leading view accepted by most virtual worlds scholars is that the modern MMORPG is a direct descendent of Dungeons & Dragons (Bartle 1996; Boellstorff 2008; Learning 2009). Evidence for this can literally be seen in the coding of the game: the rules used in the first generation of MMOs were directly from the "D20 system" (referring to 20-sided dice) designed by Tactical Studies Rules. Inc. Fair enough. I thought, as I walked into an interview with "R," one of my earliest informants. About fifteen minutes into the interview, I asked "R" if he had played Dungeons & Dragons before he played Warhammer Online. He looked at me quizzically and said, "Never." Neither had he ever engaged in any other role-plaving of that type. No, no MUDs. I continued to explore the game through participant observation. Through one of my early avatars, the unfortunate wizard "Thorodun1," I met people, killed monsters with fireballs and looted treasure. During this time I never encountered anyone role-playing. Yet was this not officially a role-playing game? The term "role-playing" is, after all, literally in the abbreviation "MMORPG". The role-playing community in Warhammer Online does indeed exist, as I later discovered, but was fenced into a server specifically created for role-players. The server, "Phoenix Throne," was set apart from the rest of the game's servers in that it had special rules that limit kinds of player names (i.e.: no "lpwnzurmom19991") and players were expected,

¹Thoreolan had multiple scars on his face and across one blind eye. He was "unfortunate" in that I had more than one person run up to me and tull me, in private char, that I was uply (one player actually asked if I had been going for an "ence earthe" look). This was not update the scalar machine I had been hoping for.

but net required, so upeak "in theretism". When I first canted my Sources character, "Modepandiys," on Boosis Thomas, I faund Erbit to the physical has been see were ploying in the in Takins" because the analysployers were donlying ours and gablins and speaking in their "fulles," conductiva understand anything they static." Note exercise on Boosis: Thoma and physical, however, and "Rings" was considered separate from "security" or regular appropriate and any physical the game explosions. The impletive of any full-book was speer ploying dampatch the mice players on Phesisis Theme. At supported parts of the procession and physical, burstened when I was thin an endance more playing game if many players take area (played Decourse of MCS) and wave instraining the same as they would in a multileging for person shouter, instead of a game of parts, player players on an imaginal adverser?

In his mutar's thesis on a similar MMO, DurA Let of Cambrid's (reichendry), and developed by Mythic Entertainment), Laraming downess generic distinctions between MMORPGN and MMOGO. Its suggestion that forwards in list common since the misparity of players do not actually sole-play and that such groups who do are too small to represent the population of large (Laraming 2009). 3) by the time list list regular lenses of player Moeins. There, which had once been a storage role-playing community bad gradually distinguated or migrated. Bund on interview with himmany and purpolicy dissources on them servers, new bring a dodicard tode-playing server, I eventually came to have Laraming's conclusion that the majority of the population do neo role-play in what is alignedy a sole-playing game of the sin is supposed to hare a superlayer summare with the moment actions. *Theorem O Engine* (Laraming 2013, Why is

^{2 &}quot;Speech" in Warhowsee Online is by default text-chat, so what you type is what your character "says."

role-playing the accepted lineage of the modern MMO? On what basis does one trace this lineared A history of the technology and three dimensional graphical worlds would succest a parentage of older single player RPG computer games with limited support for a multiplayer function. Perhans ancestry can be traced through a history of social interaction and gamenlay? How are players playing these games? A MUD without role-playing is a chat room. Singleplayer RPGs, such as Diablo, are graphical worlds where gameplay is dominated by a quest narrative and players create an avatar to accomplish tasks. Classified as a "elatformer" Mario Bros. also had "avatars," but merely as a representation of where the player was in relation to the man on the screen. In the loosely-defined computer/video game industry generic classification system, computer-based RPGs seem to be games with a quest narrative and character depth, where the player's avatar not only responds to their commands but has a multitude of skills and abilities that can be advanced throughout the same as the avatar "errors." These sames do not require role-playing. They are termed "role-playing" because the structure of the game, how planare contoming and advance their scatters set paning a neurorful nerrative, is horrowed from pen and paper role-playing games. The role-playing is automated and animated, which invites the mestion of whether players are actually role-playing.

When is no legizing? If you and grape notepting game of date future any with the above of comparison. Most bookstness will carry the large number of numes in which the rules are set one. These games novies enhances, many this side date and imaginations with the executional map throws its. While I was conducting facilitation is the visital world of Wardmanner Oution, I was also effected the experiments join the actual world to explore an articly afferent laid of wardmanners. The second seco

(dungeon master) who designs the world, dictates the narrative, and referees the game. After buying a set of oddly-shaped polyhedral green dice on eBay. I found myself sitting in the living room of a relative stranger, surrounded by people I knew only through this game. The DM starts off a story and often has a broad plan of where the narrative is headed, but it is entirely up to the players what they decide to do and where they decide to so. The narrative is created, shaped and played through collective effort. Unlike my fieldwork, there was no screen to act as a magic portal. I was armed only with my dice and a character sheet. "Pen-and-paper" refers to the character sheets and other notes you write down concerning your character. He or she is created through a lengthy but precise process of dice-rolling and point distribution to develop a set of skills and abilities. Players then perform their characters, sometimes speaking "in character" or creating elaborate backgrounds and personalities. The DM speaks and narrates the game. Everyone in the room simultaneously imagines that scene in their minds. The DM creates obstacles like enemy trolls, wolves or raiders to test your group. Each player responds to the scenario however he or she chooses, envisioning the action in their head. The dice are used to decide outcomes, such as whether your sword hits an enemy or if you fall while climbing a tree. These games rely directly on assuming the role of your character and reacting, through speech and dice rolls, to your group and environment. The current DM of my group has been playing these games for decades, and often eschews the stricter rulebooks, maps and miniatures in favour of a purely imagined cinematic parrative.

While not extensively studied by folklorists, pen-and-paper role-playing games are not unknown (Fine 1983) and game studies in general often overlaps with folkloristics (Callois 1961; Goldstein 1989; McDowell 1999; Oring 1997; Sutton-Smith 1999; Sutton-Smith 1997; Turner

1060). Callfole notes the nervictence of some through time (1061-81), a view commonly held by early folklorists that traced earnes to folk practices and traditions of great antiquity. More recently. McDowell modified this view by supressing that games are continuously being reinvented, but using transmitted "traditional competence" in the form of underlying formulaic structures (1999, 61). Sutton-Smith uses the term "role-clothings" to refer to the nositions or roles played in the children's game Red Rover (1959, 23), which are not unlike playing a group role in Damosons & Deceases or a "position" in Learning's concention of MMORPG players. (2009, 3). Role-plaving games are complex in depth and scope as they can be variously classified under three of Sutton-Smith's "rhetorics of play," "progress": "identity"; and "imaginary" (1997, (i) although the author himself identifies Dumnouns & Dronous in passing as "mind/sobjective ploy" type of same and situates it at the "rejuste" end of a rejuste/mublic spectrum of play (1997, 4). This statement is true of single-player computer games of the RPG genre, in which players only interact with scripted computer-controlled characters, but certainly not Dangeous & Descense: role playing spress are unbigetive incomuch as the play is viscalized in each player's head, but it is a collective and inherently social shared fantasy that is erounded in the actual world (Fine 1983, 72). The shared imaginary worlds created through social role-play are constructed partially through traditional competency (McDowell 1999) and through name mechanics that blue boundaries between theses and board earne. In moting Huizings (1955), Sutton, Smith notes that play "creates a nortic world alongside the original world" (1997, 202). This is indicative of role-playing social imaginary worlds that, through caricature, "tell us about what is real" (Fine 1983, 7).

As ROPG is a synthesis of game neutron with simultaneous miniphing. The nut Desputy of Decoup support, built net enterminis in nois injustice. This is not in sty that there are not fand decould us the meaning of the strength simulation. This is not in sty that the set of the anticeless of the strength simulation of the strength simulation with game strength simulation of a shadowski and national works of ensurine impairments with game strength simulation of the strength simulation with developer's centrality that appears meanses. MORCHOR concern only consist anticensistic particular comparison game radius and MEDs were simply a relation of particul that appears meanses. MoRCHOR constructions of the core densets to constant game of comparison game that were in heritagin of the attained work has in staticated differentity. This maintion is not gamphical three dimensional entities much shorter Learning's statement of ploying colorison molet main solise sources from, Monet tilling in the MORDHOR Decoupsed A. Decoup-Dollow, which is not simply maintenance of the part on game strength states the comparison game strength set in the strength of the strength strength strength strength strength Dollow, which is not simply maintenance of the part on game strength strength strength strength and the strength strength maintenance of the part of game strength strength strength strength strength strength strength strength and the strength strength maintenance of the part of game strength strength strength strength strength strength and the strength strength

Eignflicatify, character development and party roles are what cross the stand-iritial divide her how you interact with these elements charges. Certaing a character in Worksmore divide her newbork seeking from a limited number of available physical approaces to be somewhat constrained here on is terms of exployment that all other players will see, enther than docable the book of you a stark to you companion. Party roles represent a significant chrome in the munusionis of factors. It inclusions of them, and world the address For now, suffice it to say that while it was clear in pass and paper RFGs that each different character with a different skill set was clear in pass and paper RFGs that each different character with a different skill set was clear in pass and paper RFGs that each different character with the approximation constrained and development of the physical set of the approximate booms introduced and each contained and the physican booms of the different table, the table. In there of Worksmore Charles table of the approximate booms introduced and each explore the physical set of the approximate booms introduced and each each each of the set of th

of playing (virtual lifeways?) your avatar to maximize efficiency within a group of players. For example, if you are a "caster" (such as a Bright Wizard or Sorcerer) you are socially expected to have both certain character skills and to know when to use them in combat.

1.2 The History of Warhammer

Thus far, this introduction has explored the relations between different kinds of roleplaying same systems and MMORPGs in an attempt to elucidate a history of development that led to the creation of MMORPGs. Warhammer Online has its own specific history of development that differs from other MMORPGS. Like some other similar worlds, such as World of Waterooft Wateroomer Online uses a role-playing same system, but unlike other MMORPG worlds is also descended from a tableton wargame. The Warhammer franchise was initially launched with a series of games using dice and rulers and small self-painted military units. In traditional Warhammer, players would buy and construct boxed sets of miniature soldiers and deploy them on a constructed battlefield (usually a kitchen table with ingeniously devised terrain objects like trees, rocks and eravel). With rulebooks determining the attributes of each miniature, dice to decide chance, and rulers to measure range, players could field armies against each other in tactical combat. This differed from role-playing games in terms of scone, lack of individual character development (to role-elay) and reliance on physical position rather than imagination. Warhammer commuter games, such as Dawn of War, tend to be designed as automated versions of the tabletop game; to that end, they are often classified under the "strategy" computer name genre, Warhammer Online primarily borrowed setting and narrative from its tableton rendercessor.

Workommer: Fontosy Rottle was first released in 1983 by Games Workshop and was set in a "high fantasy" world, heavily influenced by J.R.R. Tolkien, whose denizens included races of humans, elves, elobins and undead creatures. This game allowed for player creativity not only in terms of battlefield tactics but in the construction of armies and terrain. While players hav official Games Workshop retail packages of units, the soldiers inside come in nieces that allow the player artistic creativity in how they play them together and paint designs. Rather than the nurely-imagined characters of role-playing games. Warhammer Online seems to have focused on emulating character customization of the tabletop war game. Games Workshop released its own line of maints specially for its ministures, and these colours (with names such as "Blood Red" and "Cohlin Green") are reflected, complete with names, in the MMORPG where the player has the ability to due nieces of equipment different colours. This lineage of character customization (and therefore an element of player identity construction) differing from MUDs and RPGs, is also manifested in the types of equipment available. The tableton same was often forward on large-scale battles involving armies, whose units were vainted in uniform style. In the tableton name, much like military uniforms in the actual world, these uniform design patterns helped to create a sense of group identity (for the painted miniatures on the table) and player identity for the neister/ameral. This is very distinct from the kind of individual expression featured in micplaying somey uniform group identity versus individual expression.

Most MMORPGs, such as World of Worceglt, have an extensive range of options for virtually-distinct types of gene. Gene plays an important part in individual expression of identity. In contrast, the gear options in Warhammer Online are limited and often visually appear very similar. For example, thev in limit visible difference in the range of annuare for the socretory

avatar to the despite changing annual, then sum still appears relatively the same. While the option to derive different colours allows for some variation and individual expression, items call only be visually about in very controlled using with disp. The materiage of the develope's part to balance autionsity and labitizability in expression of theory through physical constitution in the effect of *Hardmanney*. Chalter natures looking similar to their tableop constraints of a chaige and has justify defined how physics in the tableop in *Hardmanney*. Chalters and any heart dynamic balance and the similar to their station to the similar of the similar and the similar tableop in *Hardmanney*. Chalters as signified or fighters will and a summers of "proper" anneae and the particular distribution of the similar to develop they is supported process. The similar data base has the similar down and the similar to develop the similar to the bandmontoh hierarchically. The canning another physics is supported process. The chalters have constrained for efficiency. While again variation is gain, times such as more in the game table base hadron had have a strained and there physics is supported process. The chalters have constrained have the strained hav



Figure 1.2 - Character window (left) with equipment slots surrounding avatar portrait (screenshot by author)

Bitmany: Faithing Markamer: Faithing Markin, Wahammer Ohnin is a vary DP dipstrverso-playre opeomic higher, builts other MADRIPGs har may no social grouping to compare appoars in the series are submanned. In *DPL and of the Name* Ohnie is not walganed, Wahammer Ohning gess to lengths to sign layers of different factions against each obserder invations as constrained in the Shad Derecht agares and polycosic cas quickly for and coordinate. The division of the student parts garms in diployees cas quickly for and coordinate. The division of the student parts graves and the groups hadre is remaindered to the same yorks of the theory parts. Theoretically the group backet can divise the disperson which is theorem parts of constrained methods and diffusive in policies, and the theory parts of constrained methods with the method of the same yorks of the theory parts theorem in protocol of theorem theory as an one actual mating units in theorem in the distribution from lange of both theory was made and appear and parts grage grants and advision of theorem theory is called theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem from langes of both theory was made and appear heat parts grage grants, the history of Wahammer Ohnie is the theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem from langes of both theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem theorem from langes of both theorem theo

1.3 Interface & Intersection

With held molecularity of the binocial design forces that shaped Worksworr Online, we can now turn to looking allow players physically instruct with the pane. An examinion of the binotext measurements of an Allon Day userum a every binis instructionis, but "video game," is a broad category that encompasses multiple platforms, and the platform should be an integral part of any analysis of MMOA. Unline consoler video games (i.e.: Playstation), S. Natendo Wii, ex), compare games milling headware of the computer to indication. The integrate games milling head the compared protocol, Bindower, TBID

(human interface desire) are hundrase such as the keshoard and mouse which form the tools the player uses at a basic level to gain entry into a virtual world. In an act of what might be construed as divital shamanism, the keyboard, mouse and monitor become maric objects; they keen the same basic functions that they have in non-game online space (i.e.: keyboard for tyrine maccanes) but they min a new layer of meaning for the player. In Worksmaner Online the keyboard controls not only text, based communication within the name but also partly controls obviced movement of your avatar within the virtual world and becomes a weapons arsenal extension of your hand. Where a player could imagine a fireball emanating from the fingers of his wizzed character in a pen-and-paper role-plaving game, the push of a button (or "hotkey") with one finger on the keyboard manifests the same result visibly in the same space. Tandem coordination between a player's left hand on the keyboard and right hand on the mouse determine where and how an avatar moves and looks around. Rather than watching a narrative unfold on a screen, the monitor becomes the eves of your avatar: while you can change the comers anale in Washammer Online most players I talked to play in close third-person view. meaning that while you see your avotar on the screen you do not have omnipotent powers of observation - the monitor only displays content in the direction your avatar is pointed.

The new layer of game meaning utilizing your HIDs is also highly constmituble: Worknowner Outline is a game of very fast and othen confinition combut sequences separated by long periods of waiting around. To respond to the differing needs of this type of game, players are able to remay their keyboard to configure the layer of game meaning however they see fit. When I first stand periody comparer game, as note? I stude there we keys for movement

Derogatory term for a new player

and the samped for activiting updbs and addition. By the end of updbstrok, Bi Warkamov, Ondrie (toll a stoch, but getting better) I stillion the commonly used WASD keys for movement and created contem bubbings for the summoding keys. This layer of manuality is what connects the HIDs to the CAII (graphical sour interface) of the game. The GAI is the virtual control has the fallow sees on the accent; it presents the graphical buttom that you virtually press when you physically press schedured layer.

So you have material the mouse and can more your near anomal the 'triand appect may the starsm. You have discovered that pressing the "I" key with your left hand. Howey you take a descent starget that you saideded with your more with your effect thand. You you take a descent book at the COLI, the 'stand' charter of have, howe, statistics and robusts at the COLI, the 'stand' charter of have, howe, statistics and robusts at the forward and backwards, the COLI as frequencing starget that the starget the proference and and have the starget the other starget that the starget the starget the starget the starget providing the new sears with neary operation. The COLI represents the scenal level of correst monitoring that the storget to robust cancer distributive.

As any given sime, the CUT angle consist of 1) year current amount of Shpoish Realth of year characteria and staming tempinis for actions and equi(h). 2) positive and regardine buffs, finalizing year, 1) you character experiment points programming the e-0 simulation to the programming members, and 1 the cart and cool downs firms of your specific met and the off offer anyong members, and 1 the cart and cool downs firms of your spells, not to mention the malloudy screlling due vision of the cart and cool downs firms of your spells, not to mention the malloudy screlling due vision of the cart and cool downs firms of your spells, not to mention the malloudy screlling due vision that separates into serveral difference colore cool domarks. Your mores

shukdidi plagh countinabile in *Washamor Ohine*; playne can opt to mice, more or defer GU objects however they fit to stratistic their own personal play robe. Since *Washamor Dobine* is primarily source-bordened virtual guest work, all of this coordination and training between hardware and GUI is learned during the confusion of hards. There is no passe button. Virtual buttlefach have require far and proceics movements in two role yassid duris, but it dual is hardkines, you till buy due but leasy usis varies and have any more of proceil politics is your ear. To someone looking over the shoulder of a player (a social phenomenon that i will return to hare one, line gues bushing) looks like is of confused. Italing lights interpreted with constrained anytism and stationg around.



Figure 1.3 - Hotkeys circled in orange (screenshot by the author)

1.4 Scholarly Context

A review of the literature concerning identity in virtual worlds is complicated by a number of factors including: disciplinary territoriality, lack of a standardized lexicon, academic misunderstandings of the theories and methodologies of other disciplines, and the constantlychanging nature of the medium itself. Despite the recentness of their development and breakthrough into popular culture, there is a growing body of literature focused on MMORPGs specifically and still more on virtual worlds in general. While the first MMORPGs were launched in the early 1990s, most scholars trace their development through text-based MUDs and pen-and-paper role-playing games. These have at times been considered "virtual worlds" and that definition has even been expanded to include literary, imaginary and any religious spaces (Bittarello 2008: Boellstorff 2008). In viewing the historiography of virtual worlds scholarship, the temporal link between the work and the state of technology and media must be taken into account. In his ethnography on Second Life, Boellstorff quotes Hine's (2005) assertion that scholarly research on virtual worlds can be divided into two phases: the first being dominated by psychological approaches using controlled experiments, while the second phase has seen a shift towards qualitative methodologies (Boellstorff 2008: 53). In my own review of the literature, I note the increasing number of ethnographies being published but do not necessarily see the dominance of quantitative studies dissipating. With so many different disciplines with their respective approaches interested in virtual worlds, the "field" is increasingly being viewed as necessarily interdisciplinary (Boellstorff 2006), which has brought an important range of perspectives to studying the virtual but has also resulted in the defining and re-defining of the

same basic phenomena; where I employ the term "MMO" as synonymous with "virtual world," some authors have divided "virtual worlds" from "game worlds" (Spence 2009), proposed differences between "MMOGs" and "MMOs" (Learning 2009), or created new terms such as "MMP" (Seav et al. 2004) and "collaborative virtual environments (CVEs)" (Brown and Bell: 2004). In arguing for an anthropological approach to virtual worlds, Boellstorff draws a distinction between combat-oriented and non-combat-oriented worlds and notes the significant difference of the existence of a game structure, rules and narrative that do not exist in virtual places such as Second Life, but he nevertheless views both as "virtual worlds" (Boellstorff 2008; 23). While I certainly understand the need for a common lexicon for furthering interdisciplinary cooperation. I also do not see a problem using the popular terminology associated with these virtual spaces. In keeping with Boellstorff's example, rather than imposing a specific academic terminology to describe a phenomenon of popular culture I watched and listened through narticirant observation and asked my informants what they called these spaces. I most commonly heard Warhowmer Online referred to as "the game;" an "MMO?" an "MMORPG;" or "the world." I came to the conclusion that to the players I talked to and got to know, proper classification was of little importance as what they enjoyed was the experience.

The development of MMCRPOs is a corion thing, their estimate is multiply computer technology, which makes them products and processor of emilier media, Yee, as discussed entire, which explore dynamical and paragraphy millimiters with video games they also use dork to older per and paper rule-playing games, notably Darayow A Darayow. The han allowed for these games is be approached from a supstial of disciplines, reading specificacy, orcinger, concurst ories, methods year, such and and the specificacy of the strength of the specificacy of the specificacy discipling specificacy, orcinger, concurst ories, methods year, such and and the specificacy of the specificacy of the specificacy of the specificacy discipling specificacy, excipling concurst ories, and models, and and the specificacy of the specificacy of the specificacy of the specificacy of the specificacy discipling specificacy, and the specificacy of the sp cohard subsca and folkhories, Faire' (1983) only of role physic games looked of the perand-paper variety of EPGs as subsching, and was ore of the endy scholarly works on these games, or, now executedly, on the physics. Using ethosographic technique, Faire belowed that typolo being mere entertainment, the physics of these games constituted as subschiner and each game itself ensemble as weld (1983, 72). As stord allows, some authors: choose to differentiate between game and non-game "social" workly, bear Traf's work suggests, this faile differentiate as uses can be easily workdy.

In his introduction to Signifying Identities, Cohen asks the important question "Are some identities more authentic than others? What are the conditions of authenticity?" (Cohen 2000. 3). He poses the question in reference to Frederik Barth's(1969) seminal work on ethnicity and groups, but it is also significant when asked of virtual identities. Are virtual social relations so different from their actual world counterparts that they require entirely new theoretical frameworks to understand them? Of course not: as products of culture and technological media of communication, virtual worlds are developed and inhabited by humans coming from actual world societies. Nor, however, are virtual social relations a mirrored reflection: actual world usciality cannot entirely explain virtual social relations (Boellsteeff 2008-63). Colum's question encansulates the essence of the debate in early internet scholarship concerning whether virtual spaces could develop as valid communities (Donath 1998; Foster 1997; Light 1999; Rheingold 2003: Wellman 1999). The term "vietual" itself offers a double meaning: it is commonly used in contemporary society to refer to "digital." but in doine so also implies an "almost" or "not quite real" statement (Boellstorff 2008). It is this underlying implication of ephemerality that creates the conceptual false dichotomy between the "real" and the "virtual." This is precisely why I

suggest that experiential ethnography is one of the most effective methodologies for exploring and analyzing virtual relations.

The arguments against the stilly of visual communities on the reduced to oxecents over suppoord instantisticity. Four argued that visual relations were shallow and a fapted (977, 793) and Ling large possible and visual methods includes) and the concisionness (1999, 122). While a Marciel interpretation of visual worlds in terms of avoing a largement gover structure is intripuing, unitar arguments have been made about subclutters that, while possibly accounts, do not invalidant the captorential social meaning for their members. Wellman and Gallampopoed that the turn "community" for headeding of the it shows not specify geographic space but a set of occid networks (1999, 177). It is important to not that the techders have all of the first disciplicate and theoretical backgrounds that employed differing datations of start wave impartical and theoretical backgrounds that employed differing datations of start wave intermining-to:

The oncept of commanity has been interpreted and applied in affirster flokion by viscos scheders, whites the Millin and Gold and we writing of the exciting diffutition of "commanity," Anderon faminoly applied the encept in loss concerts physical terms. In *Interfaced Communication*, Anderon describes commany as a shared manging of neurober flow in an one of the encept of the encept in the encept of the stars, Anderon described have a contrasting route and and enceptiately enceptenesis is knowly had gauge. One criticism of this work was that its work for the encept of the encept of the encept of the encept of the for their imagined commany. The marker that lines net is molecularly functioned to the first distribution of the interport of the encept of the encept encept of the encept on the encept of the e

Folklorists have long been aware that groups are not homogenous bounded entities, nor static and tied to geography. Noves examines the relative density of prouns and exnounds a covertnum from loosely-knit social networks to close community (Nours 2003). She applies social network theory to analyze more deeply the dynamics of social relationshins within a face-to-face physical community. The physical basis for the internet, meaning geographically-diverse servers and users, creates a situation where non-face-to-face communication is facilitated and necessary. As products reliant upon internet technology, virtual worlds are very much "places" floating in the ocean of cyberspace, kept aloft by a foundation of network ties - both computer signal and social signal. Rheinoold makes the argument that dismissing virtual relationshins as "shallow" when compared to actual world relations misses the complexity of the relationshins (Rheingold 2006, 51). As an imagined community, users of Warhammer Online are connected through media - in this case, the world itself - and. like an imagined community, the average user only ever interacts with a small percentage of the population that is said to make up the nation (or virtual world), and rarely knows actual world information about fellow players. Imagined communities are also virtual in the "almost real" sense set command noncerful relationshins. Worksammer Online is a somthetic world in that it was constructed by a development company. but it functions as a place in which players share real experiences that they carry back to the hhrow fourths

Academically, contemporary scholars in the social sciences acknowledge that the term "authenticity" is problematic but it is nevertheless a public owneyd that underliss basic discussion and understanding of virtual works. Foldorists have long been aware of the concentual haugges matched to industrees of "authencidy" in the title 9°C entry construction

of "the folk" as a "network" or "consense" mean who live traditional lifeways as cultural attends. of a more "authentic" nost Bausinger engages with this view in Folk Culture in a World of Technology in which he examines the interface between folk and technology (Bausinger 1990). He questions the concentual dichotomy between mechanization and the simple, rural folk (1990, 8) and more on to armin that technology becomes naturalized into folk culture and is then not only a subject of folklore but also used as a means to spread folklore, and, by extension, the folk world, soutially and temporally (1990, 43). I find Bausineer's work highly significant in light of conceptualizing virtuality and situating virtual worlds within social history. Bausinour's work is useful in a broad sense of constructing a conceptual framework from which to understand folk/players relation to technology and the cultural implications that relationship suzgests. As noted earlier, semantically embedded in the word "virtual" is the connotation of "almost real" and as entirely synthetic products globally accessed through technological means virtual worlds are perhaps the ultimate in mass production. Bausinger's conclusion, that technology does not destroy folk culture but instead adds new dimensions to it (1990, 23), speaks both to the virtual community debate and to the social effect of technological mediation.

We may discuss the imagined community and virtual weich interview of Wardsmover Online as an abardar group, but is it due tatakisan between methods that construct such areaseds, by their traverse mention and any approximation of the second state of the that sociality is indeed experientially "mail" angumenting the develop community, it follows that the expression of distativy on both individual and group levels is worth using a sociedimit product. Broger and Del Segue explore the phenomenological commencion of still and the role than properties drays in strative (forem and Del Segue 2000). Their work on demonstrative for a strationary 2000, the second strationary 2000. Their work on demonstrative for

discussed in the third chapter, and adapted to interpret the player-avatar relationship and perception of virtual self.

Where "virtual" can mean "almost real " the actual virtual divide is a conceptual distinction made by scholars which does not necessarily exist in the same way for players. Batth arrues that drawine distinctions does not necessarily also imply a boundary delineation (1969, 17): he cites examples from his anthropological fieldwork of groups, such as the Basseri, who do not coamitized a concentualize boundaries as tied to neoemphy or property but instead as evershifting. The conventional Western notion of "boundary" often leads to conceptions and discussions of structuralist binaries and dichotomies. In her ethnography of the MMO Everavert, Taylor significantly argues that the actual-virtual dichotomy is a false one, with players nepotiating the gaps between the real and virtual (Taylor 2006, 19). Games studies scholars have also eranded with the concert of boundaries in virtual worlds: in two recent works, Lastowka adopts a structuralist approach that argues underlying rules and the "magic circle" boundary is measure for an MMOREC to function (Lastonica 2009), while Consultys employs a contextualist approach that concludes that boundaries do not account for multivocality of meaning (Consulses 2009). If, as Baeth suggests, boundaries are a cultural production of lived exercises and not a universal structure (Basth 1969, 21) then the actual world division is late a fixed boundary and more a Western conceptual academic distinction. Boellstoeff has noted the powers anality of this distinction and armes that a reciprocal relationship exists between the actual and virtual worlds (Roellstorff 2008). Applying Berger and Del Negro's phenomenology of self perception to this issue suggests that this distinction is not only porous but an existential creation that varies from player to player and is easily and frequently traversed.

If Berøer and Del Nearo's theories on self-perception can be adapted to describe the immension nerventual and experiential experience of indentifying as an syster Goffmon's Presentation of Self in Fournday Life may likewise describe the performance of these virtual self-(Anotities (1959). Goffman employed a theatre model to illustrate mesentation through social interaction: the construct of a theatre also functions well in describing player-avatar-audience relations in virtual worlds. Goffman's assertion of the agency of the actor in choosing a costume to neesent is home out in Worksammer Online by players" construction of themselves as avotars. Grimes' work on the phenomenology of masking also suggests that the costume becomes less a material discuise and instead the weater appropriates its power through assuming its identity (Grimes 1975). According to Goffman actors are simultaneously both performers and audience (Coffman 1993) which speaks not only to individual construction of avatars hat especially to performance of role-playing in which all actors simultaneously form an audience for themselves. This shifting of perception (Berger and Del Negro 2004) to construction of a "costume" (Grimes 1975) and performance of this (Goffman 1959) is essentially a dynamic transformative process of identity grounded in the experiential, which echoes the work of Viveiros de Castro on Amazonian perspectivism and the fluidity of the nature-culture boundary that allows for shamans to team form their biology instead of and to not only identify with but become their "may" (Visoime de Castro 1998)

This concept of transformative identity created through lived experience and performed in a virtual place is certaral to this thesis and an iden that I will develop further in the subsequent chapters. The purpose of this introduction was to briefly familiation non-games with the concept of maxiety multiplayer online mide-parting games and sintate myself within a schularly context
of preceding research on virtual worlds while describing the theories and notions I will be employing. The following chapters are concerned with reflexive disclosure of my own experience and methodology; toxial performance of identity in *Warhamore Online*; avatars as transformative commissions; and the follow of chauting.

Chapter 2: Virtual Reflexivity

2.1 Ethnographic Context

When I launchel Wachsmerer Ordendie for the for time it annumy 2009, the guree had arerers divided into three grouppilic regions: Nerth Annuel, Europe and Oranis, This is student conversion in model MONo, insteaded to chatter players who share monghly for taum time zones and language. While I did messenter the excelsional finition and Anatolians on the Nerth Annuelans are never bucketed, the majority of players I interviewed on the motional their transmitting buckets and the new from the Odd Batters or chans. These server visions also represented where the game was released and who had access to it. While each player was allowed to care a summ and different streams, each never maintained in some single community on allowed more on the playeling areas Theorem Neuros Theorem on Mich (transmitter) and none must so than the oplaying areas Theorem Neuros Neur

So how off J pri there's Alse subsching a monthly first subschipterer computs Myblic Extensionsen, I downlande the Wardsammer Cubin, "which, its computer jargers, effect to an easier angelocient that communication with the ministeres error the time. Usuble single physe computer games, MMCh are not located widdy on the physe's had drive hut instead functions in a stationship between computer and arene, physer and arene physe. Which drive the instead functions in a stationship between computer and arene, physers and arene physers and area of the physical area of the station of the state of the state physical area of the state physical is shaded you detaulty yound? with a gaussion of a 1% physical "your game; patches are packages of changes to the game's programming that the developes constantially stared on to physicatication are to relation the tweelung is a more and the transfers." are game, patches are packages of changes to the game's programming that the developes constantially stared on to physicatication are transfersioned as the state is a state that "queeds" are physication are transfersioned and the state of the state physication. altering effects, such as overhanding genjeks or adding over areas to replete. Dete fully probeds, 1 eldes 'ploy" and an landbed into the character selection screen its which 1 choose which swatter to manifest as. Alter selecting up Societarys, Line condunted with a longit corres will stop of avatar flickers to life wherever life the Up worth this point, the player interacts with the world in the same way they laterat with webpaper; through an scenario and the player innocliately beyond and more correll originarian innominating starbiest and the player innocliately beyond and more correll originarian innominating starbiest and the player innocliately beyond, the player interfaces with the world in the player innocliately beyond, the player interfaces with the world strong the arear and with the arear through the more and hybourk, the indel beet is a starbiest or its souther ere of madiation. This is the instant where visual presence is mainticely where a player moremet control of an areat the visual trayers with the world. The south weight is south the starbiest the starbiest the south starbiest the starbiest the south the sout

In a paper exploring the potential application of criminal law in visual works, Kerr exabilities, "visual propositors" as the fittering to the on-the-ground perspective of the player, who almost view the workf through the cycle of the sure; this term in mere to informable between an onic presentive and experime of siling at a computer and an emic one of schully being in the game (Kerr 2009). Lg into geneter depth involving Regress and De Negor's discussion of efficience of the second schully pre-second schully being in the game (Kerr 2009). Lg into geneter depth involving Regress and De Negor's discussion of efficience of the second schully pre-second schully being in the game (Kerr 2009). Lg into geneter depth involving Regress and the Negor's discussion of efficience of the second schull being the second schull being the second schull being the expectential schulls (sciele) underschulle progress interact with the 'stund wordt. The

The 2009 film A waw has gone some measure to popularizing the connection between the video game strater and perceptial endodiment and immersion. When Warksmanner fullure players log into their accounts they become their avatars in a virtual space. The film saw the actors semporarily mandeming their connecisionness to a different biological entry in the actual workf. Further work on this hopic world be intripinge.

immersive quality of manifesting as an avatar is what yields the virtual perspective that players





With virtual mesence established, the world of Warhammer Online opens up before you. As your chosen and constructed avatar, you can go anywhere. Newly-minted avatars begin in the starting zone; each server of Warhammer Online consists of a world map that is divided into four "tiers," which are zones based on avatar level. Tier 1 is reserved for avatars between level 1 and 12: with a maximum attainable character level of 40, this division functions to separate higher and lower-level avatars to avoid higher levels easily killing lower levels, known as "ganking." An avatar's level increases by gaining "experience points," which are rewards from completing

tasks ("quests") or killing enemies, either computer-controlled non-playable characters (NPCs) or players of the opposing faction.

According to the lore set down in the game manual, the virtual world is bitterly divided between two warring alliances: Humans, Elves and Dwarves united as the "Forces of Order" struggling against the onslaught of the Chaos (evil Humans), Dark Elves and Greenskins (Orcs and ophins) that march under the banner "Forces of Destruction." Players from each faction can on anywhere on the world map, though some places like enemy cities can be hazardous. Each tier consists of two geographic regions on the map, which are divided into "PvE" and "RvR": player-versus-environment (PvE) is a common MMORPG designation for areas in which players fight NPCs, including monsters, bandits, wild animals, etc., while Realm-versus-Realm is Warhammer Online-specific lingo for player-versus-player (PvP) areas that are reserved for combat between players. Learning suggests that MMORPGs are largely defined by which paradigm they are constructed around, PvE or PvP (Learning 2009, 12); Warhammer Online includes both, but the development and marketing focus was centred on PvP. PvE quests are programmed into the game and are offered by NPCs. They might include having to hunt "\" number of dangerous wild animals or carry important supplies or messages to NPC commanders across zones.

The RoR I participated in was queed-less, player-directed and driver; each RoR area had a "Forthess" and a number of smaller "Bathe Objectives" (ROA), which are strategic investments on the butherfold whose explore and defence yielded experience points. Unlike PiE quents that direct players to sepecific areas to conduct particular tasks, RoR combit Hysteres opposing players is conducted by large groups led by ultividual players. Foundation of propes, strategy and

tacking are decepted entirely by glogmen and passed on as foldbare of 0.6 kBy vertem plogme. The most commons graup size in R-R during my fieldbarek was the "weathend" which consolied of up to trensy for plot prior models a single bindbare and could be set in "opper to make any random ployer in the groupsplot region to join. The maccould assuit, capture and defines of finenesses and 20 is a same of minimal ployer shall, group bindbarek join and strange that inclusional and was observed assuit of prior handles and their sames became a draw region landbare of the maccould assuit. The maccould assuit, capture and defines are for players in the maccould and word one a matter of their handles and prior the hild region target and the strate to join the group Large-scale bardies could harde any number of for players in the macco join the group Large-scale bardies could harde any number of machanic counters of the strate scale scale.

Beyond the functional upon wathouts, public are the more common type of pupot p. public is near-morecommergeneric deploymers, sender and and the poleness, municity of a core group of anywhere from ton to humdrosh of people that regularly gloy targetier. Guids are inportant in usual watch like MMOs, where the individual player cannot exercence emittion and level by and discipline, set close-batt and family like to related and fine-certic, but ends one carries a like and setting that and the supplic and mission of the setting the literarchy and discipline, set close-batt and family like to related and fine-certic, but ends one carries a regulation that so some a differ with much suggle after exclusione methership. When watchask are concentrated and manifesting allow are personal mitorulus that and what the source of oscillatation of one splesment and transmission of folkare how the whold, his looking for informations and folkions, I become on the spaces where I found the more consistent weight domains between dispects. A such, this the inits more concenter with gliab and wathands has no playing and b Ris, which is more or leave aligned with low Wathannews Online was dorigoed in a list shored.



Figure 2.2 - Small warband defending a BO (screenshot by author)

2.2 Virtual Lifeways

Since MADEPGA have use outfigs. (a. they preparable exist, as the neicepting intermet dicates a datameter that advances over time through experisons, both the player and avatar have as indicated patterns that mark points in development and archive acciocational meaning to them. As a game, the development of a player and archive molecular players and avatar have that unack, one shifting and powers in subset of players and archive acciocational meaning to them. As the DMDRPCA's, data is the meanues of experise points that means the national. It distinguished MADRIPGO from other none games workly. Beefinderf stood that character levels structured the visual life course by acting as a nearance of online reperimence (BooHmell 2000, 120). This is the in its abuild assing, that higher level avatures have access to more powerful abilities and equipment; exciting, susceptions are sometimes made of high beed aware. When a catche is the lower time, with attention with their dependent distance of the life of a catche is a discover time, and attention or participant (for the fast that by collapsily) how one or new "level offs," (d) being the maximum level), it hains a combineless distance that the distance and the structure of the sometime of prossession of multiple level if a structure high the distance and the structure distance of the structure of the structure of the distance and the structure distance of the structure of the structure of the structure in the structure distance of the structure distance of the structure of the structure distance of the phases to the structure distance of t

Dependencing any informant Neuron, use of the first things the rold are used to the two ways "handward" player and had four maximum level watters. While we wave regularly thiosening time commissions, the source of effers posses to validation and lightmice his optimation. Using paining a level during a sociel over other players would arougentate you and while uses during a first players. Both the source of effers during the socie and the source of the law socie and the source of the law socie and the law end of the law of the law

experience in conside the scope of this mice, it is a properties the this merely addressed in scheduchip on visual worksh. Levels may structure the life course for an individual avatar, but as a player indukting the acture science approaches and defaulties appropriate points. My informate: W' had never had a stack 40 worker when 1 interviewed him and had been playing since the game hannelsd, be was less interviewed an attaining the higher level than be was in a second structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the evolving lists structure. This how may be simplified by strate, he had had over a the periodic difference with Washammer Ordine was considerable har was no measurable by the structure instructure of levels.

By the end of my fieldword I was hearing people in wahmals voting three dails of higher-level ens and promy. Fragms such as a straight of the straight fragment fragment fragment in the straight of the stra

Identity in Warhammer Online is a fluid concept. While a player may create multiple avatures and decide to play each one as an entirely separate entity apart from the others, they are an example of Boellstorff's assertion that while place may change to adapt to a new medium

time remains constant: a boundary-marker between the virtual and actual (2008, 92). In MMORPGs time and identity are linked in different ways than in non-MMORPG worlds like Second Life. Time as Lum employing it here represents a measure of progression as a player advances through multiple lives of avatars. For my informant "R," avatars represented the search for the "nerfect" character design that not only played effectively socially but, more importantly, reflected him in the way he wanted. My first character was a short, stout Dwarf Ironbreaker named Belkard. In this, my first foray in the world of Warhammer Online and MMO culture in general. I was completely lost. I remember this feeling distinctly. As my fieldnotes from the excursion read: after the initial trouble in navigating both the GUI and the avatar himself. I ran into more trouble when faced with how to interact with the people milling about around me with what my inexperienced eye perceived as purposefulness. Now, over a year later with experience axined through playing a number of different avatars under my belt. I look back and see the mistakes I made in my timid socialization. I do not remember the avatar beyond what is recorded in my notes and my memory of the experience. This are wielding scarred Dwarf was for me a learning avatar: I eventually stopped playing him and created new characters, eventually deleting him months later. The eventual death of that avatar represented both my own progression through time as a player as well as my eventual socialization and acceptance into the culture. Very few players keep the first character they create. In my incarnation as a Dwarf I began to construct an identity, but that identity morehed into new avatars. For a random player in the same looking on, my Dwarf stumbled through his early quests and eventually disappeared. They would not see me create a new character but the disappearance of the Dwarf (aside from likely asian unnoticed due to my initial lack of social contacts) would not be viewed as out of the

ordings, Alaphing Buchlandf's course of size in virtual would be rear MMORPC, ployes islabilit the same "plane" over size, but design different succurations; cours of these are compared with the same of the size of a "back" (multiple, alternate areas), but the effect of time is MMORPCs generally means the contrained construction of new and different identities in alle of exam, and through them, it have of identity. This is not a place mplane on the appear over the nature area generated that the arm" of the comparison of the progression of their identity, but rethers to segment that identity in MMORPCs does not have to be fitted in time or is appear but in integre both. As a near arepresent an instance of identity as or another of progression of origins.

2.3 Reflexivity

In employing participant observations during any folderbork II and enhangement in impacted bys, and impacted in stans, the occid lives of the people that I and, interviewed and ploped adopted. Since any good changemphy to conserved free hybridesing the ethology physics was insepretations with representing the vision of individual informant, it is visibly incomparison. Since any setting the strength of the standard problem of the ploped adopted. Since any setting the vision of a hybrid plot of the ethology physics and the strength of the comparison, the kinetic plot of the vision of the strength of the strength of the Commoders 64. We plot of the strength of the strength of the strength of the strength of the Comparison of the strength of the strength of the the strength of the CO ROM (these is full of the strength of the CO ROM (these is full of the strength of the

dexhay by 2004. After manerous equades, the original emotioned eventually diel in the summer of 2009 (during up fachbards). It seems fitting that declaration of provend hists and potal to that Ohor workf. I am seming a costum-bath chabitsp hard (curribus 2.5 CHI CVI processor, 2000) 2200/PB a XTA hard dowr, ATI Badow TD 40% Di profiles and a 2 G 400 400% 220% All An isste site. Which is fission of the diversity of the promost site of the si

There here hybric compare games since I first logged on to my first family compare, he logging and Wachanase Chillic for the first inter us an entropy mage antise experisor for the gaven galoging game of video game experisory MMOsc 2 shows sense the method they were lacking in graphics and fir years I standardly refused to pay a monthly for for a game. It us as calculated in the start I standardly refused to pay a monthly for for a game. It was calculated in the start I standard problem of the stores MMO game works. The majority of games fault games have mitical to show the other paying games and may province experisors with calling games was mitical for far-genes on shores: used as 3 and Filer Endedware and Call of Doo) at which I smally perform dispatchilly, and adventure-theore games, like Saw Ware, End Acadows Ji, was in this large met here T fore encountered, and was encodered by an unit case summity, End Acadows Ji a unitypier first from the advect a

limited muster of people on a server to plop through noting may, and was usually howed by galide of individuals. This was not a "persistent" world like an MMO, which men 200' applied of plopess. The dr Jacobies was presented in the far to works of frequenting the same server, where plopers begats to notice my screen sums and play right and after a few mostly there are a set of regulars who indubied entities more restore in termine menting may boundaries beam familitaring and propersists. All explosing for each set of entered Wardsmany Online as an as-wicking Oward in Jamary 2009, is between being overwhendowed by the centrals and by Modeliney entermise, this was not simply a multiplayer version of a solit or bejong game.

Initially, that are friends. Natively, despite having and dimographics emplaining the contrary, bulicend that I could bag into Washmanor Online and almost instantly concer with bags and the second second

⁵ A commonly used term meaning to create a new avatar, likely dating back to the days of pen-and-paper rolerelaving sames that used dice rolls to create character attributes.

"netDy" play or how to "netDy" creates effectives availars. Over a system later, after my correct gailed moreord a new NMD3 (a different fattancy-based world called "Astor"), found myself membering Worldwares. Worldware a stray secial and worksoning community. This hard view stands in stark contrast to my initial experience; by Jane 2000, I had roorded in my foldontes that, "membering my initial experience; with my londwares, it is hard to believe that I am strikes the strates."

MMOs are complex worlds and names. It takes significant time to learn how the name functions and to acculturate. Creating a virtual identity as expressed through an avatar can be fun and intrinsing for some neonle, but in MMORPGs your identity is also strongly tied to your performance of skill at the game. It was with my second avatar, the aesthetically unpleasing and records, constructed wirand Thoredon (nicknamed "Ther," by most resures I played with since the name was too long to quickly type in chat) that I made social contacts and was invited to join suilds. Unlike my earlier Dwarf, the Bright Wizard class is considered a "custor" or RDPS (ranged damage per second); this means that, unless I went out of my way to design myself otherwise. I would be un-arrequired (the term "souishies" is commonly used to refer to RDPS types) but canable of dealine large amounts of damage from a distance (leading to the nickname "elass comons"). This also had implications for my play style with the expectation that I would endeavour to remain away from combat and use certain types of attacks at particular times and places: just as engaging enemy players in close combat would have been socially interpreted as a lack of skill and playing my class "arong," a good wizard should similarly know that AoE (area of effect) spells are to be used in fortress defences but not in open field combat. I found that a basic proficiency with attack combinations (in terms of damage effects) and attack timine (some

abilities use "cooldown" timers determining when they will again become available, which means planning of timed-combinations of abilities is necessary) was not difficult to attain from play experience, but fine-tuning that proficiency required watching other players of the same class, the Vos/Tube videos they nosted and reading extra-game content, such as forum discussions and fan websites dedicated to class efficiency. Aware of my dual role as both player and ethnographer, which I had made public on my player profile, I was self-conscious of my performance and attempted basic internet searches for context on how to play more effectively. I started with the official Warhammer Online forum, which hosts a discussion webpage dedicated to RDPS classes. In contrast to my initial experiences in the game world, players would almost always answer questions posted to forum threads and often included links to videos on other websites. One such example is "WARDB" (www.wardb.com), which is a database of game information and tools, such as the "career builder." The "career builder" allows you to further learn about classes and experiment with new ideas for improving the efficiency of your avatur through a simulation of every customization option. Websites like this were popular when I was conducting fieldwork, and most of my informants knew of them even if they did not visit them regularly.

Like exempt finishes, YouTube also proved to be a chief and efforcient and dottan. In many ways, YouTube fish like an exemision of the world since players workingly recorded videous algorithms, orbain in specarios to other players' update). Our YouTube Video that I came across in May 2009 was entitled "How to not look like an idlet in tite 2" and depicted the nature (our "mannetism") pajosing as a hight Watan. In his recorded performance, Instancement explaying disp. Since the state of the second

do substrive would have your "backing like an iden", 1 would be another of videos like this, but I mate conferes that I could access gate path for grainly low quality and never from them protectually informative. Thus, iden the priors training may on add, Reserver 1000 will video as means of tracking and learning. My guild, "The Sons of Mychwood," kept a blog about their experiences in *Brahemane Chineman* members tracked links to such videos. For mc. it was not so much the videos that linkscent and an one year both the trackit access of the suitd.



Figure 2.3 - WARDB career builder simulating in-game avatar configuration options

Workowney Online is designed as an inherently social game and it was through groups that I learned how to play. I read external websites and used ability simulators to experiment with crafting my awater, but predving that browledge within the context of group situations and fast-paced action became a social process. In PvE areas the developers instituted "public quests" (POs) that allowed anyone in the area to participate. This set Warhammer Online apart from other MMORPGs that tend to require players to manually group themselves and invite others. I started grouping with small numbers of players in these quests and learning how to play the socially expected role of "the caster." I focused my research on PvP (player-versus-player) groups, however, since that type of game play was where I both found the most players and found myself leaning towards. PvP groups are also easy to create and join: anywhere from two to transition force playare many approximation to another in terminogramy pick, an around, in order to work together to fight groups of enemy playees. The "open warband" was the common standard of PvP groups and simply had a "ioin" button to gain entry (although players could be kicked out at the whim of the leader). PvP is competitive and during combat intra-group tensions can flare, so between heated arguments and the sometimes calm discussions I picked up a pood deal of advice and ideas - in a word, folklore. While groups are simple to create, small groups do not always grow isto full warbands and erouns created by a single player often staved as such until they were absorbed into larger groups or were dissolved. When I created Thorodun I had the fortune to be ioland early on by my first two informants Devin and Scott, whom I am indebted for helping create groups with me and sharing their own experiences of learning the ins and outs of the world. Together we formed ensures that often attracted more players than I would have done

alone and it was in many of these groups that we not only shared experiences but where I found the folklore of Warkowwer Online players.

Devin, my brother, became one of my early informants in April 2009 when I flew to Toronto for fieldwork and he started playing Warhammer Online. He initially tended to play the heavily-armoured "tank" character types and gained significant social reputation on both Volkmar and Phoenix Throne through his respective avatars "Isildur," a Knight of the Blazing Sun, and "Nisimaldar," a Disciple of Khaine healing class avatar. He was frequently available for discussion of the game culture and through him I had access to not only my own network of friends and sources in the same world, but also his: Lemployed the snowball technique to find two more informants through him. "R" and Scott. "R" had significant influence on my Warhammer Online experience, as he played on the role-play server Phoenix Throne that I would eventually call home. He invited Devin and me, who had avatars on server Volkmar, to create new characters on Phoenix Throne and join his role-playing ruild, "The Black Guard," It was on Phoenix Throne that I encountered role-playing and the social tension surrounding it that I became interested in and focused a large portion of this thesis on. I found the role-play server a very different social environment from the non-rolenlay "core" servers I had previously inhabited: here were people who did not view the world as "just" a "mere" same but expanded the game narrative and wove in their own. As Thorodun on Volkmar, I had been recruited by guilds but the first guilds I really engaged with were on Phoenix Throne. I was quickly recruited by "The Black Hand," which was a large muld of over three hundred players: aside from a few core members, there was not a particularly strong sense of community that I could discern, although our members tended to stay together in groups like warbands. I regularly played

abangitie a smill group of Black Hand methods and we were close to becoming a cohoriev onti within the larger structure of the guild whose one day the guild disappeared. Or, 1 should say that hencebes disappeared for EA lower of all turns analy should have proved by the hypothe, May that proved, May that that that the Hask Hand members and havy agend to interviews, I could never get the materies of the Mass that the date and may agend to interview. I could never get the materies of the Mass that the date and may agend to interview.

Thankfully, my fieldwork was not place-dependent and by September 2009 I found myself back in St. John's, with months of participant observation and experience under my belt, but only half of my expected number of interviews and a disappearing guild. I was frustrated with the state of my research and joining new guilds was not generating the informants that I needed. In early September, I was logged in on Phoenix Throne as the Sorceress Moricaendlyn when I was approached by Cadrar, inquiring about the state of the Black Hand. It turned out he was the leader of the Sons of Myrkwood guild, which I joined and played with for months in Worknower Online and continue to play with in Aion since the guild migrated. In a telling tale of virtual identity. I had actually been playing with Cadrar for months before I met him: I recorded numerous times throughout the summer in my fieldnotes of plaving alongside Rankhien, who was an "alt" avatar of Cadrar. While Rardthien became a recognizable name to me. Moriguendlyn became the same to him since when he approached me as Cadrar he was somehow under the impression that he was recruiting my brother Devin. The Sons of Myrkwood has always been a relatively small suild consisting of a group of players who have played together through three different MMOs now: welcomine and nationt, the Sons accepted me and it

was with them that I first used voice chat and added that dimension of communication to the

game.



Figure 2.4 - My Dark Elf Sorgeress, Moriguendlyn (screenshot by author)

Like The Black Hand, being on Phoenix Theme, the Som of Mydeword were a roleplaying guidt. Though 1 was completely unfamiliar with role-playing in MMORPA's and had not initially intended to conduct fieldwork in a soft-playing community, mite-playing came to form a key perspective in my discussion of visual identity. Yet not all *Warhammer* (white players energies into els-playing in fact the majority on the 1 sub-risk induced with dual to we have my research could be representative of Warhammer Online players if I confined myself to a particular community. I make liberal use of the phrase "Warkammer Online players," but this implies a typology of group and an underlying academic classificatory system. The trend in game studies and sociological studies of MMOs has been to create player typologies (Bartle 1996; Schuuman et al. 2008) and assign motivations to people who inhabit virtual worlds. Yet if there is one element of identity that I found most strongly emphasized, it is individuality: whether you are creating arbitrary categories of motivation or combing through server data logs in order to establish objective and empirical cultural measurements, even from the few people that I spent months playing with and getting to know it was clear that everyone plays for their own reasons. For some people like the Sons of Myrkwood it is a fun weekly social gathering of friends; Devin was concerned with building reputation and social capital while Scott played for no other reason than sheer entertainment and occasionally ruining someone's day. Norm was a serious and hardcore player: "R" was indifferent towards the social element of the game and instead quested for the perfect avatar; for Lynda it was ultimately just a game, but an aesthetically pleasing one. Through the people who started as informants and became friends I learned, directly and indirectly from them, that assuming a "culture of earning" perspective and imposine ostensibly objective classificatory systems would not speak to the culture of the virtual world and its inhabitants, nor would it help them speak.

I will go into depth in the following chapter concerning the social implications of robplaying and how others use it in performing identity, but here I will limit myself to describing my own experience with robe-playing on Phoenix. Therene as it subjectively relates to my represention of its as asseil process. Worknesser/Ohlize hosted two dedicated robe-play ververs,

one of which was Promits Themes. All manimized above, it was having the above of my informant "A" shall created the characters or Proceedings. Theme that would extending between my "main" that 1 open the most time gloging. Which that played single players projeing game computer games and was finalities with the clean of nell-pelaying improving. I was inmediately commentative between entyments with their the Proceedings of the proving. I was inmediately superficiently extension of the share of nell-pelaying imposing. I was inmediately entymeric the superficient of the share of the players. The superficient of the players performance appriated between players, where and auditors. Subsequently, 1 found any self with "concession of "subsequentity" (typica) are are streamed of an applice.

While enzyme neb glysel slightly different, the identities from which ployers spate their diseasers is no creation over a timi of Wardmanner funchine lore, other literary formsy atoms and personal conception. This was many improved an enable manner acce, particularly over and electra. Landsci data nels playage human smally referenced The Engeire, the Engence Statistica accent and factors on content introlving actional state of the meaning of were long-which and marked playage with the data chreas absencing malicines actis; see and guidina vacual data is a Ratistica ducketory accent and a submit and actigated to appear and he mas a Ratistica ducketory accent and content wire was minimized and a state that the appear and a state. The the accent accenter wire was minimized and accented to appear and he may a Ratistica ducketory accent and content wire was minimized and accented to appear and he may a Ratistica ducketory accent and content wire was minimized and accented to appear and he may a Ratistica ducketory accent and content wire was minimized and accented to appear and he may a Ratistica accenter and accenter wire was minimized and beingend to appear and he may a Ratistica accenter accenter wire was minimized and accenter to appear and he may a Ratistica accenter accenter wire was minimized and beingend to appear and he may a Ratistica accenter accenter wire was minimized and beingend to appear and here and a state accenter accenter wire was minimized accenter accenter wire was minimized as a function accenter accenter wire was minimized accenter accenter wire was minimiz

"In the hand of hands it is usenediated as may in character, unless you're an ore. Ore speech is factor to type then some lawtimens. Charge = WAAAAGEH New Tarcitis = WAAAAAGEH Spettraf are arowny = WAAAAAGEH Warned more people = WAAAAAGEH

Dying = OI boss we'zgetin shot ap!" (Blezkin, comment posted to Warhammer Forums, Jane 09, 2009).

While it was often difficult to using in character during combin, some penple remained as their character even during moments of social cardifications and moments of social conditionary a defend, in Angeora 2000 I van in a water and all by the nex below Wandalka and witnessed an argument that empired over his leading and huding skills that ended in a physer leaving. Wandalka was admeniating the group for net listening during a huttle in which Heckors had died; Wandalka and Japamak both study to their theorem entries and interpreted Heckory chard row encoderation encounters and response.

(09/08/14)[17:59:01] [Warband][Wgadakku]: jo dumb gizdont listen to me once (09/08/14)[17:59:41] [1: Region][Heakkus]: im all for the good leading Wzadakka but not the put downs have a good one goys

[0908/14][17:59:58] [1: Region][Wandukku]: (fjodontwanna get put down its easy do what jo told!

[09/08/14][18-00:48] [1: Region][Heakaw]: I was deep into the healers and you didn't heal road enough as i see it so marke you should focus on the heals

[09/08/14][18:01:09] [1: Region][Wzadakka]: heakonim da best healer in tier 3 so watch your language you incidentionating

[1: Region]/Hcukau]: its easy to point fingers is my point a good leader leads by example not griping

[0000971][1010:11] [1: Region[[J]]general]; The includies following dat Lordersynder. 100009711[1010:217] [1: Region[[J]]general]; the orden sum relation from (00009711[1010:217] [1: Region[[J]]]general are order all regions (00009711[1010:017] [1: Region[[J]]]]general]; the symmetry or event all region (00009711[1010:017] [1: Region[[J]]]]]general]; the region of the symmetry (00009711[1010:017] [1: Region[[J]]]]]] are also and and the symmetry (00009711[1010:017] [1: Region[[J]]]]]] are also and and any and are one (00009711[1010:017] [1: Region[[J]]]]]

(Recorded from my in-game chat log: I have boldfaced the names for ease of reading)

Witnessing such exchanges was not uncommon and I quickly became used to seeing the

"dialect" speech that players "spoke" in chat.



Figure 2.5 - View of the Inevitable City (screenshot by author)

To close this chapter on ethnographic experiment and reflexivity, 1 will briefly duritile a commun dop form its in *Flavhannov Colum*. My usual day started in the startal world moring with a cap of actual world tase, checking for spatia pathets and largeing inter the virtual world. One pathets and a spatial spatial transformed in prompt interflation of the displayed how many other players were analyst and interested in grouping targether. Prompt in the displayed how many they built and opening the gaital window rescaled the manhets of follow gaith methoder norm had not encourse theorematics. Alter adding and cap of this information, the may window them the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of this information, the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of this information, the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of this information, the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of this information, the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of the information the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of the information the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of the information the may window them and the construct weatows. Alter adding and cap of the information the may window them and the addition of the information the may window them and the addition of the information the may window them and the addition of the information the may window them and the addition of the information them and the addition of the information them and the addition and the addition of the information them and the addition of the information them addition of the information them and the addition of the information the shewed the combat hotspets. - where large groups of players were engaged or fortifications that were under attack. More often than not, I found that large groups did not tend to accumulate on Phoenix Thereas until the afternoom. While there were some notable enceptions to this, midmoming warhunds usually disordered around noon with members citing hands as cause but roomining to orthunder.

Many mensing-1 legged in mind the server leggly empty, "Load these dwartimes for sort are instruments. As your examp gains length unsels, we well-lists and explosure that minds be parabased using in gener examps) from NCC trainers and metahanis. Some of these NCC were located in warrance (faith and set areas) bein may were differently faced only in the capital. The copied city of the Determinism factor, "The hiervished Crys," was submittingly discipately Mydding Einsteinions on represent the set of power of the data goals of Chaon from Warlammer Nex. As such, the travelers to the "C" (as it was abservinged in wet that was conformed with a data and confiscingly about section with the maleness was represed informing the social movements of warbanch, the IC was a kind of matter and the lawer there players regularly traveled. The Novindel loss on directory type of NCC methant or traiter and importantly dura that The Novindel loss on directory type of NCC methant or traiter and importantly dura that The Novindel loss of every type of NCC methant or traiter and importantly dura that The Novindel loss of the "was a common stop and the ancient more advalue researching under the Ward loss of the "was a seminon stop and the ancient house advalue researching under the stop of the was a seminon stop and the ancient more advalue researching under the stop of the loss of the stop of the loss of the metahanism of the stop of the loss of the metahanism of the stop of the loss of the metahanism of the loss of

If there was a crowd to be found in the IC, you would find it at the auction house. An average day would see people standing around in front of two NPCs, seemingly AFK (away from keyboard) but actually engaged in invisible (to you) trading. Most virtual worlds include some from eccounty, other maching beyond the parameters of visual coin and interfacing with attual world eccounties. Issues of gold farming and account selfing will be examined in the four danger. Physes constrained and the self of th

After source mainsmace and auxiliaring, and still finding on groups, I would break will later in the adverses. Around 4000 pue Easume Time the source population studies to well, will be accusated auxiliarius communic stilling calls allumenting publics, shade beiling on the other days. While it was not within the scope of ngs research to investigate whether or not it is startilly it was gales choicel children that worked the scorer population. Thereousle distributions to their informed actual work of the and, especially during times of worked the score and spin starting starting actual starting works alluments. The oreging shift field workshold, then a single starting works alluments such that the score gale significant score allow pole starts, with multiple groups adapting the field and score gales. Whether it was grouping with my gale of sciencify following the "score" of workshold, the single tone during these scores that the score and spin score and score and the single tone during these scores that the score that scores the workshold work in the field score that scores the sciencificant during the score and score scores that is interfield. Refer scores, then scores the score score score score scores workshold score (in Ref. Scores, then sciencificant science) and the score that scores core scores scores and the scores that the score score score score scores scores scores scores scores that scores the the score scores score scores that scores the the score score score score scores scores scores scores scores scores scores scores scores that scores score scores s

⁴The term "zerg" is used to refer to unusually large and unwieldy groups of players with the implication that skill fails to the wayaide in like of sheer numbers. Intriguingly, the term comes from the 1998 strategy game Strategy and Strategy involved overwahehming numbers.

especiality on Hidug and Standay injut. The temporary boom of player activity continued pare 2.00 any when the Pacific Time players begins to big its one masse and standard temporary boom of the players begins to big its one standard. If fitting without booms of the temporary big its applied different warband. If fitting without booms of the summer method area disposed to start booms of the summer method on the fitting boom of the summer method one disposed to start booms of the summer method on the fitting booms of the summer method on the summer fitting booms of the start bo



Figure 2.6 - NPC auctioneer in the inevitable City that was usually surrounded by a crowd of players (screenshot by author)

Chapter 3: Identity Construction, Performance, and Experience

Intender, (1994) erganner fluer 'nik shoet kleinty is to denge er control te 'n prohap entilemanie of the difficulty facult by schlass discussing islamily without free of a general shoety, task obside ansaing for free effects of interactive ser weals on traditional theory. The schedurity study of 'sikettry' has undergone compared withit, moving from an Endplasment nation of an industrial "useare" is a postmaken theory of facility and dynamic (hogers and Del Nages, 2012). This consenses you for a listicity has home described an situational and functional (Businau 1972), histochildy energy of highly and by theory 2003). There are many gandhal density cannot facility and has home described areas excludy. Biochica is alonged and areapender dhrough the responsion works, Biochamaer, Chehne's julgered and represented through the responsion areas excludy. Biochamaer of visual information and performance to short on theoreas. In alonge the proceed of visual information and performance to short on theoreas. In adapted to understand visual chiner and perhaps offer new ways of environition is biotics.

3.1 Layers of Group Identity

As Boellsteeff has observed, the issue of culture in relation to vismal worlds may be approached in two ways:) 1 a culture of gaming and 2) game culture (2006, 32). The first view operates at the level of actual world society, emphasizing the sociocultural function of vismal worlds and establishing "gamers" as a subculture. Magazines such as PC Gamer and television programs the PLP-Pureque support this view transpl identification of a "gamer" culture within

-55

popular clause, and to insidence that situative by conclose of groups communitive patterns of communition dimension materiang. The second approach lowers a visual world as a control extension of second s

The term "proof" is such term characteric script period register of resolution entering community. I use the term in high of Noyov' defailtions of group as the productor termion terms the social impaired community and the every plan structure of contrasts. (Noyov 2003, 33). Which Noyov' defaultion of "group" terms entered as an a strukt work (Rayov 2003, 39). Subschool' visitual works how reconfigured social entereds (Anovie 1) and the ter- face experimentary anguing that face to face communication in social entereds (Anovie 1) and the terms of the proof visual social entereds, Reinspild argues that such characteristic particular with the indication of which works (Anovie 1) and the terms of the proof without social entereds. Reinspild argues that were concepted to the entered visual social entereds. Reinspild argues that were concepted to the entered visual social and and the social entered and the informability are too complex to be entered without an entered term of the social entered and the informability are too complex to be entered without an entered term of the social entered and the social entered are the entered social are about the social entered and the social entered are the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the entered social are about the "ending and the term of the ending are about the entered social are about the "ending are about the ending and the term of the ending are about the term of the ending and the term of the ending are about the term of the ending are about the ending are about the term of the ending are about the term of the ending are about the tending are about the term of the ending are about the term of

the commany, as they allow for near diverse forms of relationships (Riseingled 2006, 31). Explicit in Noyse's use of the "imagined social" is an adaption of Andorson's rotion of "imagined community" (Anderson, 2006). This concept is useful in any discussion of group as a forfiers for universalingling that the accurate (head). Address or eighting forfiered to assisso Jokes set have to be face-to-face, but can be a schulases thand outsine that is simultaneously imagined by its members. (Anderson 2006, 35). This effectively describes the basely that "games" calture and the document of the document of the schules set were the face.

If a "culture of gaming" may be enablished white avails world variety as a kind of bend, hose keil group and in numbers haves as "games," due, like the games of follows, games and the second of an offerent of boyes. Control calculations has largely filten out of forwar with construptors fieldshares, for understandale means, yet some ground tarning they be constrained on the first of bogs. Control calculations has largely filten out of forwar spectrum and the foreign fields on the understanding for games." Defenden are provide and the foreign field accounting in the understanding for actively forgen on or nors video games may be considered a "games," in the breaked sense, the width that seen groups ind in form samel different pildermes and "games," and the reader of a projecter out games of games are also experiment different pildermes and "games," and an output to a comparisor encounter "games" in the notion of the order pilders. And also comparisor encounter only a game are also experiment different pilder for the field of a structure games," and games at an experiment different pilders have in the read of structure games," and games at also experiment the process than is been for all output the games," and games at also experiments the pilder where the first encounter games," and games at also experiments the pilder structure at structure games," and games at also games are also experiments the pilder structure at structure games," and games at also games are also experiments the pilder structure at structure at structure at games at also games are also experiments the pilder structure at a structure at a structure at structure at the structure at games at games at games at games, and and wider different pilders at a structure at structure at the structure at games at games at games at the games, and and wider different pilders at the structure at games at

⁷ I use quotation marks to denote the lack of firm boundaries between these supposed genres that games are commercially divided into in some retail stores and marked as such on the retail box. There has also been an increase in birticilization between the traditional genres of video ranses over even the last five years.

plaques holds of shaka are MMORE/CA, only one of my informats had not plaqued any other game of game (and that informant did not self-adatt) as a games). You while the boundaries are excludy process horesense typicary. SMORE/CR plaques neurofulness maintain a distinct taxious and play style. This can be said for any other "games" of games, but MMORE/CA are also the most inherently multiplayer game type, with some "games" taxionality distinct taxions and games that workshole with a Second Life.

IMMORTS constitute perhaps the grave with the more variation in gamelys, spite and interaction. While MMORTS works show some gameter initializities, here, you for from being adaptions; while their jaleger from between works, each world show exists as it own unique collisatic context ansists the global from being despite, foldow and works of the appendage. We adapted the properties while a show the set of the appendage to the structure of a spite show the set of the initialized structure of the spite show the structure of the first initialized to the structure of the structure of the structure of the initialized structure of the work! A tabitantly structure of the structure of initialized expectition innuiting in an innept to structure for structure is a structure of the gamenizations are set the gaus of ethosympty, which works to interpret and understand colour on an interimet level.

Within Warhameer Duline, enthure is created through a reciprocal relationship between the players and the game development company. The virtual world was created by Mythic Extertainment, who had the licensing eights to develop an MMD from the Warhameer was a tubleon ministers was again that involves the clienting national and deploying of ministrue

newter and plastic models on an artificial "battlefield." In designing the game, Games Workshop drew on LR R. Tolkien and broadly on traditional Euronean folktales and learnds as evidenced in the names and appearances of the miniatures. Mythic Entertainment's role in shanine the culture of Warksmaner Online is through coding the world itself, employing the newcommercialized folklore-derived art and narrative and makine this accessible to players. Without players "inhobiting" it, however, the world would be nothing more than an elaborately-designed emnty shell. At first glance it would appear an asymmetrical top-down power structure exists, with Mythic at the top and players at the bottom, but people inhabit not only the world as players but as users and consumers. With the high cost to develop and maintain,⁴ MMORPGs require a substantial number of subscribers (in the hundreds of thousands) to successfully make profit. Since MMORPGs are as much a process of playing as they are a play event (owing to the persistent nature of the game world and the around the clock server maintenance and support). rood development companies are often easily approachable by players and institute continual natches and changes based on player feedback. This interaction between player and company allows the players a limited amount of agency in shaping their adopted world and represents one may in which the meets, or "folk," preservations the same and reconfigure it.

As a group, Warksomer Online players create and share their own meanings of the game; this foldow consists of cultural elements like social etiquette, Warksomer-specific lexicon, market prices, strategies and tactice, cheans and wildshrough, social value systems, gameplay specificon and group inforcement of "proper" svatar roles and identity. A player from World of Warcze tearing Warksomer Colline for the first time may be immediated by the Market and Statement and the second second

⁸ MMORPGs are costly projects to design, develop, launch and then maintaire technical support, server mittenance, continuing context additions and patches all contribute to the cost.

familie with the controls, which tend to be protectic, here may not initially gramp shape. Here well experter, combinations of abilities or where to stand during a keep small. Projects learn the grame and in culture only hemping interacting with the programs. A discount line for chapter, when I support any Wardsmanner and the programs. A discount line for chapter, when I support any Wardsmanner and the program. A discount line was the custor of the quencies in the grame and the lays of the land. It was, to may eventuating theme is and extent of the quencies in the grame and the lays of the land. It was, to may eventuating theme is no attract, many theory and the lays of the land. It was, to may eventuating theme is no attract, many theory theme also were thirting bars and combined baries in an attack. Reading playse created pusies on the main dark from and region withthroughs, I gained the knowledge of bush how I could glaps attracting where (may such as a theorem) and lays I was expered to reform the different stations.

Bischneuror chinks, the news MMDRIPGs, the sholded inter a summer of different "servers", Psychiadry, datase an actually different compare servers mensing identical conject of the game, day "sussively intelligiest" agest of AMDRIPGs is spread on accoss different servers to reache load. Dedrig the priorit of engl feelberest, Florenserer chinks that 300,000 players. All of these players handing on one server would serversh light the server and reach in the para been being unphysical", there games weekly, servers high the bet indirected and another dimensions. As a player, you may have different aware on different torrers and each server to a slightly different experisons of the game from players in the site players and on here verb torre of picklowsk was an conducted on the server Phoreas. Unlike the individy of the "alternative universes", this one was particularly different in that was claused as a "week bag".

⁹ A notable distinction to this rule is the sci-6 MMO Ene Online, which employs multiple servers feeding into one main server, so all players inhabit the exact same world space.

players were encouraged to engage in role-playing their character and protocold such players from the potential abuse of non-sole-players. This last insue will be addressed in more detail later on, as it significantly relates to performance of identity. The server that players play on, opecality with their min² is a part of their identity.

Kerner dovelped a utilisterio walkenzy, make up of that of all the inhibitums. Since theohenome Chiefen's observational departs into the finischer. Observational constraints of the inhibitume of the inhibitume of an all the inhibitumes of an all white this did shift over time, some arrays because known for the daminance of our of theor factors. Severes also and mains, or anisotice, for the pice syste on the other pices, rule known of more Markow through the severe was powerfully brought haves for an where, at the end of my full-brows. Presents Theorem chands: Due to a declining subsorber have, Mythia meant for a pice of the severes. Rate picepose was already a ministry against new onle-picepicers which means they were preleque new learning severe of their group identity. In A simute of theory were therefore means for any severe of their group identity, but simute of theory servers. The picepose severe is the pice brows. Theor picepose langth on pice the other order on difference servers and arrays for the other severes. Theore constants were in the pice brows in theorem picepose langth on pice of the pice

Within servers, the guid and the warband are the common groups that players internet with directly on a personal level. The guida the smallest coherent and comission time with one of the server of the server of the server of the server of the barbachemism notion of the sum being more than its parts:

10 Maix: a player's preferred character. Additional avatars are called "alts" (for "alternate").

"A gold is a living entity. Myshie recognizes this in the fact that they have gold experience points. A gold is more than just one or two people. More than the gold leader of officers. More show any single day, A gold is a carcine comprised of every monther within it. It locates, lives, grows and phrinks based upon the actions of these members." (MacKnight, Warhaweer Onlise Forums - Phoenic Therme, commenda pointed Jace 14, 2009).

These organizations include pelitical hierarchies, with the guild label at the body. But site be sayshese from ton players to hundreds, on the atmosphere can sugge from military labe on the small and finally sike groups of frinted. Guilds are defined by the mass, members and the braining but is depicted on a cloak work by members. Guild argunation can be an important frante in intere guild functions. During any foldwork, I initially joined "The Black Head," which was at these handled genes guild that that a requestion for being active and competitive though too casy to join, I was later receival and the "Source OM/plework," which was a much smaller guild, but our members were well Had in large scale alterese options introl-long multiple guild, but our members were well Had in large scale alterese options microlying multiple guild, but our senselues were well Had in large scale alterese options microlying multiple guild, but our senselues were well Had in large scale alterese theory and group in that that are captions the respectation of the guild when interestings with other players. The list is the skills and explosite of data guild and create the respections. The concerpt of the guidd was initially similarly in the of a large player contained and engluined groups. The guild has since become instimutionities by MMORIFUG Hardbower Offer Mark 1984 is 12 and 1984 in them.

In addition to pailsd, the "watershift" is the office common graph fatture in Warkmoney Online, Handler's stanment that, "groups are not bounded objects in the matrix work. Rather, they are symbolic increment, and storage and advocus to particular contexts of active" (Handler 1994, 30) applica interestingly here; if we replace "natural" with "winted" the statement describes the symbolic identity of galable tags of father in terms of wathruls as processes. Wathrulan are multicip groups of gala to see Sofe frequence isoconsisting of an express "processing" and area is prove the symbolic identity of galable tags of father in terms of wathruls as processes. that can operate independently of the warband) most often employed in RvR. Sometimes a suild might field a mild only undound but in my experience workands tended to be "open" which is a setting allowing anyone of the same faction in the same region to join (and leave) as they please. This made workands the virtual equivalent of nick-un erouns, and brought with it the benefits and problems of throwine strangers together in a group in a combat situation under a single leader. The warband leader was a position both revered and reviled. Some players revelled in being able to issue commands to other players and direct the force of the entire warband. If operations went poorly, however, the warband leader often bore the brunt of the defeated players' ire. I saw many players, myself often included, turn down leadershin¹¹ and wait for one of the few celebrated veteran leaders on the server to arrive. Returning to Handler, the warband does not so much function as group identity but acts as a social and symbolic process that enforces performance of a particular kind of identity and acts as a space to transmit cultural knowledge. This conception of the warband as process will be discussed later on; this section has been concerned with describing the layers of broad and general group identity that situate the player as a gamer, and the following sections will engage with the player-avutar relationship on on individual level and social interaction.

¹¹ Without making an overly complicated explanation, warband leadership is randomly decided if the current leader leaves the group without appointing a successor.


Figure 3.1 - Mounted warband waiting for the order to move out (screenshot by author)

3.2 Phenomenology of the Virtual Self

In the third chapter of *klowity and Everylap Life*. Berger and Del Negro apply phasamenological theory to expressions of the off an everydap (kl. (2004). By reddematiding procession of the set: they needpdo a 6 diklowitica: approach to the expressions of the ext. There again with the argument concerns how much mains is parential using a competimizer structure of focus/finger-barries and new this mecane to describe how the set of the origination relation to the performance (Herger and Del Negro 2004; 80). Berger and Del Negro secan adapted of status visited science and metations, in the origination and metations, in Illustrate their theory, but it also applies intripingly to issues of perspectivism and self-identity in Workammer Online. As mentioned previously, Kerr essentially distinguished between the view of a physicy sitting at his compare hinting keys to play the game and the "virtual perspective" of what the player's star is doing in-game (Kerr 2008, 5). Berger and Del Nergo's starture of focus/firebration describes their distinction in a number of wars.

Any video game may be considered an interactive performance, where the player interfaces with both computer hardware and game software, and in doing so performs the role of the avatar on the screen. This notion of performance is particularly emphasized in MMORPGs. in which the player performs his or her character not only for themselves against the computer but for an audience of other players. When participating in this kind of performance, players shift their perceptual focus to the monitor; the room in visual view of the seated player becomes the fringe and the edges of peripheral vision form the horizon, which in this case is the rest of the room behind the player that is known to exist but is only partially being experienced. During my fieldwork, the Sons of Myrkwood met every Tuesday night to play together. When attempting to revisit the memories as performance events, I vividly recall the in-game action but my actualworld surroundings and other events (i.e.: people talking to me in the actual world) are only varue wises. My informants Devin and Scott both attest to this shift in attention, also claiming that they can easily "shift out of the game world." Within the game world the "virtual perspective" is visually framed by a horizon consisting of the borders of the monitor, while a perceptual horizon of three-dimensional depth in the game world functions like a geographical horizon: as an avatar you can only see so far in the three-dimensional virtual environment. In this perspective, the focus and fringe are fluid as they continually change with the actions required by

the players: the an entic perception of a particular movie pure being "mode" rather than taken, playing Warhammor Online appears spirit chassic and overshelming. It surges that as playing Warhammor Online appears spirit chassic and overshelming. It surges that as a distanciencies of generar and appear in the lamb differ that war and the surface, a player has to be assess of optical induity being able to fixes on moving the surface, a player than to be assess of optical induity being able to fixes on moving the surface, a player distance player then, which some players have and surface ables to be most effective. When I am playing my Sorreness in combine, my attention quickly ables from warking the condown timers on my ability har, using beach, back to my attention mountedimer demonse. The office approach on the first, "surface the data," a unercented "add ore" that propriates tactical information on enemy whereabonts, in one such demonst within the extended.

Begger and DaN Auges to the face-fining-barbane structure to perceptions of of Try and as a the bash on basis of the perceptions of the VIT mustice, using the expected of the second of the second of the transferred of the VIT mustice of the VIT must of of the second and phases are structure of the off (whether multiming that) sharing instand to phonomenological of an invitable of the VIT must be the transferred of the transferred phonomenological of an invitable of the transferred or communities (Turner, 1990) implies face to the group participation that is not discussly reflected in Wardsmarch Ordine. The oncept is nonsellinged in the discussion of the instant, then by this of the game world bleck when its how the discussion of the transferred of the instant, then by the of the game world bleck when its how the discussion of the transferred of the instant percendent instant percentage respective and the discussion of the transferred of the instant percendent instant percentage the structure of the transferred of the instant percendent instant percentage the structure of the transferred of the instant percendent of the instant percentage structure of the communities of the transferred of the instant percentage the structure of the transferred of the instant percentage and the structure of the instant percentage structure of the communities of the transferred of the instant percentage the structure of the transferred of the instant percentage and the structure of the instant percentage structure of the instant percentage and the structure of the instant percentage structure of the instant percentage and the structure percendent of the instant percentage structure of the instant percentage and the structure percendent of the instant percentage structure of the instant percentage and the structure percendent of the instant percentage and the structure percendent of the instant percentage and the structure percendent of the instant percendent of the instant percentage and the structure percentag In detecting their interpreties framework of identity, Regen and DA Negon suggest that the flow cauge is stacking interpreties meaning to experimizel photomeses from eximpreting the object is interest of identity of the part of the part of the part interpreting of object is interpreties reasoning of the part of the part of the part of the advectory of the part is interpreting on the part of the pa

When Berger and Del Negro such that self experience can emerge in many different forem, duy are considering perceptions of the off in the and worked (Derger and Del Negro 2004, G.). The emit-"wave and application of the Shankit work of the fortion "latecare" or "manifestation" and in that way is non-analytic and the effect transformation (Delgenak andre Nett Schephensen (1992) and the appendiation has been larged applicable by the commercial game entathen and advance. The term bolis significance for a discussion of visual of in that insigned because the discussion. The significant has been larged and the discussion of visual of in that insigned because the discussion that is gare in some than a solid of the grame. but rather a mainfordim of the ployme have the section. Like the baseled has or body sick has have been often popularly observed to functions as "extensions" of the ploym's body. On Following and more is the hands of a game who has shifted his or her focus or attention to his performance in the game work are similarly extensions of the ploym's reach: extension that the performance of the source is serialized performance of the ploym's reach: extension that the performance of the source is serialized between the source of the source main accession of a total parqualer, the accession of the down's expected in the accession of a total parquest, plot accession of the output expected in set. Reager and De Vergel's discussion of the problematics use of the distingt activity of the adopticitation of manopumber or signed body parts (Hegrer and De Vergel's 2014) set reflection is fundaments of the distingt and the source of the activity of the problematic here singen, extended on the distingt, means are noted output to the problematic here singen, extended on the distingt activity of the source of the activity of the output of the source of the source of the activity of the activity of the source of the source

3.3 Identity as a Fluid, Narrative Construction

Already from a perfiniture discussion of edd perception, the potential for fluid and dynamic identify is a very rul possibility in virtual workh. In the net work of the potential form in flucturistica and cutualitation has shown on the discussion and equations: process (Storey 200), 79) than it is a static state or inherited quality. People and groups can bold multiple identifies, each one contentual and contingent. While the hard-coded programming of Weahumer Cuties only allows for a limited number of vary to repress identify, the game structure cuties beingers over and with breven structure is a structure and an eliminer.

Right from the character creation screen, identity in Warhammer Online is a negotiated process between player and developer. The same offers you a limited series of different "races" to play, and, within those categories, different classes and a restricted number of premade faces. By clicking on the "continue" button at each stage of this process, players express their limited agency in choice but also assume the narrative identity from the Warhammer franchise lore that each race and class represents. As symbols, the avatars are not born into the world tabula rasa but rather come pre-loaded with appearance and narrative identity detailing how a Dark Elf should be arrogant, how an Orc should be humorously witless and how a Goblin should be cowardly. The appearance of an Orc as a green-skinned monstrous brute with a British accent is as much a commercial production of the Warhammer franchise as it is based in popular literary tradition. The Orc is a construction of popular culture, derived largely from the literary works of J.R.R. Tolkien and other fantasy authors. While many literary works reference traditional oral European folklore, they are also products influenced by both penre and individual creativity; the closest analogous creature in traditional European folktale and legend is most likely the Scandinavian troll.

Utility some visual worlds show there is no surplice or gune mechanic. Worksmore Ohilo ismediately open with a namelie unique to your newly minuted avant's nex. This materies continue for songle out chains that your cohelines. By the end gune, when you have resubed level 40, your avant will have samdenmed from a levely fort odder to a reversel have of your factions within the gune materies. Avaids from neig-physes who perform their visual races, or do or not simulate one gune materies. Avaids from neig-physes who perform their visual races, or do or not simulate one gune materies. Avaids from neig-physes who perform their visual races, or do or not simulate one gune materies. Avaids from neig-physes who performs their visual races, or do or not simulate one gune physes one or a cohe shifts from an one one study. exception to this is my informant "R," who did not socially role-play his character but was very porticular about aesthetic and crafted his avatar's appearance for personal meaning. Devin was very specific about the appearance of his character but he utilized both visual appearance and narrative to create his avatar. Devin named his main character "Isildur," a much sought after name of a king from The Lord of the Rings, and spent a considerable amount of in-game currency on equipping specific pieces of gear and colours to make avatar-Isildur look like his fictional counternart as denicted in Peter Jackson's The Lord of the Rings: Fellowship of the Ring (2001) film. By drawing on an external narrative deeply rooted in popular culture, Devin recreated and manifested his own interpretation of the identity of fictional Isildur. His avatar, then, was not only a representation of film director Peter Jackson's Isildur, author J.R.R. Tolkien's Isildur, or a reflection of Devin's own self but combined all of these elements into a multivocal symbolic identity. This construction was deliberate: I was with Devin when he saw the "Knight of the Blazing Sun" class for human avatars, which is essentially the Warhammer conception of a High Fantasy or Romantic medieval knight, and he immediately attempted to get the Isildur name.12

While J.R.J. Tokin's Lord of the Brays has agoubly been significant to popular colmusions in publications in the 1956s and wideopread rise of fandims in the 1956s, the returns of the fitter things and the subsequent actionals accounting by the film industry and movie govers has feasily second that imagined reality within consemporary popular colmure. Defining what is "maintenems" in popular colmunic accounting them defined how to audimovie conserver interorganeering accounting the state of the state of the state of the state of the state compare mails accounty – while or joint accounting when and molecular domaster of the state state of the state state of the state of

¹³ Avatar numes are unique is most MMOs, and, as Learning (2009) also alladed to in his thesis section on narring convertions, well-known popular culture names are quickly taken within doys of the launch of an MMO. In this case, it is likely that the physics who initially had the name delena this character.

Lead of the Regard func, as a group, have them existed at the social frings of oppotne culture and the name "hidden" is relatively obscore enough to not only denote the fitchical lacked how to socialization constant on the standing. Devise "constraints of both the approaches and mating of his neutral has the social impact of enoumnicating group boundary smalling howedges, and not any with maturities band anning concentions on an example of how identify cold not any with maturities band anning concentions on an example of how identify cold not asy with maturities band anning concentions on an example of how identify cold not asy provide on comparisonality langes has part of a dynamic identity. I start with interest the Devis hegus loading a valued, Linked Devis them also the index the task of the theorem of the washnad, considering her was not only new to leading hat new to the MMMD herd and har manswerd. "A dav's lawses: I think is 'how many. It has list i chould be inding and propis loads to nere for what hards."

Do be in our a noise/pace, he happen to field the poll of the power of the identity be had carefa the trister). Holes was highly sought dense may, which much Deriver was to perform this best to "live up to the same." When he raid that poople were looking to him for direction, he was referring out so much to test-based or whole communication the transcommunication and the same of the same. "When he raid that poople were looking to him for direction, he dense of the same is the same of the same of the same of the same of the looking he said on that he is in fact still to projer in a warked that the same of the looking and the same of the looking and the same of the looking and the same of looking the commencion of the same, but also to gettermine is looking of the Rape fact menough the commencion of the same of looking the same of the looking the same of the looking the same of the same looking the same of the same looking the same of the sam

¹⁰ As PUGs, the players in any given open warband changed frequently, due to any range of issue from dimer in the actual world, to readeus actual-world children to beredom or interpersonal conflict.

Like Dowin, say informati "K" also worth open lengths the construction of this awar. He to spear considerable in game gold on "performing" in character, us here it is, for "K," each and a margeneoustic all quells forgéteixes. It is assure were definerted constructions that work together his nons interpretation of "Dark Lengs" with non-Weakmanner (Neury conceptions, visually manifestend in the Wahammer (Andre game work). The first fair is a war true, illumination of the other game works of the other works were assured around a table is a war true, illuminated by the ficketing of turkness. His public, "The Bick Gauda" is a bulk Elevisy by the ficketing of turkness. His public, "The Bick Gauda and articles, by informat was "a booscients spee who care for during the killing High, Elevan and golds". The Wahammer funchise has an expension around 10 Hz; and Gauda fifth, Mick and S. "A tool of viscobility in the Hill'.

R: The look I draw from Warhammer nonrece. Dark hair, pale, because they don't get mach navlight: they live underground. That is how they should look. The book! I have read, [R.A.] Salvatore, completely opposite: Dark Elses have white hair and dark skin. I didn't like that, so skis is the Warhammer look but the backline story, the culture, I learned from non-Warhammer books.

When Devin had created his orate as a symbol that referenced a non-Horkmoner factoral character, "It" extransively employed a synthesis of Kardsamorer and men Mershamorer three syncoses to care at a single dentity or of the line interpretation of Dack Ell" endure. "When I asked "R" whether there was social coefficie herevers players' mile playing their ows interpretations of Dark Eller from effective synchronic synchronic term and the problem. "The Back Causes' however, and a highly ordering dark and new to imperfyre herebyen exh member's conception of Dark Ell'dentity changed over time to become approximativy equivalent to some vapar from of archipper, "R" may not have experiment coefficient or their work theoret, "they "response "the interacter of the glith by a transmost members," the synchronic synchronic with the interacter of the glith to a transmost members, and the synchronic synchronic synchronic synchronic burst and the transmost of the glith to a transmost members are spin and the synchronic synch

more than one occasion similar issues explode into arguments in the larger and temporary structure of the open warband.

3.4 Identity Performance, Social Politics, and Conflict: Playing Your Character "Right"

Firecell: Your role should be healing Heavencalls: Because you say so? Indifference: Friggin smite clerics (test-chat escharge May 15, 2009)

On the morning of May 15, 2009 during my fieldwork, I was with an open warband assaulting enemy keeps when the above argument broke out. It concerned a Warrior Priest, Heavencalls, who got into an argument with Firecell (level 19 Bright Wizard) and Indifference (level 18 Shadow Warrior) about his character desire. Heavencalls made a joke about the irony that he is a Warrior Priest who cannot heal, which prompted retorts from some of the warband members and quickly escalated to Heavencalls leaving the warband. The Warrior Priest class depicts a kind of martial monk who can both heal team members and deal divine damage to enemy players. The class processents a middle space on the spectrum between the class "archetypes"14 of healer and DPS (damage per second: damage output-focused avatars). Since the Warrior Priest can both heal and project damage, a player not focusing on developing only one of the two paths generally creates a balanced character that specializes in neither. In Warhowner Online there are more damage-dealing classes than healing, and they tend to be more popular so that any healer archetypes are often socially expected to be specialized as such. Heavencalls was a "smite cleric," that is, a Warrior Priest who was either balanced or specialized in damage-dealing. Later that same day I witnessed an almost identical situation involving

¹⁴Warhammer Online used the term "auchetype" to refer to main purpose of a character class: the sorcerer class, for example, was defined as the "Ranged Damage per Second" (RDPS) auchetype. The term is also familiar to foldories as referencing recurring foldaule character patterns.

andher "much cefter" (Additte), kerel 16 Warter Perior who had compliated abou a lake of healing during combat and was subsequently commend by the majority of the warhand for "binding" and hexeuse alimetif was playing a cells andicegole to be hadres. The scaraphe of the "mathe clerk" and the social tension it invisibly caused in open warhands speaks to the underlying approximation between identity as a conforming to social appearations the swatter as an expression of and/visibate currity and mite playing.

Booted expectation of playing user starts in the "torum" way is harply hourd on stochtactical model of the proop that requires members to maximize particular abilities of their starts as also for seccess. The starts abilities of the maximum starts are straight and the start harped and the store open for defauet, which was usually conduced on of the game on forms and YouTahe, but wave open for defauet, which was usually conduced on of the game on forms and YouTahe, but wave open for defauet, which was usually conduced on the game on forms and YouTahe, but wave open for defauet, which was usually conduced with some players on the finance of the start of the rest or as a millary game to been than a scatial simular which with some players on the forms game of the to the start of the start of the start of the start of the rest or as to work on the mathematical formality hyperemetry and with the start of the rest of the to be the start of the start of the start of the start of the start start of the start start of the start start of the start of

¹⁰ The term "build," in reference to a particular set of skills or abilities developed by an avatar, is not specific to Warhawwor Okitore bat certainly highlights the association with the conception of "construction" in designing and playing an avatar.

developers, who code your class's archetype; the "correct" build and exactly how to perform that role, however, is largely socially-determined.

I ence therity not an II' who were solves. So was an only object in the Daugenou & Drogons sense, and her background aurentive dictated that the did not like forware. In Wandowsner Ohline, Concerne is a standard price of gar but can provide your avait with better amour and enhanced abilities. In terms of maximum efficiency, this shadened IF was deliberately bolding lessel back from her full postnul and it was not long before she was outsized from the wahrood wave in and the argument spilled on the forware. Similarly, stores "Ta" on it will whole commented that.

I relaying to action, not work. That is, when playing any High EJC tool result? The instance while $\gamma = 0$ is a dust it. So, the playing any High EJC tool result $\gamma = 0$ is a structure of $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is a structure to $\gamma = 0$. The structure to $\gamma = 0$ is structure to $\gamma = 0$. The

It was to address simations such as these that the dedicated role-play server Phoenic Throne was designed, yet it is also there that this event occurred. Since identity is partially expressed through performance of avatars, social tension between play styles of maximum efficiency and role-playing are directly tidal tensions removaling expression of identity.

It is through such social coeffict that the nature of visual identity begins to emerge. While excludes have demonstrated that identity in a dynamic, contingent, situational and relational process in the actual world, visual identity represents an analitectation of these qualities in somehing partially tangible – the avant. The medium of the internet and them of the visual world justice, the order of the visual social s dimension and perspectives from which us out only view her appreciate identity. At it is problematic to assume to separate theory from methodology. These attempted to reveal forwards distangeable attempt to advecting is non-methodology. These attempted to reveal forwards relatives and theory of identity, is non-method method and expected at illustrationary of holics. Perhaps viewing viewing when an autoritate mediated contexts requires not so much a "deality" as its two of materios data or contexts housed apprecish. Acknowledging that "deality" as a stress of materios data to account so third to grave and an abuser with discussion of a perhaps needs as aroung/paring as only of experience hot of theory to accurately important advectory."

Chapter 4: Dynamic Death and Transformative Commodities

As touched on earlier, beetfored relevoir to adoption of humanity whe the least of the virtual humans, that as beings influenced by boh anters and editors, humans have always could an annight work (Mechander 2006, 5). Binartiel downlow the adoption on that "virtual works" have likely existed as long a humans have, and are rearry expressed differently though differing media (Ritaretta 2006, 5); tem Flavi- virtual weights of the care shaling a setting the linear similary at a different world or mediators. DER Ke folders: Nitraretta proceedings Mediade Earch, virtually has historically (and likely pre historically) maintained a significant social arise humans accient, buch Haran and Tokien worked from, and were subsequently real and charachy to - tradition of Weeren delorgy and worksion.

The mathemptoping Eduards Viewing of Carlo Tool among the Araved proof in the Anama saih in elemetry blocksche dan eine of oldand and atheping in their convolution (Viewing de Carno 1992). Lightlight his work with the Araved as an Hinaration of the excitance and interpretation of viewality in a naw. Western column Cortext, Araveding to the Aravet2 isomeningCarly lightlight his work with the Aravet and profile the Aravet2 isomeningCarly lightlight has work work (1992, 2012, 2014). The Aravet2 isomeningCarly lightlight has a set of the Aravet and profile and they become the Other through data and metaphysical cambridge. The Aravet approxitation is a set of the Aravet approximation of the Aravet approximation (1994). Viewing de Carno describes a datamatic transformation involving the altering of Name isomed of Calman, which al Heaga are said to share in the roteor that physical metaphologies in neutrino and anticomplex de Carno 1990. Whose invidenting the Aravet physical isometaphologies and and a set on the other ther physical metaphologies in neutrino and the Aravet physical and the Aravet physical metaphologies in neutrino and the Aravet physical and the Aravet physical metaphologies in neutrino and the Aravet physical and the Arave Araweté beliefs, I find their cosmological implications for identity transformation an intriguing non-Western perspective with which to view virtual sociality in Warhausser Online.

When communing with gods and the dead. Araweté shamans use tobacco and the araw rattle as magical tools to essentially open the door to the Other world (Viveiros de Castro 1992. 210) While alcohol and drug use is not uncommon amonest some Warhammer Online players. human-computer hardware interfaces and avatars act both as tools with which to access the virtual world and as different levels of mediation within it. Where some Amazonian shamans employ material objects to actually (instead of symbolically) transform themselves (Viveiros de Castro 1998, 482), the avatar becomes a mask for the player in an abstract sense. Following Berger and Del Nerro's account of the constant shifting of focus and phenomenological embodiment in self-perception (Berger and Del Negro 2004), the player-avatar relationship can he consulty and much like concentions of neutroders identity situationally continent (Bauman 1972). What I mean by this is that sometimes my informants regarded their avaitars as more tools and other times they saw and experienced the world "through" them, and occasionally someone would use the pronoun "I" instead of "he" or it." This suggests that identification with avatars is contextual and constantly in motion. I use "mask" here as one of the many different meanings contained in and symbolized by the syster within this flow of shifting identity. As a "manical" tool and a device of meditation, the avatar is the embodiment through which players access and experience the virtual world and, as such, the avatar also functions as a mask,

Goffman's metaphorical theatrical actors maintained agency with what props they would use and how they would represent themselves on stage (Goffman 1959, 253). I argued in the last chapter for analyzing sociality within Warhawmer Online as its own cultural context and here I

am not so much interested in the motivations and actual world choices of the actors (players) themselves, but of the social choices of their chosen representations - the avatars as masks that they design and play (as). The mask in a general sense is an extraordinary symbol of multivocality that can contain many meanings operating at different levels and within different contexts. Grimes argued that in Early Modern Europe some kinds of masks functioned to symbolically supropriate the power or essence of what they were designed to represent (Grinnes 1975 509). It must be remembered that avatars. like the identities they express, are constructed: visually an avatar is composed of "race," class, skin tone, haircut and colour, name and gear ranging from armour colour to decorative trophies. The avatar bildur was a complex construction that wove together extra-world elements from rival literary sources and was designed to look the part - or at least Devin's interpretation of the literary-film adaptation of Tolkien's Isildur. As a mask, my main avatar Morizaendlyn was both a disguise as well as a representation: I designed the name to reference an obscure J.R.R. Tolkien work in which the "Morieuendi" (meaning "Dark EIF") were one of the early branches of Elves. The meaning was realized through the physical construction of the avatar, since I created Movieneedbon within the Warhammer race of Dark Elves.16

"Putting on the much," of the avatar transports the player into the vistual world, wherein be or she "becomes," the Other, By nature of its visuality, dontity in Wahammer Ohline is antilogeness at best. There are, however, spopsitional structures that define and order the world at particular times and within particular spaces. The avatar as made, grants the player access to this source on this structs, who summary the avatar as made, grants the player access to this source of this structs, who summary the avatar and the player access to this source of this structs, the summary target player.

¹⁰As an aside, on a role-playing server 1 had initially expected more players to get the naming reference but I only ever met two other people who approached me to say they recognized it. One of the players, however, was very estimation and the had a character with the manner liad originally tired to set: "Merioaredi,"

Anomstocity and cosmology tokink cannot be aparately as "input of centres and levels of cosmar" (1995, 46). Wardsmoore Dubte is a world of batarias that define each senar's place in toops: Some of these are alubricities, such as the factional Dubte Dubterline Dubter Dubterline is the depleced sector and an experiment relational Dubter Dubterline Dubter Dubterline relation is global in same, defining the "age grapp of places in a power relationship with the game developers, and shift the boders of alits cospecting and an experiment retational grapps in the relational dy through being communes as well as disturting foreblac who developers. The factional dy through being communes of Dubtersties intensed places retational agency in the relational dy through being communes of Dubtersties intensed by developers. The factional dy through search as "an ensume", a Jupper could create different anistant of the other places and through a dynamic and theory of the complete motion draw of different servers: factions was informed to a restar constructions and was immostific to channes.

This did not stop players from communicating across energy lines; Lynds still are or story of her approxima in the similar MMMBRF Model of Morray (is which many players experience, and usering unspective and the size only players insight output without violati atteat from being modered. This was only attack, between, and in my experience, expecially with large promy, unseparate measures with emergy players toused us on al shath. In one such expecience on Oxfords 1rd 2009, I was part of a large valuated take encours layers where a measure same filter groups may of encours (More, The Oater Jahoper, did not ty to engage us, his interand jamped around in circles in a kind of dates. My group tricity backets, but them manacered dates. This is better and the site of source. My which have it the models were, where site error marking. "The 'net or where a work of how the "the site or marking." The 'net or where the other of the the output have the site one strength of the site of the site. The output have the site one strength ones. "The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones." The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site ones at models. The output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site of the output have the site one strength ones. The interaction of the site of the site of the site of the output have the site of the site of the output have the site of the site of the output have the output have the site of the output have the output have the site of the output have the output have the output have t



Figure 4.1 Post-massacre warband chat (screenshot by author)

Instructingly, Brahamov Online decis on a tauling here are notes for "Islamic" which is a common command in more there. Motion Directly for a world arisinte arteriari into a brief decision. This has long here an point of constraints between players and decistopers, who seem to suggest that the leven and amoughene of Werkmannev i not candicrive tautime. This royola is a constrainty abbancement of the observation of the MOMORY on an interactively field by possible provide the decisionary shows many here of the observation of the MOMORY on an interactive player methodics, either Prof et Prict (Leming 2004; 12). While my information Decis, Son, "A," and Andrew all became players became they have the decisionary above model the well down example. The many Pri Harding and the decision of the here decision exclude the system example. The decision of the system decision exclude the well are rescaled in the information of the here decision exclude the system example. The decision of the system decision exclude the system example. The decision of the system decision exclude the system example. The decision of the decision exclude the system ex

influences vernacular socialization into that mindset, or, virtual-worldview. Through these binary oppositions, players as avatars are situated within differing levels of context and contrast, which are external factors that contribute to identity production.

Figures can be concessualized, socialized and identified through the avatar as a mark, but embodiment of the avatar is the transformation that makes the prevent "complete"; awatars are disquest through the explore depending-the avatars are professments. "Avatar: ergonologically argeness drives monitorials, akin to are uroup self of pixels that is assimated by as external force: like the Avaved Heider of multitude physical morphology asseming from a mybrids line of the avatars are displayed by exploring times and the second force is animated by a physer. This transformation, or new accountry, putpersis, reveals a structure within virtual embodiance of Natara Chan-Supernaria.

Birshamover children is clearly whole a product of technology and cohurce as a cohurch product, the game world is informerly cooled (buth Intentity and symbolicatity) with Weetern at the second of fables, the second symbol and the second symbol Calture (as expende to Nature) as a product of human ingensity. MMO visual worlds can be constanted as a studence-children product. As argued above, these products have also developed to the second childred calculated on the site of the studence of the second technology of the studence interfaces and the system. As Banninger Ias metels, technology on the predictly "simulation" into file, sciencity, all shang it along the conceptual technology on the predictly "simulation" into file, sciencity, all shang it along the conceptual technology on the predictly "simulation" into file, sciencity, all shang it along the conceptual technology on the predictly "simulation" in file, sciencity, all shang it along the conceptual technology on the predictly "simulation" in the science, science of the state of the science of the s

'nature' and physicality refer to the handsolded elements of the world like graphics and general avoint appearance. When a physer's perceptial focus shifts into the world and the avoar is embodied as masked setf, the physer's performance animates the 'natural' physical boby of the avoint and creates a synthesis between physer and condit. This synthesized manifestation melds the visual's -molitosis and such are screate the Supermarine, on the Other.

While the shamans of some Amazonian groups can transform themselves into supernatural beings or animals, it is through death that the Araweté transform into the Other. According to Viveiros de Castro, death is what structures Araweté society and also the event that ruts society into movement (1992, 15). Death for that cultural group is what spiritually transforms the body into a supernatural form: a god, an "enemy," the "Other" - all ambiguously bound together - but nevertheless a continuity of being that enables relations between Heaven and Earth (Viveirus de Castro 1992-255). Death in Worknammer Online does not carry with it the same spiritual quality, but it plays a central role in structuring society. As an example of a PyPcentric MMORPG paradiem. Workammer Online differs from other virtual worlds like Second Life where there is no combat, not only is the same hardcoded to encourage playarfayates death but it is a concern internalized by players. As an Ore named Karazhana Lonce played with in a worband observed, "dving is a big part of this game," While "wining" (having your errors completely killed) often resulted in social conflict over leadership or lack of tactical healing. players recognize that in any combat one side is bound to die. And one side hay to die in order to create social and tactical movement in the world: as noted earlier, Warhommer Online is divided into renorraphical regions and in each region there are strategic structures that can be contured hyperplayers for experience points and rewards (and to deny the same to the enemy faction). There are

so developes sources with whips institute glasges flagt and kill end-thet.¹⁵ We there is always at last one large-scale balle every day in one of the regions. Resemblering that MADBUFG or guess with so definite and, only an 'endquirm' effect frequing when you how stituted the highest tests that sources glasging the social denotes, the started transforming of testings between the factions in shat dations the worked, its maching for *Werkowsen Oblas*, the denotes the development company. Myblics, such that places "We is nextypolars," is describe the worket. Individual gravestant net-orderpotent and societad durage both rely upon this next ending process of sec.



Figure 4.2 - Respiren window (screenshot by author)

[&]quot;This is technically only partially true, because there are some NPC commanders who berate the player with scritted dialocse in an attenut to motivate them to fight.

Combat is a social performance: during warfare players perform their identity through martial prowess or through socialization during the liminal inter-combat periods, such as waiting for keep doors to close. Warfare is both tactical and social, and the basis for community in Worksmaner Online Movement in worfare is driven by killing, death and resurrection: braling classes have the ability to "rez" fallen players in the same area, restoring them to life. When you die, you as the player are senarated from your avatar, who is depicted dead on the ground, and you can no longer interact but continue to watch the action unfold around your cornse until you either "reseases" and reunite with your avatar back at a warcamp or are on the receiving end of a resurrection spell from a friendly healer. Alone with tanks and casters, healers are a critical commonent of any tactical group and responsible for keeping the group alive in combot. When a group "wipes," however, the healers are overrun and killed by enemies. Healing is a sociotactical observations in determining who sets healed, how much and when, but a temporary one that either supports the goal of eventual destruction of the enemy or fails and signals your own destruction: either way, ending in death. Death temperarily separates the player from the second local of multiplies of the oceaner, but the planer remains martially in the virtual world through the first lawsr of mediation by interfacing with computer handware.

Datability in Asserted cosmology is a multi-informistical presens beyood singly transforming by consing the hardner of fieldwath: the death complex is intervised with metaphysical cosmolishium that underlines the death complex is intervised with metaphysical cosmolism that underlines the death complex is intervised as the framework in the death complex is the death of the death of the death complex death of the densing the chardler (192, 193). Cosmolism is an econymet of its Hirdwanew Fore,

referencing the races of Orcs and Goblins that are said to feast on the flesh of the allied Humans, Dwarves and Elves. While the franchise lore does not go any deeper than that, I observed players in workands often role-playing their Orc and Goblins in that fashion - passionately stating that we needed to "crush" the enemy and "cat" them. When I interviewed Devin, he was familiar with this performance and said that it spoke to the nature of imagined warfare in the game world and the "totality" or finality that eating an enemy signified. In a metaphysical or virtual sense, the link between "connibalism" and consumption in MMORPGs is worth exploring. As subscribers ("consumers"), players consume the game both as commercial product and in a social sense as they play through it as avatars. RPGs are generally constructed around the concept of linear movement: the player-avatar developing and advancing through power as delineated by levels and experience points. In Warhammer Online, gaining experience points is mostly done through combat and killing. Deceased enemies, both NPCs and players, offer "drops," or gold and items that the victorious player-avatar can loot off the body, which then disappears. In this way, players 'consume' enemies by killing to loot their bodies. The consumption of enemies through death is what gains the player/avatar experience points, thus how they advance in the world. While personal death is a temporary hindrance for players, the orneral process of killing-death-looting creates a complex of consumption that fundamentally structures the world.

4.1 Virtual Geographies: War and Memory

The world itself is dynamic, responding to the social processes of the player-consumer. The visual world and everything you can interact with inside of it is a representation; in the ephemeral 'third-space' of the interact the white snows, deep green pine trees and arid blockshil densets of the world of Wardsmanner chains can be material in them dimensional clouds and deph, bue brought out inso the actual world, like world on a page, the "world" appears as a million of lines of appears of pages that the strain clouds and the strains between player and avaar. The senderic dense and appears of the world wards were there and a strain. The senderic dense and appears of the world are written by Mykic developers, who also continue to minimize providing technical import, extraining over content world to its and fining technical "bary" insues that theremute world's saidbigs. The process of consumption that appears magnet in takes place which the construction of the "world" the force of the world of the Mykic condo bar or inhubited and induced with meaning by players. As actual world activities and communities minimal meaning to the queues in these sums of them, appearsh has barbaced by the minimation the second with consequence of prove.

As their papel, and othen here argued, place does not encoursely have to refer to studie world strain (Hkeingold 2006; Buellinet? 2008; Lenning 2009) and, according to Lenning, and a strain and the strain and an angeother argues in 10000000; As the initiate to the distribution due vision (Lenning 2000; 100; Waller Japer that is the channel of communication that have indee basis for group and community through any moder enclosure, the enclose order of enclose the strain for group and community through any moder encloses. The strain sharing according the strain and ange the communication and meaning, thereby also sharing to according the strain and angeother and a strain and with any sharing have the strain and angeother and angeother. The strain and and the strain sharing have the adjustest of strain of strain and strain while the sharing have the fulfiltance communication between places, but the strain are strainsmed with the fulfiltance communication between places. The strain and a visual while the strain and and and an adjustest of strain distribution of the strain distribution of the strain strain and and the strain distribution between places, but the strain distribution of the strain distribution and adjustest of strain distribution of the strain distrain distribution of the strain dist

their prolectomes, cannot be reduced on disfague between paries that disruptant molit. Becalited reprints on the seeming Western implicits on simulating an presentation for knowledge and agency, paing on to suggest that shins and place are listed strong the source of "induceges" (built-heart 2004, 52). Listed second *f* of where some of BodilleetT's information and lastence with a strong and the same in a similar family the source of the similar second strong and the same in a similar family the source of a similar to the same strong the same shares and the similar family the source of the meaning to practical groupselic points on the map, efficing results and experime points for the capture or defause of structures. The formers, Stecking is developed of stratecided in conductorism as mainted in the structure and program by in constitution under elements on the formers. The structure construmt, through both meaning to practical as the structure field formers. Stecking is developed of stratecided in constitution of the apprehenses for the previous the same to shource develowers.



Figure 4.3 - Approaching an Dwen fortness (screenshot by author)

Through content undates from the developers that redesign the landscape and from the impact of continued and intense social activity, geography in the game world is both dynamic and competitions beyond merely functional. Each "tier" is divided into six 'zones,' two each for each of the 'rocial nairings' (which in the lone nit Empire against Chaos, Elves against Dark Elves and Dwarves against Greenskins) and levelling your avatar to move between tiers is a time consuming business. Players repeatedly experience and re-experience the same geography on a daily basis: in the strategic dance of warfare, opposing warbands would often chase each other around the globe, flying between zones quickly to elude the other and take the advantage to capture a structure, which could last for hours. Some days I captured the same fortresses in the same region multiple times, but with different warbands of different players and being opposed he differing concounts. When you have been playing for months, you get to know the zones yory well the shortcuts, obstacles, safe places and ambush points. When laving sizer to a fortress the chat window acts as the main communicative artery of the warband, but only insofar as it operates in conjunction with player actions in three-dimensional space. Cultural knowledge of the land allows plasses to perform effectively in social situations, such as knowing where to stand in the Lord's Room in a fortness so that the lord NPC does not remain health or finding the best spot to create a tactical chokepoint.

All of this can change, however, with a single content path relaxed by the developers. I re-activated ny account with Mythic in April 2010 ther almost two months of inactivity, only to find that the world was not the same as when I left. Aside from the shock that my own servere, Phoneix Throne, had been shat down (librard) wiping out the landscape I as an systar had traveneych, the devicement had show motifiers versional due Tar I arones. Upon moving my

avate to one of the few survess left to context with informatic, Humedushy for like I did upon my initial foreign into the world, I did net know the shortcass or social conventions that ware board up with this one found land I had asteabile I. The artifier method with the IF I all I tensmittened had been remodelled by the developers in response to players while Mythic listance to players' kiess and issues on the official forums, MMO players also vare with their fort and the decising number of commany sparsed the development company to resump the inducators: more in the structure players.



Figure 4.4 - Battle between two opposing warbands (screenshot by author)

Social activity (and lack of it) is a kind of player agency in a sometimes oppositional, sometimes complementary relationship with the developers that keeps the virtual landscape changing, but despite its dynamism, and through its interface with the consumption complex, the Lloaned in an une Dark FII Suprement Mariaum/Ban and was riding with a warhand in the Tier 2 Empire-Chaos zone "Troll Country." We had just arrived in the nick of time to repulse on enemy assault on the fortness of Mandred's Hold. We routed the Order forces of Humans, portly Dwarves and High Elves and defenders became hunters as we pursued them into the marky darkness of the surrounding forest. We had two warbands with about thirty people against their larger numbers of at least forty. I skirnished with enemies players as we fought in confused battles through the dark woods of Troll Country. Then a Goblin named Fisergit (known offectionately as "Fix"), rallied as together and, despite not being official leader of either warband, and outlined a plan to ambush Order when they formed up. We followed kim down into Crypt of Weapons, which is one of the Battlefield Objectives that can be captured. The Crypt consisted of a series of dank, poorly lit underground stone hallways that branched off to the left and right, eventually leading to a large open room where the "flag" to capture the site was placed. The 'left' branch of the tunnel was a dead-end, making it irrelevant for capturing the BO: knowing this, warbands never bothering going down the left branch of hallwares and instead stuck to the right side. Planning on our enemies doing exactly this, Fixergit had us hide (all thirty, which was feat) around the corner to the left in an alcove and remain perfectly still and silent.

Open workska, an spickup groups of constraining managers, are normsing for an following orders for long, expectivity if placers see on raws bits, on the form we hild an all was mobiles ghort of a standards. Other areas well on Corpet discretable for statistic in a real and a step by one positions in the right n= 0 or of the Digg. To do this, they had in dight at DC guades, which is mound on an an ensure of the statistic in a statistic in a statistic in the statistic in a statistic grant of the advectory of the Digg. To do this, they had in dight at DC guades, which is mound on an advectory place complete a strong or the advectory of parts. For advectory grant the word and are parameter downed in correst and fig from the a wave of duade, togeting them in an enclosed quest, complete which them.

Ablough the particular group quickly agreement into a hourd argument between Frangi and an Elbers Stenester samed Belsens over poper for help sing and Frangi's transitionsy bett or of characters and can swatch, this caperineschglinght met our of challen kloweldge of the landscape in youry, not directly insteaded or anticipated by the development the transmission of this hourships through performative models and the impetiming of landscape with experiminal methods in a posteriality similar areas of experiment performance of the second structure of

4.2 Commodity, Consumption, and Postmodern Tourism

Players are consumers: by the retail purchase of the actual world DVDs containing the client and a arrial number, people becomes subscribers and through the death communition process in the world become players evatars. Retail communition of Warhammer Online, initially buying the serial moment and then becomes an anothy whose/here financially enables

decidences numinism the screens that how the visual world and address wornsmulte control to engand 31. Like adventising for other emparer games, Mythe's marketing ubinativity involves manipungs used hybrical constraintially originary for differensioner Other man in more subscribens. Because the game of MMDs is interesting working the distribution of the transmultation of the covariatization and enumerability in the common level sequences in somethymerability. A depress nature are a cosmololity to the common levels experiment as somethymerability and the other that distribution and the somethymerability of the distribution of the MMDs industry, Mytheir visis for portation absolute the development, but mathemplane of the MMD industry, Mytheir visis for portation absolutes against endors within worldes the offering a cosmonalished subscriber are coloured professor, which are World of Warragh by Bilizzard Enternismont and Alaro by Nichel, Alar yame calture: "Refield of Warragh by Bilizzard Enternismont and Alaro by Nichel, Alar yame calture: "Refield of Warragh by Bilizzard Enternismont and Alaro by Nichel, Alar yame calture: "Refield with the commonlifet and mathematical as a factors within two these.

While Hochanners Chiller is a commulativ partic, contrained within the visual world in a functioning economy that operates on the trading. Idling and lociting of its game communities, such as ensays PR-C conjugers and the communities of the very gamped by helf. When takes taylers, these cosmolicies speases the "trading" environment of the visual space and while each hem constitually "re-speases" (respects are mainly lower at on the resemble commonification of social experiences, such are ideal or demonspring of nature. Through the commonification of social experiences, such are ideal or advances of the processing and the advances of the expectations, taken is also commandly subscribers "typicg law" for game calture. In the existing hyperterm of the processing of the trading of the environment of the beautive "trading law" (Channinger 1990) into a communable witherease by the environment of the beautive "trading laws" (Bouninger 1990) into a communable witherease by the environment of the beautive "trading laws" (Bouninger 1990) into a communable witherease by the environment of the beautive trading laws and the preservation and out channes that the trading laws and the trading laws and the preservation and out channes that the trading laws are calture in the detection frame "trading" of the spectra events of the out channes of the environment and the preservation and out channess are appressive to the out channess of the environment and the preservation and out channess are appressive to the out channess of the environment and the preservation and out channess are appressive to the out channess are appressive to the out channess and and an appressive the trading laws are appressive to the out channess are appressive to the out channess and the outperservation that detections framework and outperson and outperson and outperson and the outperson and th

realization and animation of the manifolds fabricated environment which, This process of synthesis and hybridization transforms the subscriber invariant and enables the commention and performance of the alsointy. An other means, "the laborithmic genetic invariant in to take their prepresentations as adopted reproductions of enably and to transform correleves in accordance with their images by perkasing their cosmologies (Park) [10]. This thermaticage of et not as a reproduction of enably, but existing performance on the matching of et not as a reproduction of enable, but a reinstrupentation of its that premises to "solarge their understanding of human possibilities" by sumformation through play – since trustrian is a form of they (File 2004, bit).

Without Washamor chains an examination commolity, then would be no community or ealiser. The "gene chains" and social experisons that the developments with its commolity, and with an advance coding of the work locit, is a second of the interaction between the early one of the second products. Tourism the theory helps accords the nest or chain commons and appeals column. Tourism theory helps accords the nest orderation common distribution of the meaning without excellent the early of the early of the early of the early helps accords the nest orderation of the early of the early of the early helps accords the nest orderation of the early of the earl

-94

ploping trends hown yer day, he only when it worked with its assued work a double and doployments with the Canadian Forces Meetine's comment. Doris and Lyadar ne the interference of the start of the start regular "with" is the visual workt. Which informant' actual workd lyros and accomptions me largely subside the scope of the scopes. If left that the one of the reads are started assumes and the scope of the scopes of the scopes of hypers as similarian scored to be to shared between "weekned works" and Addee the media scoredination. Performing Joping a first with an includes the 'Ter' Term' and allow dist "water", the scoreding transformation of the large communities and allows dist "water", the scoreding transformation of the power medial level (Ter many regular highlights of the work), the scoreding transformation power are find to every life.

Bolena quees MacCuanti (1997), madmini interpretation of workin in single that is in essentially a queet for subsericity checken (Molina 2001, 335, This highly significant for visual works checkales and achieve academic (Molene on the visiol) of ends in constraints (Molene academic (Molene academic (Molene)), (Houre 1997), Donath 1998, Light 1999, Rheingal 2020) that alimitarily tent workh might initially be rain a modernic gio of heing platform of fabricant initial benchmarks, dissipated for tuning matteriating, but then pedage must end, at "vested" (Vesterma "construction" and "secondaria" composer on the authenticity and Minorchity of Maya Monty "construction" and "secondaria" composer on the authenticity and Minorchity of Maya Monty (2003, 355) provides an impiguing themesial model that might be refracted or molfied to anomas visual and attractive. Following a composer secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary in an anomas visual and attractive. Reformed as compositive secondary. Tanc Marken Marken Marken Marken and the secondaria of the secondary in the secondary in a and attractive and an and the secondary in the secondary in a marken marken and the secondary in the secondary in the secondary in an and the secondary in the secondary in the secondary in the secondary in an and the secondary in an and the secondary in the

Weaksneer Oddrie is mergen in helt, is, dong with the workf, del out exity prore 32000. Windmanner Oddrie enhanse is a meent postmolene ensumeriche dur ensumeriche optimise elements of de tableour enhanses was gant aufsauge with ployer representation of external and individual excess and exterity, as described in the communication of the aware bibler in the langers. The player exchant elements, however, are not enrice constructions which protoches and performed by players channel ensumes, and and the same bible in the bible ensurements. The transcalar "gante enhant" of Washimmer Oddies and driven and performed by players draws from agnoralized "MADORF on other" data exists in experimental works by mignificing players and galich, the calamar and society of any firsts MADORFO is a lange partly inflamed by in construptioned with a some of the work from experiment to the same of the same data was and a society of any given with the table of the same of the same data was and a society of any playing the table same play in construptions in the same of the same flow the applying them to Washamare Othicine, the same was the bibit termed abart visual economies in the Washamare Othicine, the same was the bibit.

R: Yeak, that is one hundred percent. You learn stuff max, I never suz good with ancient houses. I know how to make money non. A little bit of husiness I learned through the game (World of Warreft), holesca it or not, yoak. J usas classics, None yoil y sums to I can go in oncivin house and I can make cash, if I want, if I have size. Staff like that, it only occurs when you play a britle bit. You cound into come holes into the maxe and hour that staff.

Each "game enhum" that develops in particular workh is its ress onlined control but thems similarities with sheet MMOs that are transmitted by plepers in one work and articular to another. Reputation that are control on two works and note but most one thems there are the one of hydrowork and alterial stated in *Dark Age of Carolice and moved to Wardsmoore Online* in 2008, staying surfil the work begins to decline and migrated agains takins in the field of 2000. The guild name, which is a reference to J.R.R. Toklen's Madle Earth, stepid the same with the same core groups a ship of the signers to decline and migrated agains that the stepid ress may with the source of the signers that and stephology and place the signer partners of MMORFO players. reveal flows of knowledge and tradition between worlds that help create particular and different cultures wherever they are carried, suggesting MMO experience is, in orneral sense, a continuous construction drawing on any number of sources. That said, online social relations can also be historically arounded: like Medina's "essentialist" camp that sees a continuity of tradition through time, sociality in virtual worlds is largely made up of North American and European players and frequently references Western culture.18 In game studies, as emergent tradition MMORPGs are grounded in historical contexts of rules and gameplay: Danasons & Drazons as well as the Warhammer tableton war game both predate and influence the MMO version. suggesting the MMOs are not entirely new and closely tind to the actual world. The use of new internet and commuter technology to create mediated social places forms a particular media ecology (Destance 1095) that may create new forms of social channels, but while Worksmunor Online is not a reflection of actual world society players brine with them a traditional competence with the formulaic building blocks of social structure (McDowell 1999). As Boellstorff observed, "actual world sociality cannot explain virtual world sociality" (2008, 63). and mathems there winted models exist (and flowsich) commuters in between with Elfe's argument of a conflation of modernist and postmodernist heine the most effective construction of identity (2004, 149).

As a weaving of modern and postmodern ideas with suftware code, *Warhaumur Online* culture may have what Cohen calls⁵⁵ vemergent athernetics¹⁶ (Cohen 1988). As structures and traditions devised for tourism that are inhund with meaning and appropriated by the local culture, the three dimensional environment, complete with NPCs, their cohen tartext

¹¹An exception to this is the Korean MMO industry, which produces Korean-made virtual worlds exclusive to East Asian players. See: Jin, Dal Yong and Florence Chee (2008).

subscribes becomes "nutrational" by pages enhants into a noninalityfic etionetral place. This quality of energynet authenticity is malared in the commodified social resperione fromgin transformation and synthesis of plages-nersons as susmething both thalvastati and cortend (Visciens de Causo 1992, 22), both adjusticity humanica and experiment humanica business and the second synthesis and the second synthesis and the second synthesis indexasts in a busis of simulation of the second synthesis and promoterimica businessis as it views any information "and and the simulation of the promoterimica businessis as it views any information" and a fibral and experimental promoterimica businessis as it views any information and the bioty of near the second synthesis and the second strength and the simulation of the second strength and and staff (1998, 1980). Existential authenticity is no important concept for viewing visual workshi that are on quale "real" widdhower constructions and only accessed using excellant batherships and staff (1998, 1998). Existential authenticity is an important concept for viewing visualita workshi that are on quale "real" diabatest constructions and only accessed using excellant batherships and staff (1998, 1998). Existential authenticity is an important concept for visual simulationary and social interaction and plageses only have a systel of experiments thread have and to see consecutive traines in the searce are the of the third of the trainest sectors.

In time with theory and DAI Nopy's discussion of phenomenology that Lapplica to the visual set of as the last chapter, you experiment visually through a status herizen your stream and disc of the visual hood of your areaux. Though disclosurely to acquire discretion of a particular for authenticity Wang resortances and the quest streamer for inturies experiments. As includents the gain as suesching for a "toru" or mathemic stream (1999). Stol, 3.1 is unrung to consider search streamers, their a "monorize" experiment of administrative conternet on much one a different or easily location as on a different experiment of with The analysis of the streamers. The thirt proceedings are particular division. A Lipsky and the streamers and the streamers are streamer or durit. The streamers are streamers in their processor generalist and visions. A Lipsky

Isomol from up informants, encryone pipes Worknews Orbite for different resoure: Lapolis very clear that whe loging a game and adoing to for "from and prescriptions". Biel Japols, "be", "bowin and Socie and where the worklaw as a game finel, but ado one pipes for their wan presental interest. What games lake World of Wincerph bounding damon brefere million subscribers, each one couning from their work workla worklaw most trad central refere tradies where bye dawing in counteless exhamal sources, I suspect that a typology of swarnsching player montrainous workle byoo both one scenter of the chain of an adoing the presents where the workle for hearing tradies and the scente of the scente adoing the players with the workle for hearing tradies and the scente of the player and where theory of douvripping and have scente of the players and when workle for hearing tradies and the scente of the players and when workle for hearing tradies and the players and there are persone players have of emeting the workle in the for adoin addies the player are persone players have of emeting the workle in reds. w Wang park is the financia feeling that charactriber estabulance for the schedure (1995) and the are persone players have of emeting the workle in reds. We Mag park is the financia feeling that charactriber estabulance theory in the schedure (1995) and the are persone players have of emeting the workle in reds. Work parks, the financia feeling that charactriber estabulance theory (1995) and theory in the presence players players the reds.
Chapter 5: Virtual Ostension and the Folklore of Cheating

The nonmarkina and performance of avairs, combined with the transformative synthesis of opera and visual solution, terms may be about the process that the development compary solution commodify. One marketing succession is advanced to a son-model with the series of the synthesis and busing procession is advanced with the submode of those mained are wirtual work of a different series of the synthesis and busing procession is advanced with the submode of those mained are dispersive of the synopsic metrics and approach to flags procession samelar or disputs solution (different for program committies of the synopsic theory for the synopsic metrics) and approach the spin procession of the synopsic theor for the over mesons, the games requires and approach the spin procession with the synopsic metrics of advances and the strength theories procession and advancebuilt the transformed or different series and the areas by advancement and procession and advancebuilt the transformed or different series and the areas theories and advancement of the transformed or different series and the and the should be advanced by advancement and procession and advancebuilt the transformed or different series and the advance of the strength and the strength

The fields server twelviel structure of Wardsmore Child included must constrained cheating amongs, which had be effect of adding to the significance of any successful attrayers, as well as provided information. Wood of glinks, cheat, or explain speads fast in the visual works, and the particulars of views to field them and how is use them become runner. Capitalizing on successful charging samples and the power tables however devices more adjurce, here exist entire shady and potentially lingd companies whose sole product is anomed and an instantionalized charging. Specific to the gum of MMORPOS, these "padl tempic" company sever conflact with moreover of flows of hadays. The single to the potential to the severe of flows of the potential to the severe of the single to the severe of the severe of the single to the severe of the single to the severe of the seve consumparing legand amonge algores that when resolute in numerice action the differed biologic and community. Octamism, according to Dight and Vaxonyi's seminal articles on the subjects, it is the preventition of a signaturable many that and string the seminal transfer on the subject. It is the preventition of a signaturable many that and the transfer that area yes into it real world by re causing it through action—" from (on the largest "Galandi 2005, 164b, 10 the contained context of Machiner Dollar, estimations was not of the ways is which players performed their constructed identifies, maximation broucher howeverse insider marker and scaticated its news retrained identifies, maximation broucher howevers.

Done spany sino, one a fair May mensing in a load for any where highly their tools and eres shahily dark forense, I node sino and DoAd Twessney, Norderd on or with by I foldeding source couples and a start of the stranger set in the start of the energy memoryness and certain doats. Triagood and battle weary toom the submout day bat do larging any sensess, I storped at form of the multitude, I and multitude wear the form communities and Endocement dhe onlysts are antified. "Happ:Chaptisht?" Happ-chapt hished in mission shall a band harm was mitted "Happ:Chaptisht?" Happ-chapt many senses in the store of the multitude in the marketing dowing or exposed print span from shall a band harm understand as be the marketing dowing or ego finanise question. Coming from a background dissiple store and band multiple per tool families and forems. What does "guide theoring" markets. As MADROTO has an is spany can be accomponented trade in a disciple dowing leaptime and and band multiple componented trade market, what all does in Wardsmooth (Da and Lander and harmeting) by given theory had haring any accounts of the bandwr. A what have a not be common hard trade the single dopies in an and the bandwr. A what have a not be common hard trade the single dopies in an and the bandwr. A what have the dargueses, The second trade of the single dopies in an and the bandwr. A what have the the dargueses, The second trade of the second trade bandwr.

farming⁺ enters into the MMO complex. A more detailed look at gold farming operations will follow in a later section, but for a basic definition gold farming is a complex, that/party system wherein a company employs workers to play MMOs and accommutate virtual corrercy and highlevel characters to be sold online to players, exchanging digital goods and services for real-world moves in a transaction than game development companies whereas they oppose.

It was not long after this encounter with gold farmers in the mailbox that I harpened to be part of a warband of players wandering around Human lands, attempting to besiege enemy keeps, when I recorded in my field notes a discussion taking place concerning the snam.19 Everyone viewed the spam humorously and with mild contempt, delighting in pointing out the English spelling mistakes (and suggesting that it was from a Chinese or Korean company20). One player said that if you replied to the mail and actually bought gold from the company that they would subsequently "hack your account" and essentially ransack it, taking all of your virtual items and currency. Two other players agreed with him and no one disagreed in the group of twenty people. This situation occurred several times more over the course of my participant observation and I documented this belief in interviews with informants, general text chat within the virtual world. for site articles and comments and videos and comments nosted to YouTube. Belief in this account-hacking is transmitted as a rumour or personal experience narrative across all of the social media on the internet, and is supported by the companies who create these MMOs. When my guild moved from Warhammer Online to a recently-launched MMO called Aion in the fall of 2009, I followed and discovered the first time I logged in as my new avatar a

¹⁹ May 21, 2009 in fact: the \$7.99 HugeCheapSale mailbox spam had began only weeks before.

³⁶⁰ J. 2009 in the constant of the second seco

message from the developers, NcSoR, warning players not to buy gold online in order to avoid having their account hacked. Most interesting is the player reaction to this belief. Gold farming is generally regarded negatively by the majority of the gaming communities, and players will enquage in nonstrise scalin to protect therewes and their community by killing gold farmers.



Figure 5.1 - Ominous greeting message in Alon (screenshot by Author)

5.1 Gold Farming and YOU

Gold farming, also referred to as "RMT" (Real Money Trading²¹) is a socio-economic phenomenon specific to MMOs that facilita tes the exchange of real world money for virtual

³¹ I use the term "gold farming" because that is what my informants know the phenomenon as: the term "RMT" was unknown to most players I talked to and is largely a product of schelarly classification.

correscy or terms. In history lies in the lite 1990s with the limits of our andy MMO cilide Liosoge. Since then the global market for RMT has been estimated at 1520 5550 million in 2000 (blocks 2000; 9). The majority of gold farming companies operator out of China and vary in vice and structure. These companies consols largely of migrant workers or aniversity students that ethen lies on the premises and are gold aroling out by MMOs as a fulf ories gover leveling" played orderer annaming visuant, which wenge hyping and absording a constraint channer of them the (Boles 2000; 14).

To solve the environce to agriculture? Since MORDPGs are previous works, they do not shop even if players do. Remaindening that the paragraphy of Warkameer Online controls of addresses regional concentration of the provises, players iterates with the attractive of the parts through completing earses that the interview Milling NPGs or energy players within these regions. Whether istemically could be rely programming existediates were NPGs have been "eight," that is, then you kill them they provide more to their quality low that only eNPCs in different regions. Single is a single region Killing the same NPCs in all goes are experisone priories emains bot is known as "ferming," Editivity and players email to align relation to proceedings a force study or operator forming this activity or shipping a known the proceedings as force study of a player forming company is also the contemposite of single that more theorem is vision to the single and the strenges of a classification of the single study of the single study and the strenges of a classification of the single study of the single study and the strenges of a classification of the single study of the single study and the single study of supported framewise barrows that the full ("terms of Severing re ULCA LIDS Uper Linguistic active study theory records is the to the single.

Little is known of the inner workings of these companies because their business is quasilegal at best. Several documentaries, including a BBC report, have attempted to examine these companies and Dibbell's Play Money includes some physical journalistic research in China (Dibbell 2006). In a review of the literature, virtual world scholarship has largely been dominated by sociologists and the fledgling games studies field while gold farming as a niche within that has attracted mostly economics-based studies. Heeks has written one of the most recent and comprehensive studies of gold farming operations to date and constructed a bibliography for further research (Heeks 2008). I encountered sold farming through participant observation and interviews on Phoenix Throne in Warhammer Online, first as a member of the guild "The Black Hand" and later the "Sons of Myrkwood" between April 2009 to May 2010 and then in the Alow beginning in November of 2009 with the same suild. I also spent time reading and watching YouTube and forums, such as "Warhammeralliance.com" and "Boingboing.net," since these social media in many ways function as an extension of the game world. Many MMO players do not devote themselves to a single world, but rather migrate between them and so one of my first face-to-face interviews in St. John's. Newfoundland was with Lynda D., a veteran World of Warcraft player currently playing a level 40 Night Elf Hunter avatar. When I first interviewed her in March 2009, she had stories of guild members who had negative experiences with gold farming companies. I contacted her in October for a follow-up interview to record her guild mate's story and less than two weeks later she had a personal experience with the gold farming-hacking narrative. She logged in one morning to find her virtual world turned upside down:

"So I woke up and thought, oh maybe I will just go on and check my mail. And everything was gone. By character-first of all mp password wouldn't work. I thought there was glitch, because they were fixing the game, so maybe there was a glitch of something, so I cansally had to reset

ny password. Then, when I signed in, my character was naked...standing in frost of the golds back...So I was like, what? What? going on?....When I stands to go isto ny other characters bey were all naked, they were all standing in front of the guild back in different cities, and what had happend was that I had been hached. My account had been hacked into, and I had been robbed. It essence. I had been whole..."

I ynda's account had been cleaned out: all of her virtual items stolen and sold. This is a traumatizing event for a long-time player who has invested hundreds of hours and dollars into the game. Lynda contacted Blizzard, the game developers, who they were able to track and confirm that someone (or something) had logged into her account from a different IP address and made off with her digital loot. Over the next weeks, Lynda was able to claim and recover some of her items and virtual currency, but for her the hardest part of the experience was explaining it to her suild mates. Upon hearing what had happened to her, the first question they asked was whether she had bought gold. I asked her if she believed a gold farming company was responsible: "absolutely." Lynda had not, in fact, bought gold, but had been deceived by a phishing scam that she stated was commonly understood to be operated by gold farmers. Like my own experience with spam in my virtual mailbox, the night before she was hacked, Lynda read a mail message that read, "your character has been chosen to be entered in a draw for special mount" that linked to a "professional-looking" webpage that appeared to be an official Blizzard company page and asked for her account number and password. After submitting her information, she got the message "thanks, you have been entered and we will get to you in a

Like Ellis asserts in "Death by Folklore," to understand the significance of the event of my informant being hacked is necessary to explore the context of the rumors and belief that it was set against (Ellis 1989, 201). Gold farming operations are a material truth that has been empirically document (Heska 2008). The connection between these computing and hacking players' accounts is a cultural truth held by players and summerted by the earne development companies. The groups orchestrating the phishing and backing scams afflicting MMO communities may or may not be deliberately following a legend tradition of gold farmers being hackers. These types of scams exist all over the internet. In terms of trickine users into divulging personal account information, there is little empirical difference between the "Awards" phishing score in World of Warcraft that Lynda experienced and any eBay, PayPal or similar scare designed to decrive users into providing the group with credit card numbers. Symbolically, however, the phishing and hacking scams adapted for MMOs affect the entire gaming folk group on the community level, not the individual; non-MMO hacker attacks certainly do harnen and likely do drow on their own related lesend tradition, but when a user provides their information to a website they are sending their private content into the public wilderness of the internet. Game worlds are enclosed community spaces with boundaries protecting them from such wilderness. You are not browsing the internet when playing an MMO and not vulnerable to viouses or Trojans. When you launch the same client, you connect directly to the same commany's private and secure server. This is a service you pay for, MMO shishing scams and backing attacks symbolically mask themselves, perhaps unwittingly, within gold farming rumour tradition since they. like and farming companies exist cutside of the same world as an external, uncontrollable and unneedictable threat to the community.

5.2 Gold Farming as Cheating

Buying gold is the virtual equivalent of secretly fixing the lottery in real life. In this case, the legend is not the existence of gold farming itself but rather the reaction to utilizing it. An

anonymous poster on the Boingboing blog commented on an item dealing with gold farming

saying:

"It's damaging to the integrity of the game. Supposing we played Monspoly, and I offered sorecenes 200 "real money" for a property: regardless of the widdom of this offer (and that depends that, "arstifting, in riding on the game," if a case here arrived yan and and seriously contemplated, the "reality hubble" of the game is propped. It would no integre be Monspoly as such. "(Anonymous, Boileydon iff) accounters protof August 08 2008)."

For the poster, using real money to buy property for the purposes of the game in the board game Monopoly would break the mangic circle (Groundy 2006, 2308). The game would no longer be a game. And it would no longer be fins. The real would elements that intrude into the rimal space of the game are viewed by this individual as a version external former.

In addition to directly brogic entrol gala for CS addites, as send service provided by gold faming companies is "power leveling," which is where the physe hash over correct means and proceeds, classify complete consist, the company is order for them to play that the physe of account and "see" his or the character. Way would a physe hash over correct of a low complete and accounts manger? Leveling visual characters in which a physe in account and "see" his or the character. Way would a physe hash over content of his or the account and "see" his or the character. Way would a physe hash over sees into a low gala a physe the selectable has the character way by which formes seesial and as games benefits than the journey. This may functions to potentially doublike the house between the discounce attribution. Backet 40 the highest over character way is been for the concount attribution. Backet 40 the highest over character double, it is a summarized that they are not house to highest regimes to absorbed mess, which they are summarized to potentially upon from beginner regimes to absorbed mess, which they are summarized to potentially considered as one physics in some of real experisence and will, which poes the endedoor societ advices to exercised. For Lynds, gold faming comparies are "mining the gameplay for people, and very often in a real world context" and so using their services wort beyond mere cheating at the game. When her account could potentially stead are multi address was also addressed and so that the second result in the second potentially stead areal world presential identification and financial information. Beingen and of proversing the site direction spectrum theory of the second theory.

5.3 Anxiety and Power on the Internet: Farmers and Hackers

Right-click on a webmage using a computer with Windows, and select "view page source." This will open a window containing thousands of lines of arcane code, the programming language HTML (hypertext markup language), which is the very essence of how that website is constructed. The internet itself is home to a multitude of such languages or codes, creating what we see before our eyes when we web surf and animating the virtual worlds that we wander into. By changing a few lines of code a person can dramatically alter the appearance or function of a piece of software, he it a website or a video game. For many "users" the internet and most software applications exist at the level of the GUI (graphical user interface), which is the pointand click graphical buttons and text that is displayed on your screen. But, like the engine under the bood of a car, the programming code underlying the GUI can be read and (re)written by internet programmers - a type of engineer or mechanic. These people are not "users" of the software, but creators and editors. In terms of internet power relations, programmers can wield a rreat deal of creative power, either employed by larger corporations or coding on their own. The flinside of understanding the inner workings of the internet and coding is that the same knowledze from which programmers draw creative power can also be utilized for destructive purposes.

The term "backer" originally referred to a small eroup of computer science researchers at MIT in the late 1960s, where backing was related to programming skill and innovation (Mason 2007. 8) In the decades since its meanine has normalarly shifted to a negative connotation. broadly referring to cyber-criminals, internet thieves and online terrorists. The definition of "hacker" is hotly contested online, with free software movements and the "Hacker Code" ethical midelines at one extreme and anothic more criminals writing visuses and thursting computer security at the other (Mason 2007, 20). The cornerate media and public perception of rorue individuals wielding virtual power with destructive intent is, and, I suspect, will continue to become increasingly unsettling to the average user (as in, users of software lacking programming knowledge and skills, if I can make such a generalization) as our society increasingly relies upon computer technology. Most computer mers will have some story of at least one experience of a virus, worm, Trojan or other malware that the computer security companies tell us was the result of a backer's destructive programming ability. For the purposes of this study, whether the malware was actually created by a hacker is of less interest than whether the public and news media believe it was. The spectre of the backer, real or imagined, haunts the dark virtual alleys and seedy underhelly of the internet. The majority of popularly perceived danzers on the internet, (such as viruses, identity theft, et centers) tend to be traced back to backers. Whether it is a malicious phishing scam or a data mining application unobtrusively downloaded on to your hard drive that records the keys you press, backers are the boresmen of the internet; a prominent source of user problems. The image of the hacker is not improved by the anonymity of the internet scherely backers can remove abasise and may be recording your information or manipulating you and your bandware while sitting right across the digital divide tyring to you.

A structural binary opposition between nature and others is useful in conceptualizing the landenge of cyberopies. When a landkar tratesse a visus is or of the lancetand, it is commonly entered to a basing interplane in the set of Araba product of light schedules, which shade analolis it as a basics of Cohans, the issues is perhape better conceptualized as wildowns, as a bland rubano-Name, Hacken are the diargenous works builting in the data difference of earse (Araba Bender, Hacken are the diargenous works builting in the data is the "biol Ohee" (Ellis 2005, 122, Similar to sensitis in earont North Anorison consciences), hacken, directory social areas, and endagar people (in this care, their private internation and visual service).

Unlease says one and the source order of the pay you are returning your prevenuel account or financial information into, powers the knowlinght is fullerably plahing accains of them the presens on the other end of the intermet thay you are dealing with, busy you are instituing that the verbale and the company who sponters it are busing bases with you and will continue to be us. This adds is history opposition, the intermet is any second paper with the preferse of names and and an address allowers. The intermets is an exceeding public queue, you and will continue to be use that adds a binary opposition in the intermet is an exceeding public queue, you find the intermet address' interdease. This is an extra you for the intermet address' interdease. This is an extra you for the intermet address' interdease. This may oppose you way in the situation where a person is providing information or the intermet is some from of thrancelow, but is is key component in public lenges, L believe, imprestate to the MMO player belief of busing hacked by age and previous prevase to the previous be MMO player belief of busing hacked by age and have a previous in public lenges, previous the busing opposite the public lenges and the players their of busing hacked by age and have a previous in public lenges and the players the intermet in the MMO player busing opposite the intermet player intermet previous intermet play and players and players and players and players and play age and players and players and players and players and players and play age and play affective and players and players and players and play age and players and players and players and players and players and play age and players and p

Bischnerer childre is an endere within this visual validance, as a commensitydetechapt stratal game, it is a similar und existing in the visit of the initiants that has been instantically abaged and protocol functional (1). The strategies of the strategies of the development company manus playnetunitaries image and early with and playne meahings by the development company manus playnetunitaries image and early with and playne meahings by the manyolaus types. The Mahaman' is highly facilitation of the strate that manufacture the term terminated are in infragment of the LG (Termin of Service), which is smally for stilling images ensemps. As an enders, Washamen Orabie is hown to a commany of playnet. These playnet are, for the most part, all shows to play the game and exe out a basic iter as an issues gauge, assumpting in Washamen childrates the factions of e-Oher the enterview an entermost strangers. The strategies of the strate of the other to a commany and playnet. These playnet are, for the most part, all shows to play the game and exe out a basic iter as an issues gauge, assumpting in Washamen childrates the strategies of the other to a contravier assuments meaning that strategies.

Odd freming is interesting in this, as huisens, a texit hole within and ontoile of MIMO. Marketing against and the firmers themselves take on subscriptions, costing and particular integrit compary a spanner of press. and all talk the trans aris span in given and house and general text and. These agains have their subscriptions and accounts transitiant whenever they are discovered by Mythic, but durit spectraling have exiten studied the gament of mixed of the grander durity of the state of the state of the game and mixed of the game doebsquer's light erach. Odd farming programmers haven in the scenario y suffix of the visual worked, and all code from the whole of the interset has entered the world to to play how to routher lifetime entrations.

5.4 Media Ecology in Contextually-Collapsed Imagined Communities

In her treatment of Halloween-related ostensive acts, Degh cites newspapers as one of the major means of communication of rumours (Dégh and Vazsonyi 1983, 12). While clearly not the

sole means of communication, the usage of corporate media suggests that the legend is widely disceminated on a notentially national scale. This is interesting in that newspapers were also the favoured means that tied Anderson's imagined community together (Anderson 2006, 35). Virtual worlds function similarly to imagined communities, albeit not necessarily notifically-inclined, in that while the game itself is directly interactive the conception of community and size of the player base is largely imagined. As citizens of a state pay taxes to a central government and read the newspaper, they simultaneously imaging the shared conception of the nation since they can only feasibly directly interact with a limited number of their fellow citizens; virtual worlds like World of Warcraft are similar in that where that particular MMO boasts 11.5 million players, any given player realistically directly interacts with only a fraction of that number (Blizzard Entertainment Press Releases). Such eame worlds, however, at the same time offer the possibility of interacting with many more people, and it is with the shared knowledge of this possibility that players imagine their gaming community. These imagined gaming communities lock a controllored media source: while all players interact with the name client and the development company's servers, cultural knowledge and the state of the game are shared not through the company's official avenues but through decentralized user-created and operated channels of communication that enable a shared reflexivity not seen before in the "real world."

On the internet content is not tisd to modium: with ease a user can separate text from context and referemant that content in anytisal of different ways. User-driven social networking sites such as Pacebook, MySpare, Twiner, and Plickz, along with video-sharing vites such as YouTube and content-sharing networks like Bitmeret, enable users to create and upfood thref?

reflexivity and hander content is continuingly being interpreted and transformed by a diverse groups of people from any number of contexts. This results in what Weech human "context collapse" in its work on "varification has suggests incorporations so strong different turns and their own contexts that an unifinited number contexts collapse on one and note riscs any given Varification and there is competited of Sillins of people in time and space (Weech 2009). Fujeres in MSM-Da imaters within the context of the medium of the pairs. The simultaneously out all of the advancest interaction of the medium of the pairs. The simultaneously out all of the advancest of the medium of the pairs to express themselves to each other and hape the instanted community.

Forbaries que to McLahar's the molecular is the message" freezy OdcLahar (1964). Formula sugators with the term madia coolegy that new social molia create sover or a least different werps of urch-strilling and stratures used in molia create sover or at least different werps world also net accessration theorem relation was happen communication. The format processing is a strature of the strature of the strature of the order of social molia data networks the simulation. The MARDIPO game world as the relevance of needs and that networks the simulation gaming community togetine, and us is control to the mades of summanism by which the gadit famility theories of molia. The simulation of the simulation strature and taggatos the simulation of molias, used as a strature, simulation and the simulation of the legand meaning the simulation of molias, used as and shaped by he needs content, then it might the theorem by apped of the simulation of social molias content, then it might the theorem by off refat and content within comming action in visual works. The finally used in memory strature of a content within the social molias in visual works. The finally used in memory strature of the within the use on other molian molias the formation of the simulation of the simulation of the simulation of the simulation discontence within the use on other molian molias the formation of the simulation and so the simulation of the simu

neduut of the interest. The MMD is the modulus for bold commission and actenism the gold farming legend is transmitted across every so-thile media, bot ends one refers back to the experiment in lengues work (is which the shade merest and every even in their action shade the otherwise community spectrum of killing gold farmers. As an avatar, you exits whith the same mediam as the gold farming-backing surrative and can interact withher against it essentially inducid the trat.

5.5 Virtual Ostension

As Landard points one, much work on consistion his focused on regaritive acts and are do other refers a persons might present (Lindald 2020, 116), In MADRIPGA, players and whenly playing a rule and an interacting with the game areas. Each work belfet legand and nonmive action cases within the same medium of the game spees, players meeting the gald lemning action cases within the same medium of the game spees, players meeting the gald lemning action cases within the same medium of the game spees, players meeting the gald lemning. The BORDOF Wirel of Warrough, Alliance ("Good") and Hole ("Chil"), and a sum commerner pound on the ophonder on a YariFler biols depicting the killing of a gald farmer, "File year, Yanya 2020, comment poold 2020), The commenties in shading to the fachosis in which the power killed the gald farmer, and how we as in keeping with the role-playing attributes asceeded to the of 104 hole factors.

What Lynda experienced was "puer estension" in that the runner became true for her: gold ferences backed her account. The community reaction to this marraive tradition ranges from reporting engaging in quasi-estension to identify gold fameus and, when spotted, performing occursive as the shifting that avarats wherever possible in deforme of the community to symbolically and literally reclaim the fields of potential gold the farmers were exhausting and maintain the integrity and security of the enclosed retails and of the game word. The community, however, has cracks as individuals within it engage in preade-otentions and use the runnour tradition to mask their own dependitions, using blance angula farmers.

By billing avants that they provide its the gdd fatters, piper place threads on the anarosis of gdd fatters in globases. They are also beyond the within the trans transform of gdd fattersing backing is MMoNo. Charles and the solves of the within the trans transform "spaces entropies" (1999, 2019) to impress their search," also may also the attribute tradition of gdd fattersing the tradition space of the search, "a distance single the matrix tradition of gdd fattersing the tradition space of the search and the search and the search and the fatter attention of the search and states of insteas tradition grant the next with which forms and environs that "archive by billing back and the search and which forms and environs that "archive by billing back and for the community to see and many of the comment are engendancey. This may be similar to the factor sear choices (1994, 2017, 2019, 2018, gdd fatters, like the essention Ellio matrixes, is a direct ymai which to protect the comments.

You are running through a forest on a quest, mixing sure to keep out of the range of dangemons animals, when you come across another award with the same "dddgggff" who is moving in a suspiciously mobic fashion and waiting for the azimuth be is killing to respense instead of moving of the another area. He ignores your lwave emoties. According to peptide wides, we have fashey encountered a goff there or at least an award animath by a yoing of order that auromatice its actions. As vigitative night are consussively and kill the gold famore, but there are no witnesses. Unlike real world manous and athan legends, there is no molin confut to the protect the encounter non-filling range with white "submitties" of the game company is mover publicated and meety responded to MMO communities exist out only at a socie-colorard instruccion between popular and fills durates that also a tochnological new. The ore of a gaming memory actions anterlands pice terme algores with negotice worlds, but in firstiges extend beyond to encompass the social median of the internet. So you resert at videos fit to your hard of the farstige of the social median of the internet. So you resert at videos fit to your hard of the that was not est and undowd hare.

²⁷ Praps is one of the most popular video-recording software applications. It has a simple interface with resolution options and can record sound. Raming the newly-cranate video through a post-preduction editing saile like Windows Movie Maker or Adobe Premiere allows for tuches like the randomizer and the addition or datio tracks.

In suice beam viewed 17, 477 times (byong 2006). This particular video has 56 commons, the majority of which are either general disconsion of the game or companiancy: only six questioned whether the destifications was accurate contensued the point of instruction. Within the context of this negative player preception of gold features, killing them gains you reparation, a highly writed commolity in MNOs. Killing 2 and features is an atom that contraining distances they form your distances are possible. Non-conceptive with the ransour of gold framers being responsible for hacking players' accounts, this killing can be term as an ensume scient that serves a dual propose of one only protecting second and one's contrait.

User Goupdoté aduet, "teue du pous kanne they ar guid farmers," in which the reviewed an answer from Originalina, "you jour kanne, shar you get some up with en, most guid farmers and there or looks 10 was also mostinding direct alever respond at you you erus Milling moth that due you aff like marcis ener's (Deupõdio, Originalina, Naynon 2000, rommens ported 2007). Quezions such as the one mained by Occupótin concentrum en there guid formers. Milling videos and cannet an antempleter or commerses, that distantially unoidmusing the poner for immight the dy of a regular larger and not a guid farmer. Iteling to it is ascentible to itel dommers it that in states of the distantial or onto the second origin the distantiant of the distantiant of the distantiant of the distantiant of the it is ascentible to itel dommers it that in states of the distantiant of the distantiant of the iteractions.

From my own experience in the MMORPC's Warhummer Online and Aine, and from uploaded YouTube videos, when you engage a gold famor you are usually alone. Otherwise acts in the actual workl, such as placing many blacks into Hallween candy or gringerly checking the coin neuran islot on psychoses for fare of costaniantal needles, and ether wests experienced by individuals. The neurance may be dimensioned through mass media, the totestasin series in core

at the info/table or small-group level. In my sits norther of fabrets Weitsenser (bluer) nearce that a visiont encounter with a guid firmer, net have I directly witnessed anyse killing guid famers, bell have one is a negiste with many else people where guid firmers. In the second and the second secon



Figure 5.2 - Gold farmers creating impromptu market in Alon (screenshot by author)

The processor of gold farmers in these large PAE serves is haven to a large number of people, yet estimative actions against three farmers usually only take place in player servess. The processor of the serves of the serves of an end of the ser

When I was interviewing Lapida also that experiences of the single har account blocks in the alsons such, as demonstrated as theme replayers in the guide block bin approach as experience. This mush chained that has account was harded by a guid faming company, which results in the bios of some command guide larges. He was allimately kields from the single shows it was exceeded that has one second its much had a stace with yoe some shows that all he had been lying is notice to small his guidel members' insmt. Engaging in pseudo-constraint to clock his this incress, that players had code the attractive statistics of platement hacking into paper, "accounts to react the approaches of the more.

When a plays gan that a course balon in this Lyshol dai, Li engaps their elif keeping as a member of the full, commany, one study she hey become part of the meantive tradition both they also identify when the net of the viction or usering which the matrixel tradition both that gold faming companies willing to hack players' accounts are not targeting individuals on the instrume, such as in coversimal mas MMO philading scame, but instead are straining as the socief for day our QMOD atomax. The alpha specific there on the specific plane specific the specific tradition of the specific field on the specific tradition of the specific tradit

weeld within that. In light of this, the negative action of having one's account hacked acts to reify the victimized player's identity as a member of the community. This has the function of maintaining aroup cohesion, at both mild as well as world levels.

Legado and memore the trained world end from their net world construmers, but they function and are matched to in alightly different ways. Verhaul extension is dominated by the memory of the strained and the strained strained and the strained strained and the experiences of an unhighly levels by the gaming community. Understanding and meastions to it are modified by the raking game matching and places rules as well as social insect of sigms and could capital. Commisses rules in strained areas, one shalling and itemaci. Insectionally realism lose game space while spatializing different strained from the origin lose game space while spatializing different strained in terms intel. Acts of visual emensions are individually documented and sceidial observations that real train from Cachiba excitation again that matteries the matching and the metation of visual emensions are individually documented and sceidial discontinuer and from Cachiba excitation again that are attractive metation of visual emensions are individually documented and sceidial discontinuer and from Cachiba excitation again that are attractive and from Cachiba excitation again that are attractive.

Conclusion: The Death of Warhammer Online

Loss in a MMORDG is in a farmary wold when players corter avairs from gool of evol factions of what are essentially angels that have survived a wold breaking catalysis. When show an ortificatel is an unpertupied of disconsistent on the Plonsis. These severes. A particular as visual wolds are, Wardsmanner Online alsos not exit is thin a vesserie, administed particulation of play of a softward body, players habits entitis wolds areal in a welly careful or mission and away signers. In Lisk are helphypelhistical launds of Wardsmanner Online which does many players from World of Warsengl (and the Sons of Mysleword from Dark Agr of Candood, the rest-Marsenger Sons Wardsmanner Online. The Erst year Ersbirts of the dark of a set MMORDOV somes to the "miss" are break after and the theorem on maintainability of the world. Wardsmanner Online thouses the form standarding of the world. Wardsmanner Online bands of Worldows have the over the course of the years than the miss breaked with BOUDD hapeful ubscribens, but over the course of the years than unmerk breaked with SOUDD hapeful ubscribens, years standard areas MMORDOV years good main and years standard breaked years and year

The facture of Warknamer Obtics had a embilish of ensures, histohing the relates of Alons, Sons of the BDDOD physics, including mg guild, migrand to Alons white others stremed to Weild of Warrenf or used an other MDAS, and the sole of the spechase *BLe Obtics*. When and what they thought shapement to Warbaneser Obtics, some of my information aftergod that it had promising datas that seven altituding implemented parely and the Mythic Enternitore that base to sole are proposed to uspite robots that address grees comes in that excession parallel and period. In the 2020 Mythic Enternition that para to shadown survers, faulty sharing down Pheness Theore, Papers were officed neutra transfers to the memaling arvers, which the adventumes to one inversion the enduales with a transfers.

improvements and the designation of Tier I as an "endless" free-to-play trial in a bid to secure their remaining player base and attract former players.

Houses from the now defaust. Phoesis Theme were effend choices of where to transfer their avairs anongot the maning serves. With the shadows of Phoesis Theore, role Japar on longer had a dosignated server to call hours and were fixed to japt adoptile nor neilegore. Instead on particular is a new serve in source of a new goald while Houses to quit my time between Worksmanne Cholice and playing with the fixen of Mythword, in Aine I centrally sumshcrabed from Worksmanne Cholice and playing with the fixen of Mythword, Rough ny avant concernit will cert in a neutron with the conclusion of any flatbards, though ny avant concernit will cert in a neutron with the conclusion of any flatbards, though ny avant concernit will cert in a neutron with the conclusion of any flatbards, though ny avant

We say thebawk assumply conclude? I defined "the fields" and a content only by implication, the technological content) of the "place" of Beosits Theme specifically, and Weakmoure "Online means weakly. How the field, for an consisted with general any obek and togeting into a visual game weakl, Aler Had efficiently consolided on yresench and mereord on to writing the finely. Hegges to question the parameters of the field and the line between placing tillochomour Outling party for question and placing the research. It is a fieldable that I can access any spin emerg done in which I enjoyed teacheding interview and participant observations. The hole cleanest of MMERRYLs is circlically spreament understanding participant educations. The hole cleanest of MMERRYLs is circlically spreament to industration these organizes. The hole cleanest of MMERRYLs is circlically spreament to industration the cool game rules and issues of the accelerators. All is insertedines a culture centered on the game and having fing hereing is.

The informants I played alongside eventually became friends and, with my period of fieldwork closing, I intended to travel with the Sons of Myrkwood guild to Alon as more of a

player than an ethnographer. While an in-depth analysis of culture in Aiow was beyond the scope of this popel, I nevertheless melds up recording the group experience of the move and it happened that it was through standing in Aion that I was able to look back at *Warhammer Online* and gain new perspectives for writing the thesis.

The shadows of Phessix Thema and an migration of the Som of Mythowed proved highful for min right socies were hypother. Limits were conclusion for a type of gama week support. Limits using simplicit which we waits conclusion places and developers continually scatability supdate and required and gama control. For many places, it is then al gama plan matters to the one aligness warts to mish the maximum avare level, which is objectively the matters in the one aligness warts to mish the maximum avare level, which is objectively benefits of the minimum strate test, which is objectively benefits of the minimum strate the strate hard many data and longer and us donger and to allow players' equivations down. One through moving to strate charached and MMDREFLOW can also hard player alignment on the strate by more ng fixed gama. The maximum strate main which planess are then as the type many fixed gama and manifer anomed multi-with planess and the strategard methods and the Maximum eX-theory and the Simon Mythows and the strategard equivations down. One type many fixed gama and an along a more strategard with planess and the strategard methods and the Maximum eX-theory and the strategard Mythows and the strategard equivations down. One type many fixed gama and an along a more strategard with the strategard method and an Maximum eX-theory and the strategard Mythows and the strategard existence down. One type many fixed gama and the strategard Mythows and the strategard existence down. Along the Mythows and Theory and Simon Mythows and the strategard existence down. Along the Mythows and Theory and Simon and the strategard existence down. Along the Mythows and Theory and Simon Along the Mythows and the strategard existence down. Along the strategard the strategard existence down and the strategard Mythows and the strategard Mythows ano

In the first works as a guid in Asiac, going members beind each where the threat the interface and work through quests. The first guid numbers in such at more new built higher benef ent starts and arrapted back is the new of the guid about effective manufacts to an array area of and general knowledge of the new workd, dasin specific facious was tunned in the Washmarr Onders terms, und in guide being known as "regions". Knowledge and experiment form Washmarr Onder transmission on experiment of this new MMORPG. On the server tunning and in cleants of spectree class result, which bid 1 interding full at more independent on a Startsen in Washmarr Other. The startsetpen was

the same: still a glass cannon with similar types of qufit, abeits with different names and animations. Other members of the guild also created archetypes similar to their *Warhammer Online* incarnations. Learning a new GGI and new gameplays. Hie mid with combut was a process but made far usaiser with prior experiment with a similar MMORPO.



Figure 6.1 - My Sorcerer, Endaeron, in Alon (screenshot by author)

From flinging feeballs as a Bright Wiznel and elinging spells as a Sorceress to souring above the ground as an entirely different kind of Sorceret, have continuilly restart myself in a series of different identifies through the time span of a year and across two different virtual worlds. As discussed in chapter three, the construction of all of these identifies involves a postochers systemic induces that was channels from popular culture and individual imagination. As narrative blendings of multiple references into single multivocal representations, avatars are both expressive culture themselves as well as experiential vehicles of embodiment and selfperception.

Isomption that MOREPGs is a slavey someworks, beeformed and avoidly-instanted. When viewed most from the proprocess of game cohine, those while which not not monthy proproved hyperol substantiation of the university of the standard strategy of the property of the substantiation of the university of the strategy of the property of the annual world its vessel with a longer and the first strategy of the property of annual world areas that, the high sheet games, why, and she affect the match property and and university. From the predied the most complements of the simulation of the university individual reasons that, I thick, may did the most complements of a slave strategy of the strate world configurations. Note of any professional of and a slavey termeres that strate world to rest. Through assists in the investigate of profession of any advance of the theorem of the profession and on configure this investigate should read any source the top containally day via the all concellingers this individual to the should world by the profession and world sociality, visual commany can be leaved world world world the individual world sociality, visual commany can be leaved as world world world world programs the most profession of the strate world by the profession games the world world or should be profession of the there are subscript apple to university explores and mentioning addie and allows.

Using interactive molia, MMOBPGs recreate the magical Other world of literary fastasy, metaphor and cell folkule that humanity has been imagining for millennis. The new molis of virtual worlds ceatible players to visually and socially re-imaging the temestres, but, with many traditional actual-world social processes remaining the same, visual experiences are translated into end maning that informs and become pay of a player's actual life.

Bibliography

Abrahams, Roger. 1998. Antic Dispositions and the Perilous Politics of Culture: Costume and Culture in Jacobean England and America. Journal of American Foldore 111(440): 115-132.

Anderson, Benedict, 1991. Imagined Communities. New York: Verso.

- Aarseth, Espen. 2004. Quest Games as Post-Narrative Discourse. Narrative Across Media: The Languages of Storytelling, Marie-Laure Ryan, ed. 361-376. Lincoh: University of Nebraska Press.
- Association of Virtual Worlds. 2008. The Blue Book: A Consumer Guide to Virtual Worlds2rd ed. http://www.associationofvirtualworlds.com/publishing_blue_book.php.PDF e-book.
- Bainbridge, Wilma and William Bainbridge. 2007. Creative Uses of Software Errors. Social Science Computer Review 25(1): 61-77.
- Barth, Fredrik. 1969. Ethnic Groups and Boundaries: The Social Organization of Culture Difference. Boston: Little Brown & Co.
- Bartle, Richard. 1996. Hearts, Clubs, Diamonds and Spades: Players Who Suit Muds. The Journal of Virtual Environments 1(1):Xiu/v).http://www.heardeis.edu/subs/iove?HTML/v1/bartle.html.
- Bauman, Richard. 1972. Differential Identity and the Social Base of Folklore. Toward New Perspectives in Folklore, Americo Pardes and Richard Bauman, eds. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Bauman, Richard. 1992. Folklove, Cultural Performances and Popular Entertainments: A Communications-Centered Handbook. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bausinger, Hermann. 1990. Folk Culture in a World of Technology. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Beaulieu, Anne. 2004. Mediating Ethnography: Objectivity and the Making of Ethnographies on the Internet. Social Epistemology 18(2-3): 139-154.
- Bendix, Regina. 1998. Moral Integrity in Costumed Identity: Negotiating "National Costume in 19th Century Bavaria. Journal of American Foldore 111(44): 133-145.
- Berger, Harris M. and Giovanna P. Del Negro. 2004. Identity and Everyday Life: Essays in the Study of Folklore, Music, and Popular Culture. Middletown: Wesleyan University Press.

- Bertozi, Elena. 2008. "You Play Like a Girl": Cross-gender Competition and the Uneven Playing Field. Convergence 14(4): 73–487.
- Bittarello, Maria Beatrice. 2008. Another Time, Another Space: Virtual Worlds, Myths and Imagination. Journal of Virtual Worlds Research 1(1): 1-18.
- Blizzard Entertainment, "World of Warcraft Subscriber Base Reaches 11.5 Million Worldwide." Press Releases. http://us.blizzard.com/en-us/company/press/pressreleases.html?081121 [accessed December 12009].
- Boellstorff, Tom. 2006. A Ludicrous Discipline? Ethnography and Game Studies. Games and Culture 1(1) (January): 29-35.
- Boellstoeff, Tom. 2008. Coming of Age in Second Life: An Anthropologist Explores the Virtually Human. Princeton: University of Princeton Press.
- Boingboing Blog, World of Developmenteraft: academic paper on gold farming as a development activity in poor countries. http://www.boingboing.net [accessed November 23, 2009].
- Boostrom, Robert. 2008. The Social Construction of Virtual Reality and the Stigmatized Identity of the Newbie. Journal of Virtual Worlds Research 1, no. 2 (November).https://journals.tdl.org/jvwt/article/view/302/269 (accessed December 1, 2008).
- Brown, Barry and Mark Bell. 2004. CSCW at Play: "There" as a Collaborative Virtual Environment. Paper presented at CSCW'04 November 6-10, 2004
- Burri-Nenova, Mira, 2009. User Created Content in Virtual Worlds and Cultural Diversity. Swiss National Centre of Competence in Research (NCCR) Trade Regulation Working Paper. World Trade Institute, University of Bern.http://ssm.com/abstract=1316847 (accessed September 28, 2009).

Caillois, Roger, 1961, Man, Play and Games, New York: The Free Press of Glencoe, Inc.

- ChadRoebuck. 2006. "Chinese Gold Farmers Must Die." YouTube. http://www.youtube.com/comment_servier3al_comments/sv=T108MtzRhrg&fromurl=/w abt/58_Pfv3DT108KzRhrg&&fortante%3Drelated [accessed November 20, 2009].
- Chen, Peter and S.M. Hinton. 1999. Realtime Interviewing Using the World Wide Web. Sociological Research Online 4(3) (September).http://www.socresonline.org.uk/4/3/chen.html.(accessed 21 November 2008)

- Cohen, Anthony. 1985. The Symbolic Construction of Community. New York: Tavistock Publications.
- Cohen, Anthony. 2000. Signifying Identities: Anthropological Perspectives on Boundaries and Contested Values. London: Routledge.
- Cohen, Erik. 1988. Authenticity and Commoditization in Tourism. Annals of Tourism Research 15: 371-386.
- Consalvo, Mia. 2009. There is No Magic Circle. Games and Culture 4(4): 408-417.
- Dégh, Linda. 1983. Does the Word "Dog" Bite? Ostensive Action: A Means of Legend-Telling. Journal of Folklore Research 20(1) (May): 5-34.
- Dégh, Linda. 1996. What is a Belief Legend? Folklore 107, pp. 33-46.
- Dibbell, Julian. 2006. Play Money: Or, How I Quit My Day Job and Made Millions Trading Virtual Lost. New York: Basic Books.
- Donath, Judith. 1999. Identity and Deception in the Virtual Community. Com
- Ducheneaut, Nicholas, Nick Yee, Eric Nickell and Robert Moore. 2006. Alone Together: Exploring the Social Dynamics of Massively Multiplayer Online Games. Paper presented at the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI 2006) 2006 April 22 - 27. Montreal: Canada.
- Ducheneaut, Nicholas, Nick Yee, Eric Nickell and Robert Moore. 2007. The Life and Death of Online Gaming Communities: A Look at Guilds in World of Warcraft. Paper presented at the 25th Annual ACM Conference on Human Factores in Computing Systems (CHI 2007); 2007 Amril 28 - May 3. San Jose: CA
- Ellis, Bill. 1989. Death by Folklore: Ostension, Contemporary Legend and Murder. Western Folklore 48(3): 201-220.
- Ellis, Bill. 2005. Legend/Antilegend: Humour as an Integral Part of the Contemporary Legend Process: The Social Impact of Rumor and Legend Rumor Mills by Gary Alan Fine, Verotique Campion-Vincent and Chip Heath, eds. 2005. New Jersey: Transaction Publishers. pp. 123–140.
- Fife, Wayne. 2004. Penetrating Types: Conflating Modernist and Postmodernist Tourism on the Great Northern Peninsula of Newfoundland. Journal of American Folklore 117(464): 147-167.

- Fine, Gary Alan. 1983. Shared Fantasy: Role-playing Games as Social Worlds. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Fine, Gary Alan. 1987. Meaningful Play, Playful Meaning. Champaign: Human Kinetics Publishers, Inc.
- Fine, Gary Alan. 1991. Redemption Rumors and the Power of Ostension. The Journal of American Folklore 104, no. 412 (Spring), pp. 179-181.
- Foster, Derek. 1997. Community and Identity in the Electronic Village. Internet Culture. David Porter, ed. London: Routledge Inc.
- Giddings, Seth. 2009. Events and Collusions: A Glossary for the Microethnography of Video Game Play. Games and Colluse 4(2) (April): 144-157.
- Goffman, Erving. 1959. The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life. New York: Anchor Books.
- Goldstein, Kenneth. 1989[1971]. Strategy in Counting-Out: An Ethnographic Folklore Field Study. Folk Groups and Folklore Genres: A Reader, Elliott Oring, ed. 183-195. Logan: Utab State University Press.
- Grimes, Ronald. 1975. "Toward a Phenomenology of Exteriorization" Journal of the American Academy of Religion 43(3) (September): 508-516.
- Grundy, David. 2008. The Presence of Stigma among Users of MMORPG RMT: A Hypothetical Case Approach. Games and Culture 3(2): 225-247.
- Hall, Stuart. 1996. The Question of Cultural Identity. Modernity: An Introduction to Modern Societies, Suart Hall, David Held, Don Hubert and Kenneth Thompson, eds. London: Blackwell.
- Handler, Richard. 1994. Is "Identity" a Useful Cross-cultural Concept? Commemorations: The Politics of National Identity. John Gillis, ed. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Heeks, Richard. 2008. Current Analysis and Future Research Agenda on "Gold Farming: Real-World Production in Developing Countries for the Virtual Economics of Online Games" Development Informatics Worling Paper Science 586, 32. Anacheste: Development Informatics Group, Institute for Development Policy and Management, University of Marchester.
- Hine, Christine, ed. 2005. Virtual Methods: Issues in Social Research on the Internet. Oxford: Berg.

- Huizinga, Johan. 1955[1949].Homo ludens: A Study of the Play Element in Culture. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Ito, Mizuko. 1997. Virtually Embodied: The Reality of Fantasy in a Multi-User Dungeon. In Internet Culture, ed. David Porter. 87-128. New York: Routledge.
- Jin, Dal Yong and Florence Chee. 2008. Age of New Modia Empires: A Critical Interpretation of the Korean Online Game Industry. Games and Calture 3(1): 38-58.
- Joinson, Adam. 2003. Understanding the Psychology of Internet Behaviour: Virtual Worlds, Real Lives. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kafai, B. Yasmin, David Feldon, Deborah Fields, Michael Giang and Maria Quintero. 2007. "Life in the Times of Whypos: A Vintual Epidemic as a Community Event. Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Communities and Technology, C. Steinfeld, B. Pertlind, M. Ackerman and N. Contractor (eds.). New York: Springer.
- Kendall, Lori. 2002. Hanging Out in the Virtual Pub: Masculinities and Relationships Online. Berkley: University of California Press.
- Kerr, Orin S. 2008. Criminal Law in Virtual Worlds. University of Chicago Legal Forum, Forthcoming: GWU Law School Public Law Research Paper No. 391. Social Science Research Network.http://swn.com/abstract=1097392 (accessed October 01 2009).

Lastowka, Greg. 2009. Rules of Play. Games and Culture 4(4): 279-395.

- Learning, Jeffrey. 2009. Channels of Communication: A Study of Folklore in the Segmented Online "Communities" within Massively Multiplayer Online Games (MMOG)3.MA Thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Light, Jennifer. 1999. From City Space to Cyberspace. Virtual Geographies. Mike Crang, Phil Crang and Jon May, eds. New York: Routledge Inc.
- Lindahl, Carl. 2005. Ostensive Healing: Pilgrimage to the San Antonio Ghost Tracks. Journal of American Folklore 118, no. 468, pp. 164-185.
- Lindtner, Silvia, Mainwaring, Scott and Wang, Yang. 2008. New Frontier of Guanxi: Online Gaming Practices in China. Social Science Research Network.http://serv.com/abstract=1317472 (accessed October 09 2009).
- Ludlow, Peter and Mark Wallace. 2007. The Second Life Herald: The Tabloid that Witnessed the Dawn of the Metaverse. Cambridge: MIT Press.

MacCannell, Dean, 1976. The Tourist: A New Theory of the Leisure Class. New York: Schocken

Books.

- Mason, Bruce. 2007. The Creation of Folk Cultures on the Internet: A Proposed Methodology of Investigation with Case Studies. PhD diss., Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- McDowell, John H. 1999. The Transmission of Children's Folklore. Children's Folklore: A Sourcebook, Brian Sutton-Smith, Jay Mechling, Thomas Johnson and Felicia McMahon, eds. Logan, UT: Utub State University Press.
- McLuhan, Marshall. 2003[1964].Understanding Media: The Extensions of Man. New York: Gineko Press.
- Medina, Laurie Kroshus. 2003. Commoditizing Culture: Tourism and Maya Identity. Annals of Tourism Research 30(2): 353-368.
- Myers, David. 2006. Signs, Symbols, Games, and Play. Games and Calmre 1(1) (January): 47-51.
- Nayson. 2006. "Tarren Mill server gold farmers." You'Tube. http://www.youtube.com/comment_servierTall_comments&v=GdLgZ66DtU&fromurl=/ watch?isFv43DGH_Z266DtU.tecessed November 20, 2009].
- Noyes, Derothy and Regina Bendix. 1998. In Modern Dress: Costuming the European Social Body, 17th-20th Centuries, Journal of American Folilore 111(440): 107-114.
- Noyes, Decothy. 1998. La MajaVestida: Dress as Resistance to Enlightenment in Late-18th-Century Madrid, Journal of American Folklore 111(440): 197-217.
- Noyes, Dorothy. 2003. Group. Eight Words for the Study of Expressive Culture edited by Burt Feintuch. Urbana: University of Illinois Press. pp. 7-41.
- Oring, Elliott. 1997. On the Tradition and Mathematics of Counting-Out. Western Folklore 56(2): 139-152.
- Overton, James. 1996. Promoting the "Real" Newfoundland. Making a Difference: Essays on Tourism, Culture and Development in Newfoundland. St. John's: ICER, Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Pisan, Yusuf, 2007. My Guild, My People: Role of Guilds in Massively Multiplayer Online Games. Paper Presented at the4th Australasian Conference on Interactive Entertainment. Melbourne. Australia.
- Postman, Neil. 1985. Amusing Ourselves to Death: Public Discourse in the Age of Show Business. New York: Viking Penguin, Inc.

Rheingold, Howard. 2003. The Virtual Community. Cambridge: MIT Press

- Rheingold, Howard. 2006. Social Networks and the Nature of Communities. In Networked Neighbourhoods: The Connected Community in Context, ed. Patrick Purcell, 47-76. Londor: Springer-Verlag.
- Salazar, Javier A. 2009. Analyzing Social Identity (Re)Production: Identity Liminal Events in MMORPGs. Journal of Virtual Worlds Research 1(3) (February): 4-22.
- Schuuman, Dimitri, Katrien de Moor, Jan van Looy and Lievan de Marez. 2008. Fanboys, Competers, Escapists and Time-killers: A Typology Based on Gamers' Motivations for Playing Video Games. Paper presented at the 3rd International Conference on Digital Interactive Media in Entertainment and Arts 2008 (DIMEA).
- Shields, Rob. 2002. The Virtual. http://www.myilibrary.com.qc2aproxy.mun.ca/Browse/open.asp?ID=11237&loc=cover (accessed 6 January 2009).
- Shin, Ann. 2003. Almost Real: Connecting in a Wired World. DVD. Montreal: National Film Board of Canada.
- Seay, Fleming A., William J. Jerome, Kevin Sang and Robert E. Kraut. 2004. Project Massive: A Study of Online Gausing Communities. Paper presented at Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, April 22-24.
- Spence, Jeremiah. 2008. Demographics of Virtual Worlds. Journal of Virtual Worlds Research 1, no. 2 (November).http://journals.tdl.org/jvws/laticle/view/360/272 (accessed December 1, 2008).

Stephenson, Neal, 1992, Snow Crash, Westminster, MD: Bantam Books,

Storey, John. 2003. Inventing Popular Culture, Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.

Sutton-Smith, Brian. 1959. A Formal Analysis of Game Meaning. Western Folklore 18(1): 13-24.

Sutton-Smith, Brian. 1997. The Ambiguity of Play. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Taylor, T.L.2006. Play between Worlds: Exploring Online Games Culture. Cambridge: MIT Press.

Turner, Victor. 1969. The Ritual Process: Structure and Anti-Structure. Chicago: Aldine Pub. Co.

- Viveiros de Castro, Eduardo. 1992. From the Enemy's Point of View: Humanity and Divinity in an Amazonian Society. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Viveiros de Castro, Eduardo. 1998. "Cosmological Deixis and Amerindian Perspectivism" Journal of the Reval Anthropological Institute 4(3): 469-488.
- Wadley, Greg, Martin Gibbs and Peter Brenda. 2007. Speaking in Character: Using Voice-Over-IP to Communicate Within MMORPGs. Paper presented at the 4th Australian Conference on Interactive Entertainment.
- Wang, Ning, 1999. Rethinking Authenticity in Tourism Experience. Annals of Tourism Research 26(2): 349-370.
- Wellman, Barry and Milena Gulia. 1999. Virtual Communities as Communities: Net Surfers Don't Ride Alone. Communities in Cyberspace by Marc Smith and Peter Kollock, eds. New York: Routedee Inc.
- Wesch, Michael. 2008. Context Collapse. Digital Ethnography. http://mediatedcultures.net/ksudigg/?p=183 [accessed November 28, 2009].
- Williams, Dimitri, Nick Yee and Scott Caplan. 2008. Who Plays, How Much, and Why? Debunking the Storeotypical Gamer Profile. Journal of Computer-Mediated Consumiration 13: 933-1018.
- Wilson, Samuel and Leighton Peterson. 2002. The Anthropology of Online Communities. Annual Review of Anthropology 31: 449–467.
- Wolf, Mark and Bernard Perron, eds. 2003. The Video Game Theory Reader. New York: Routledge.
- Yee, Nick. 2006. Motivations for Play in Online Games. Cyber Psychology & Behavior 9(6): 722-775.
- Yoder, Don. 1974. Folk Costanne. Folklore and Folklife: An Introduction, Richard Dorson, ed. 295-323. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Appendix: Glossary of Terms

*Note that capitalization of terms (or individual letters within them) is entirely dependent upon the sender, and generally does not change meaning.

Addon	A type of player-created software application that is integrated with Warhammer Online and often provides some service to players by altering the user's GUL Addens are typically downloaded from extremal fan-based community websites and are installed on the player's own hard drive.
AFK	Common MMO term meaning "away from keyboard." Often used as a social courtesy when in a group to indicate temporary absence.
Alt	Common MMO term differentiating players' secondary avatars from their primary avatar. A player may create up to nine avatars on one sever in <i>Warhammer Online</i> , most of which will be considered alts (see: Main).
Aggro	Abbreviation for "Aggression."NPCs focus their damage output on players dealing the most damage. To 'hold aggoe' (nous) dan NPC means that a player (keep the NPC's aggression focused on him or hereid. A player might also "aggoe" (with) nearby NPCs by maving too close to them, dhawing their attention and aggression (NPCs in MMOs have a alicente space surrounding them that friggers a scripted response where a player enters in).
Alliance	A group of socially and tactically united guilds (See: Guild).
AoE	Also "AE," "Area of Effect" refers to any damage (or an ability/spell that causes such damage) that affects multiple targets at simultaneously.
Bio	Abbreviation for "biological."Common MMO term said by a player when they are temporarily leaving the keyboard to use the washroom. This term differentiates the player as an organic being from his or her virtual avatar who has no such biological needs.
BO	Abbreviation for "Battlefield Objective," which is a strategic point on the map that gives rewards when captured or defended.
Buff	A spell or ability that temporarily increases your or another's skills or abilities. Some classes of avatars can "buff" other players with these abilities.

Burn	Verb. Quickly killing an opponent: a target may be "burned" down fast	
Camping	Verb. When players stay in the same spot, especially a resource area or outside of a spawning area such as a warcamp, and repeatedly kill enemy players. Noun, A camper is someone who camps.	
Caster	One of several "archetypes" of playable avatar classes; a caster is a class whose primary function is to provide ranged fire support. Casters tend to be poorly- armoured and helpless in close combat but capable of dealing powerful damage.	
Dark Elves	A playable race within Warhammer Online. In Warhammer lore, the Dark Elves are an evil banished race seeking to reclaim their traditional homelands and take revenge upon their brethren, the High Elves.	
Debuff	See "buff." The opposite of a buff, a debuff removes any buffs from a target or temporarily lowers their skills or abilities.	
Destro	Abbreviation for Destruction, one of the two realms in Warhammer Online (See: Realms).	
DoT	Abbreviation for "damage over time." This is a type of ability that damages the target for an amount of hit points over the duration of a limited time period.	
DPS	"Damage per second," This is a standard MMO term used to reflect how much damage output your avatar can offer. This term can also refer to a type of character, a caster archetype, for example, is a considered a dps class as opposed to a header archetype.	
Elf	A race of sentient beings in Warhawmer leee. (See: "Dark Elves" and "High Elves")	
Emote	Noun. A series of keyboard combinations intended to be interpreted pictographically as conveying gestures or emotions. Verh. A player may "emote" an emotion or feeling by the use of an emote. Emotes in Warhamser Online may be either key combinations or pre-scripted animations your avatar can perform.	
Farming	Verh. The repetitive killing of NPC enemists in the same area, usually undersken with the intended on ginning experience profits, wall be 1000. This has also become linked to commercial publicfarming," in which external comparises employ workers to kill the sum NPCs in order to gain wealth or items to sell to players. Noun, Farming is conducted by a "farmer."	

Flame	Noun or verb. An insult during a text-based online conversation, usually between relative strangers and often including ad hominem attacks. Flaming someone often leads to a "flame war" involving multiple parties that can often overwhelm a chat system.
FF	Abbreviation for "focus fire," which is an order for all RDPS (See: RDPS) players to target the same enemy and focus their damage output.
Gank	When higher level characters, or a group of characters, ambush and kill a sole player. Ganked, Ganking.
Gobbo	An endearing term for Goblins (see: Goblins)
Goblins	A race of evil, diminutive green-skinned sentient creatures that form a playable race in <i>Warhammer Online</i> (See: WAR).
Guild	An institutionalized, player-created and operated organization within the game. Guilds often function as both tactical units and social groups.
g	Abbreviation for "gold," he main currency with Warhammer Online. 100 copper make a silver piece and 100 silver make a gold piece.
Heal	In the context of Warhammer Online, this term refers to the act of using an ability to restore the hitpoints of another player on the part of a healer (See: Healer). A player may call for "heals" or thank the healer for "the heals."
Healer	One of several avatar "archetypes," which focuses on healing the damage done to party members. The Healer's function is support, which is accomptished by replacing the hit points of team members lost in combat and sustaining the group in combat.
HP	Hit points. This is a common gaming term that provides a measurable numerical depiction of an avatat's vitality. When a character's hit points reach zero he or she dies, and must either respanse or wait to be resurrected.
НоТ	Abbreviation for "heal over time." In Warkammer Online, this is an ability that regenerates an amount of hitpoints on the target over a limited period of time.
INC	A test-chat warning that refers to "incoming" enemy players. This is often used in conjunction with a numerical estimate of the size of the incoming force (ic; INC 5), and may also be appended by becasion (ic; INC 5 cast gate). The clarity and length of such INC warnings is dependent upon how much time the player

making the warning has to type (which is usually not much if an enemy group is bearing down upon him or her).

- INF Abbreviation for "influence," which is one of three types of points earned in Warhammer Online by completing appropriate objectives. Gaining influence points unlocks item rewards.
- LOL Common internet lingo for, "laugh out loud."
- Main Common MMO term differentiating the avatar a player focuses most of his or her attention on from secondary characters (see: Alts).
- MDPS "Melee damage per second," in Warhammer Online this refers to a type of playable class of avatars that are designed to maximize damage output to targets in close combat.
- MMO Common gauser adhreviation for "Manively Multiplayer Online," which refers broadly to persistent vitual worksh populated primitipe wors. In propulse stage this term often refers to vitual gause worksh, but this is not necessarily the case. In terms of gauses, however, MMO also containts a garne (n operace) to singleplayer gauses and gauses with a small-scale and non-persistent multiplayer function).
- MMOG Another abbreviation for "Massively Multiplayer Online Game," referring specifically to virtual game worlds.
- MMORPG Gamer abbreviation for "Massively Multiplayer Online Role-playing Game." This is a sub-genre of MMOs that can be defined by characteristics of a questnarrative, depth of character contomization and advancement based on experience level.
- Mob See "NPC." Noun. Refers to a single or group of hostile NPCs.
- Nerfed When a new patch comes out, the developers may choose to re-balance avatar class abilities often resulting in some abilities being decreased in effectives, or "nerfed". Opensite of over-powered (See: OP).
- Ninja Verb. To "ninja" battlefield objectives or fortresses means a smaller than usual group uses stealth and discipline to capture their objective. Often used when the opposing realm (See: Realm) is dominant in the zone (See: Zone).
- NPC Common single and multiplayer video game abbreviation for "Non-playable character" (which means an avatar in the game world that is computer-

	controlled). These types of avataes often play the roles of guards, animals, merchants or quest-givers that players interact with.	
Nuke	Verb. "nuke that oil." Common term referring to using the powerful ranged magical spells of RDPS classes, particularly the AoE spells of the Sorceren/Bright Wizard. Noun. Caster classes have spells referred to as a "nukes."	
omw	Abbreviation for the phrase "on my way," used to acknowledge an order or indicate you are still following orders and/or despite a temporary absence from the group.	
OP	 Over-powered, referencing a class of avatars that some players may feel are unfairly balanced with powerful abilities. On a chat forum, "original post(er)". 	
Order	One of the realms in Warhammer Online (See: Realms).	
otw	Abbreviation for the phrase "on the way," used to indicate the player has acknowledged orders and is moving towards the goal.	
Pairing	Warhummer Online is divided into three "pairings," or different regions within the world, where each Realm race is opposed to its counterpart. For example, in the Eff lands pairing, Elves are paired against Dark Elves.	
Party	1) A common MMO term used to refer to a group of players. In Warhammer Online a pary has six player also spen, after which point it may be expanded into a warhand. Anyone can form a pary in Wanhammer Online, Anong puilds of neu- crated closed parties (open to puild er alliacen menhen only) and are often found in PvE areas questing (the party is the smalltest unit of grouping in Wanhammer Online, and terely seen in RvR areas onside of warhands).	
	 Party can also be used as a verb, to create the noun described above (As in the question "do you want to party" (meaning, do you want to join a group with another player)). 	
Post	Abbreviation for "postern door", of which every keep wall has two. These are essentially backdoors into the keep that defenders can use to circumvent the invading force and strategic points that part of an invading warband should cover.	
PL	verb. Power-level(ing). The act of quickly gaining experience points (and therefore levels), often achieved by avoiding game narrative and focusing on only the most effective leveling methods. This term has become associated with gold- farming companies who offer a power-leveling service.	

PT	Abbreviation for the server "Phoenix Throne."
PvE	Player-versus-environment. This defines a state during which players may only engage NPCs in combat.
PvP	Generic MMO term meaning "player-versus-player" (as opposed to "player- versus-environment" or PvE).A state denoting the ability to kill other players, usually those of different faction.
r	abbreviation for "rank" (which is Warhammer Online terminology for character experience "fevel").
Race	Worknowner Online adopts the popular use of flish term to refer to different ethnicities and channess as well as different species of sensities beings players may play as. Dark and High Elves are the same race, but different culture; Ores and goblins hare some physiology whereas Humans and Dwarves are different species.
Realm	Warhammer Online is divided into two main factions, or "realms", Order and Destruction.
RDPS	"Ranged damage per second," which refers to casters and other avatar classes that attack targets at a distance.
Region	 Refers to the Zone you are currently in (See: Zone) and 2) refers to a broad- level of text chat that can be read by anyone within the same Zone.
Respawn	When a player dies in <i>Warhammer Online</i> his or her avatar can return to life at the nearest friendly town or war camp. No penalty is incurred by the player other than having to travel back to wherever the group is located.
Rez	Abbreviation for "Recurrencion" (alor: "res."). Header players have the ability to raise their group members from the dead. Instead of the deceased player responsing far away at a warcamp, a resurveixion allows the player to return immediately to the header's location. By virtue of the nature of Warkamore Online'3PP (Ecos, Pager edan is frequent and resurveixions are in high demuted and also a tactical element critical in keeping a group in the field against an enemy.
RP	Role-play. A group activity that adds another social layer of play to the game, in which players speak in character.

RPers	Noun. Players wishing to engage in deeper role-playing of their characters than the standard server social environment allows for.
RPG	Role-playing Game. Can be a reference to either the video game genre or pen & paper games.
Roll	 verb. (also: "rolled")To "roll" over an enemy, meaning your force destroys theirs 2) Meaning to create character; originating with the physical dice rolls used to create character attributes in pen & paper RPGs.
Root	See: "Snare"
rr	"Renown Rank" - a second type of level, based on player-versus-player combat
RvR	"Realm versus Realm" - the Warhammer Online-specific name of player-versus- player combat.
Server	Community is Burkanseer foliate is structured around in physical errors. Takin a population of physics who explain interact which a physical energy taking the physical energy taking the physical energy physical energy and the physical energy physical energy and the phy
SC	Abbreviation for "Scenario," which is an in-game feature in which groups of players from both Order and Destruction are pined against each other in a time- limited temporary area.
Snare	Term referring to trapping abilities common to RDPS classes that temporarily immobilize targets.
SoR	Abbreviation for a player-created addon (See: Addon) entitled "State of the Realm," which provides players with current strategic information on the attack/defence status of battle objectives and keeps.
Sore	Abbreviation for the class "Sorcerer." Sorcerers come in both genders and are considered "caster" archetypes (or RDPS), which means they are designed to deal magic damage to targets at a distance.

Spec	A common MMO term referring to a player's chosen specialty or specification (as in configuration of character skills and abilities). In Warhawmer Online, every class has three different career praths to choose from, so you might have one sorecree "spec'ed" in direct damage while another may choose area of effect.
Tank	One of several common MMORPG "archetypes." A Tank is an avatar designed with the primary function of "tanking," or absorbing damage and attention (aggro) from enemies, while the rest of the party deals damage.
Tell	Also: "Whisper"; "PM." Noun. A private message or level of text-based communication involving only two parties.
Toon	Term referring to your avatar.
WAR	Abbreviation for the MMORPG "Warhammer Online: Age of Reckoning."
WB	Abbreviation for "warband," which is a Warhammer Online-specific name for a consisting of up to four parties (or 24 people) at full capacity. A warband is a larger social and tactical grouping than a party.
WC	Initialism referring to an RvR Warcamp. The warcamp is where players load when they first arrive in the region for PvP and also where dead players respond.
Wipe	When a group is overwhelmed by enemy forces and all or most of its members killed, it is considered a "wipe." A group may attempt to "wipe" an enemy group or be "wiped" itself.
WTF	Common internet lingo for, "What the fuck?"
WTH	Common internet lingo for, "What the hell?"
XP	Experience Points, which are an indicator of avatar progression.
Zerg	Noun: a substantial number of players operating under one command. Verb: the enemy is "zerging" means the opposing faction has formed a zerg. "Zergod" references the destruction of a force by an enemy zerg.
Zone	The virtual space on each server is divided into three "pairings," (See: Pairing) one for each race, and within each pairing every map is known as a "zone."







